Democracy Suite[®] EMS Results Tally & Reporting User Guide

Version: 5.11-CO::6

April 22, 2019



| Table of Contents |
|--|
| Chapter 1: Introduction |
| - 1.1 Relevant Disclaimers 1 |
| 1.2 User Guide Organization and Use 1 |
| 1.3 Initial System Settings 1 |
| Chapter 2: Getting to Know Results Tally & Reporting |
| $\dots \dots $ |
| 2.1 Glossary of Terms |
| 2.2 Results Tally & Reporting's Place in the EMS System |
| 2.2.1 Pre-Voting Activities |
| 2.2.2 Post-Voting Activities7 |
| 2.2.3 Summary of Activities |
| 2.3 EMS Results Tally & Reporting Overview7 |
| 2.4 RTR Functional Flow8 |
| 2.4.1 Election Results Acquisition8 |
| 2.4.2 Results Review and Validation8 |
| 2.4.3 Results Tally and Publishing |
| 2.4.4 Results Reporting9 |
| 2.4.5 Results Auditing |
| 2.5 User Interface Introduction9 |
| 2.6 Main Screen |
| 2.6.1 Context Sensitive Screens 10 |
| Chapter 3: Application Activities Panel 11 |
| 3.1 Common Actions |
| 3.2 List of Useful Keyboard Shortcuts 12 |
| 3.3 Main Menu |
| 3.4 Activities Navigation Panel 14 |
| 3.5 Status and Progress Bar 14 |
| Chapter 4: Opening and Closing Results Tally & |
| Reporting |
| 4.1 Starting the Application |
| 4.2 Exiting the Application 17 |

| Chapter 5: Election Project Basic Functions 18 |
|---|
| 5.1 Opening an Election Project |
| 5.2 Closing Election Project 19 |
| 5.3 Project Settings - Project Parameters 20 |
| Chapter 6: Importing Election Results 23 |
| 6.1 Connecting the Removable Medium 23 |
| 6.2 Loading Results from the Removable Medium |
| 6.3 Resetting the Removable Medium 30 |
| 6.4 Loading Results From Directory |
| 6.5 Automatic Result Loading |
| Chapter 7: Manage Tabulators 36 |
| 7.1 Searching for Tabulators |
| 7.2 Previewing Tabulator Properties |
| 7.3 Closing Tabulator for Results Processing |
| 7.4 Re-opening Tabulator for Results Processing |
| Chapter 8: Manage Result Files 39 |
| 8.1 Result Files Review and Write-in Resolution |
| 8.2 Manual Entry of Results |
| 8.3 Result State Management 42 |
| 8.4 Deleting of Results |
| 8.5 Purging of Results 46 |
| 8.6 Transferring Results From One RTR Instance to Another |
| 8.6.1 Exporting Results from RTR |
| 8.6.2 Importing Results into RTR 48 |
| Chapter 9: DRE and QR Ballot Write-ins 50 |
| 9.1 Write-in Resolution Screen 50 |
| 9.1.1 Filtering Contests and Write-ins |
| 9.2 Resolving DRE and QR Write-ins |
| 9.3 Adding Qualified Write-ins |
| Chapter 10: Resolving Conditional Votes 54 |
| 10.1 Introduction |

| 10.2 Conditional Voting Settings55 |
|---|
| 10.3 Manual Resolution of Conditional Votes |
| 10.4 Duplication of Provisional Votes59 |
| 10.5 Bulk Resolution of Conditional Votes |
| 10.5.1 Exporting Conditional Votes61 |
| 10.5.2 Resolving Conditional Votes in the Exported File |
| 10.5.3 Importing Resolved Conditional Votes |
| Chapter 11: Ranked Choice Voting 65 |
| 11.1 Introduction |
| 11.2 RCV Profile |
| 11.2.1 General Management of Profiles and Purpose 65 |
| 11.2.2 Settings |
| 11.3 Ranked Contests |
| 11.3.1 Export Ranked Results |
| 11.3.1.1 Export dialog |
| 11.3.1.2 RCV Export File Formats |
| 11.3.1.3 RCR Format |
| 11.3.1.4 BLT File Format 77 |
| 11.3.1.5 Choice Plus Pro File Format |
| 11.3.2 Tabulate |
| 11.3.3 Write-in Handling for Regular Contests |
| 11.3.4 Write-in Handling for RCV Contests |
| Chapter 12: Result Pair Resolution 87 |
| Chapter 13: Results Export 89 |
| 13.1 Export Types |
| 13.2 XML Transformations |
| 13.3 Defining Transfer Points and Exporting Results |
| 13.4 Cleaning Transfer Points95 |
| Chapter 14: Auditing |
| 14.1 Exporting Cast Vote Record Data97 |
| 14.2 Exporting Audit Files 102 |

| 14.3 Exporting Audit Images 104 |
|---|
| 14.4 RTM Logs |
| 14.5 Obtain User's Audit Log 106 |
| 14.6 Exporting Write-ins 107 |
| Chapter 15: Reporting 108 |
| 15.1 Election Summary Report 108 |
| 15.2 Statement of Votes Cast 113 |
| 15.3 Card Cast Report 117 |
| 15.4 RCV Report |
| 15.5 Results Pair Report 121 |
| 15.6 Conditional Voting Statistics Report |
| 15.7 Ability to Manage Reporting Profiles on Card Cast, Election Summary, and Statement of Votes Cast Reports |
| 15.8 Import Report Profile 128 |
| 15.9 Generating Election Summary, Statement of Votes Cast and Cards Cast Reports |
| 15.10 Enabling and Disabling Contests and Choices for Reporting $\ldots \ldots$ 130 |
| 15.11 Results Reporting132 |
| Chapter 16: Operations Support 160 |
| Appendix A: System Settings |
| A.1 EMS Access Control |
| A.2 EMS Election Project Access Controls |
| A.3 Define EMS Application Server Settings |
| Revision History |
| List of Figures |
| List of Tables |
| VVSG Trace List |

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

This User Guide outlines use procedures for the EMS Results Tally & Reporting client application. It is intended for EMS administrators, operators and end-users, and can be regarded as a tutorial and reference manual for using the application when processing election results acquired from Dominion Voting Systems DVS ImageCast series of optical tabulators.

1.1 Relevant Disclaimers

This document may make reference to certain Democracy Suite functionalities that are not part of the current 5.11-CO campaign and should be disregarded throughout the document.

For a full list of relevant disclaimers, please see the "Relevant Disclaimers" section in the *2.02 - Democracy Suite System Overview* Document.

1.2 User Guide Organization and Use

This document is intended for use with the DVS Democracy Suite[®] 5.11 platform. This document provides a wide variety of information about the Results Tally & Reporting application by deploying a number of different methods. These include background information on problem domains, procedures for executing functions in the application, images, and illustrations/diagrams. Topics are grouped according to the intended functionality flow when processing election results. Most topics have sub-topics. These sub-topics are then further broken down into logical units.

1.3 Initial System Settings

Trained technical personnel are responsible for installing and configuring hardware and prerequisite software for the EMS Data Center back-end and EMS Workstation components. Your system is pre-configured for full operation and use with this document. See Appendix refer to "*A System Settings*" for the detailed manual set-up information. This appendix provides detailed instructions on how to define basic configurations of both the EMS Result Tally & Reporting client application and database settings.

CHAPTER 2: GETTING TO KNOW RESULTS TALLY & REPORTING

This chapter defines the terminology used throughout the remainder of this document and provides background information necessary to understanding the application.

2.1 Glossary of Terms

- iButton Security Key: A secure iButton key programmed by the EMS platform and utilized by the administrative pollworker to perform administrative actions on the ImageCast[®] Precinct (ICP) and ImageCast[®] Evolution (ICE) devices. iButton security keys are unique for each instance of the ICP and ICE device.
- AS: Dominion Voting Systems' Audio Studio client software application.
- **Asymmetric Key Cryptography**: Also known as Public-Key Cryptography, this group of cryptographic algorithms uses a combination of sender-receiver key pairs to perform data encryption and signing.
- **Ballot**: A Ballot is a device used to cast votes in an election and may be one or more pieces of paper, or a BMD or DRE session.
- **Ballot Card**: Represents a domain entity, which is a manifestation of the ballot to be used during the election event. Ballot can be consisted of one or more ballot cards. Ballot headers, contests, and options, including layout, content, and language profiles, characterize the ballot card. Each card style has unique bar code Examples of ballot card artifacts are PDF, PNG, and XML files.
- **Choice**: Represents a candidate (person, party or proposition option) in a contest.
- **Choice Manifestation**: Represents an instance of the candidate within the contest manifestation for a given ballot manifestation.
- **Communication Channel**: Represents a physical process that is not based on any networked data communication technology (LAN, WAN, etc.). This term represents an exchange of information that occurs using memory cards and/or iButton security keys.
- **Contest**: Represents an instance of the office with a unique list of candidates or parties. Contests are derived from offices based on elector groups and the geopolitical divisioning of the jurisdiction organizing an election event.
- **Contest Manifestation**: Represents a manifestation of a contest on a ballot. Due to rotations, there can be multiple contest manifestations per contest.

- **Counting Group**: Represents a grouping of categories and an indirect grouping of results from an associated set of tabulators, such as the absentee counting group, the provisional ballots counting group, and the election day counting group.
- **Cryptographic Hash Function**: A cryptographic algorithm that creates a distinct, fixed-length representation of digital records of messages that vary in length. Such a representation cannot be used to generate the original message from which it was created, nor can it ever be the same for two different messages.
- **Digital Signature**: According to the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), a digital signature is defined as a bitstream ``using a set of rules and a set of parameters such that the identity of the signatory and identity of the data can be verified". The creation of a digital signature employs a hashing function ``to obtain a condensed version of the data called a message digest", which is asymmetrically encrypted using the signatory's private key, thus signing the message. Within the context of this document, the SHA256 algorithm is used to perform this hashing function, and a 2048-bit private-public key pair is used for signing and verification.
- **EED**: Election Event Designer client software application.
- Election Day Memory Card: A memory card which carries voting domain-related information. This information includes data such as election definition files, device configuration files, ballot information, audio files, scanned ballot images, and results files, as well as audit and log reports. This memory card is utilized during an election day voting session based on the bidirectional communication channel between the EMS platform and dvs precinct(s).
- Election Definition Cycles: Represents a sequence of transitions that occur within the election project. The project begins at the Project Definition state, transitions to the generation of election files, and ends with the voting session itself. In subsequent election definition cycles, the system has to preserve enough information from the previous election definition cycle so that subsequent voting sessions can handle election project artifacts from all election definition cycles. A new election definition cycle should not be initiated if the previous cycle did not conclude with the voting session. If the previous cycle did not conclude with the voting session, regular election project backward transition should be used.

- Election Project: Represents a collection of election domain objects, and their associations and artifacts for a given election event. Domain objects and their associations are stored on the EMS Database server, while election project artifacts are stored on the EMS NAS server. As a result, the election project is partially represented on the EMS Database server with file structures on the EMS NAS server.
- Election Project State: Represents a state of the election project with an associated set of permissible actions that can be performed within that state. The transition from a lower to an upper election project state is caused by certain user actions, such as generation of official ballots, while the transition from an upper to a lower election project state must be initiated by the user.
- **Ballot Groups**: Voters can be divided into several elector groups as described previously. However, at the same time, a single voter can belong to more than one elector group. For example, a voter can be a member of the Democratic elector group and the Absentee group at the same time, and be allowed to vote on the Democratic ballot as an absentee voter. This association between the voter and multiple elector groups is called the "ballot groups". Based on elector groups and ballot groups, the system creates all possible (allowed and required) ballot combinations.
- Elector Groups Types and Elector Groups: Represents a grouping of electors (voters) within an election in a non-geographical manner. This grouping can be based on different classification criteria, including political party membership, school board support, early voters, absentee voters, election day voters, etc. Within the election domain model, there should always be one default election group entity which encompasses all eligible voters (default election group). In instances where different groups of electors are only allowed to vote in certain contests for certain offices, a separate elector group instance should be created. Each elector group is characterized by its type and instance. Some of the elector group types include political party, school board, absentee, etc.
- **EMS Database**: Components within the EMS Data Center that are responsible for storing election data for a given election project in the form of a Relational Database Management System.
- **EMS Platform**: The Democracy Suite platform with all of its components, except for its counting systems. The platform consists of EMS Data Center and EMS Workstation components. There is only one instance of the EMS platform within any election project.
- **Key Exchange Memory Card**: A memory card not carrying any voting domain-related information. This memory card is utilized in the process of key exchange between the EMS platform and ICP instances using the aforementioned physical communication channel.

- Office: Represents a set of positions for which people or political parties are elected. Offices are closely related to subdivisions and elector groups. An office is applicable to a certain subdivision which represents an administrative or geographical grouping of electors who can vote and elect members to an office. Offices can also be applicable to elector groups which group electors in a non-geographical manner so that only members of the given elector group can vote for that office. Sometimes there is a need to group offices into office groups, which are used to collect and present related offices on a ballot (i.e. state offices, the judicial office, etc.)
- **Private Key Encryption**: Within the scope of Public Key Cryptography, the integrity of a transmitted message is achieved when a sender encrypts the data with their Private Key. When using the Private Key for encryption, messages can only be decrypted through the use of the associated Public Key, which may or may not accompany the message. Because a Private Key is known and used exclusively by its owner, any parties that receive the transmitted data can successfully read the message but cannot add a file or change a file decrypted by the same Public Key. This is done to ensure data integrity. Election files must be signed using this method to allow for independent audits (the data is visible after decryption but cannot be changed).
- **Public Key Encryption**: Within the scope of Public Key Cryptography, confidentiality of a transmitted message is achieved when a sender encrypts data with the intended receiver's Public Key. Use of the Public
- **Key for encryption**: Messages can only be decrypted through the use of the associated Private Key. Because a Private Key is known and used exclusively by its owner, any parties that intercept the transmitted data cannot successfully decrypt the message. This is done to ensure obfuscation (achieving confidentiality) and data protection. More importantly, election files cannot be signed using this method because it is impossible to perform an independent audit, but it should be used in cases where information should not be visible (e.g. encryption of passcodes during transmission).
- RTR: Results Tally & Reporting client software application
- Session Key: Although Public Key encryption technologies provide additional security simply due to the nature of their operation, this improvement comes at the cost of drastically increased computational complexity. This complexity often results in lengthy time delays when a large amount of data must be encrypted. To combat this, session keys are used to perform comparatively fast encryptions of the data itself, while smaller sized unidirectional hashes are encrypted with asymmetric techniques. Typically, session keys are communicated to the participants through the use of asymmetric encryption and can change as often needed by the specific system topology, designer, or security needs at hand. Usually the session key changes as often as possible in order to limit the amount of data that is encrypted using a specific cipher, thus decreasing the possibility of it

breaking. The EMS platform implements three types of interchangeable election data protection to maintain confidentiality and integrity: Mode 1 is based on symmetric cryptography, while Mode 2 and 3 are based on a combination of symmetric and asymmetric cryptography (digital signatures).

- **Symmetric-Key Cryptography**: A method of performing data obfuscation (for the purpose of protecting confidentiality) through the use of a shared, Symmetric Key used by both the sender (for encryption) and the receiver (for decryption). Within the context of this document, only 128-bit or higher AES encryption algorithms are considered.
- **Tabulator**: Represents a single instance of an ImageCast[®] Precinct, ImageCast[®] Evolution, ImageCast[®] Central, DRE, or Ballot Marking Device utilized during the election cycle for ballot counting or ballot marking. Multiple instances of the ICP platform can exist within any election project.

2.2 Results Tally & Reporting's Place in the EMS System

The Democracy Suite EMS platform is primarily used by election authorities to define and organize elections. A variety of EMS functions can be grouped into two main sets of activities with RTR helping to manage post-voting functions.

2.2.1 Pre-Voting Activities

- Defining (or importing) the political divisioning of the jurisdiction organizing the election, including its hierarchical structure, attributes and associations.
- Defining (or importing) Election Events with attributes, such as the election name, date and type, contests, candidates, referendum questions, and voting locations and their attributes.
- Designing, preparing and producing paper and DRE ballots for polling place and absentee voting.
- Configuring and programming Dominion Voting Systems' ImageCast[®] series of precinct and central ballot counters.
- Defining and executing Logic & Accuracy tests as part of readiness testing procedures.
- Producing election definition and auditing reports. Providing administrative management functions for user, database, networking, and system management.

2.2.2 Post-Voting Activities

- Acquiring, importing or manually entering Election Results from the ImageCast[®] series of tabulation devices.
- Previewing and validating the Election Results.
- Publishing the unofficial Election Results for further processing or reporting (i.e. by news and media feeds).
- Producing a variety of Election Results Reports in the desired format.
- Auditing Election Results, including ballot images and log files.

2.2.3 Summary of Activities

The pre-voting and post-voting groups of activities, in the process of defining and managing elections, are integrated within the Democracy Suite EMS domain model and implemented in the two main end-user software applications:

- Democracy Suite EMS Election Event Designer (EED)
- Democracy Suite EMS Results Tally & Reporting (RTR)

Both applications are architecturally designed as rich-client applications for intranet deployment or, optionally, distributed for Internet deployment using VPN connections. This means that in addition to these client applications, the system integrates associated server platforms (the EMS Data Center back- end system) with required services and data repositories. Democracy Suite provides the ImageCast[®] series of precinct and centralized tabulation devices for the full election cycle (pre-voting, voting, post- voting phases).

In addition to the EMS Election Event Designer and Results Tally & Reporting client applications, you can use EMS Audio Studio, Mobile Ballot Production, Election Data Translator, helper client applications, as part of the pre-voting process.

2.3 EMS Results Tally & Reporting Overview

EMS Results Tally & Reporting (RTR) is an end-user application within the Democracy Suite EMS system. RTR can only be used if it is part of the overall EMS system, which consists of the following server components:

- EMS Application (EMS APPS)
- Database (EMS DB)
- EMS Data Center Manager (DCM)
- EMS Network Attached Storage (NAS)

The Democracy Suite EMS Results Tally & Reporting application is responsible

for post-voting activities. The application is used to collect result files from ImageCast[®] optical ballot scan and DRE tabulators.

The ImageCast[®] Precinct and ImageCast[®] Central platforms produce Election Results. The EMS Election Event Designer application is used to define Results Tally & Reporting users and associated roles.

2.4 RTR Functional Flow

2.4.1 Election Results Acquisition

After opening the election project in RTR the user can import results directly either from memory cards or from the local file system, as well having the option to automatically bring in results that are placed on a configurable

location on the NAS. Election officials also have the option to manually enter results for any of the defined tabulators in the system.

NOTE: The memory cards are originally prepared in the EMS Election Event Designer application, as part of pre -voting activities.

2.4.2 Results Review and Validation

Once election results have been brought into RTR they, you can review each individual result file, which can be shown in summarized or detailed breakdown. The user can also at this point resolve votes that were assigned to write-in positions to qualified write-in candidates. Result files have an associated result state that can be modified. Results start out in Initial state and can move to Validated state (indicating that they have been reviewed), and finally to Published state, which means those results will be included in any reports or exports. There is also a Rejected state that can be used to indicate that results should not be included. You can also delete result files from RTR if they are in Initial or Rejected state.

2.4.3 Results Tally and Publishing

Publishing is the next step in the processing of Election Results. Once you are satisfied that result files contain correct/acceptable data, proceed with publishing the results. Results publishing is used to publish unofficial election results to interested parties and can be used to notify the media about current unofficial results, or to present real-time dynamic public results.

EMS only provides aggregate results and does not provide information about individual ballots. Unofficial electronic reports and files may not access the storage devices of official data. When broadcasting unofficial results, the unofficial result publishing presentations clearly indicate that results are unofficial. During publication, XML representations of the Election Results are created according to pre-defined XML Schema and XSLT transformations. These results are uploaded to a predefined set of 'transfer points' - locations that can be accessed by networks and places authorized for results publication. Transfer points are defined in the Results Tally & Reporting application.

2.4.4 Results Reporting

The EMS Results Tally & Reporting provides a variety of reports that can be used to produce overviews of results on both a summary as well as a detailed level. Reports are configurable to suit the needs of the user and can be produced in various formats including:

- Microsoft Excel Sheet (.xlsx)
- PDF
- HTML

EMS is designed to prevent data from being altered or destroyed in the generation of reports.

The Summary Report is a generic Election Results Report which collects the complete set of election results. In turn, this type of report can be used to produce an initial zero report of the election results, as well as a cumulative representation of the election results for a given Election Event. In addition to the Summary Report, available within the system by default, you can create other types of reports by selecting the desired report type(s) and triggering the report generation process.

2.4.5 Results Auditing

In most cases, after Election Results are processed, an audit is initiated to examine the system operation in more detail. The first step when performing an audit is to look up the list of scanned ballot images and the log files based on specific criteria.

All audit record entries include a time-and-date stamp. The generation of audit record entries will not be terminated or altered by program control or the intervention of any person. The physical security and integrity of the record are maintained at all times.

2.5 User Interface Introduction

This section describes the main sections and features of the application's user interface.

NOTE: Each area logically groups and organizes the activities and functionalities that can be performed. The four main screen areas listed above are identified in

the following image and described in the following sections.

2.6 Main Screen

The main application screen can be divided into four areas:

- Main Menu
- Activities Navigation Panel
- Status Bar
- Context Sensitive Screen Area

2.6.1 Context Sensitive Screens

Selecting any option in the Activities Navigation Panel causes the Context Sensitive Screen to appear in the middle, see Figure 2-1 .This screen differs depending on the activity selected. For example, if you click on the General, Result Files option in the Activities Navigation Panel, the Result Files screen appears. This screen is used to perform all activities related to Results Management (manual entry, validating, publishing, etc.).



Figure 2-1: Context Sensitive Screen

CHAPTER 3: APPLICATION ACTIVITIES PANEL

This section introduces common actions that appear throughout the application's user interfaces and some specific actions that appear in most dialog windows. In addition, this section describes main application activities and keyboard shortcuts.

Tasks covered in this section:

- Common Actions
- List of Useful Keyboard Shortcuts
- Main Menu
- Activities Navigation Panel
- Status and Progress Bar

3.1 Common Actions

This section lists and describes common actions that appear throughout the Results Tally & Reporting application user interface. These actions mainly appear in the context sensitive screen area (such as Delete or Sort) or in the dialog windows that appear throughout the application (such as Save or Cancel). Some of the actions described below contain prerequisites and cannot be performed prior to executing other actions. For example, the Subdivision Type and Parent Subdivision must be selected before creating a new division object. See individual sections for further details. Some actions require you to select the object on which you wish to perform the desired action. For example, to Delete an object, first select/highlight it and then click on the Delete button.

- Create New: Click Create New to create a new object in the database. This action is available in the context sensitive screen "XML Transformations". Note that this button is called Create Report in the Reports section. Choose the report criteria from the combo box lists and click Create Report to create the desired report.
- Delete: Select an object from the list and click Delete to delete the object.
- Move Up: Select an object from the list and click Move Up to move the object up on the list.
- Move Down: Select an object from the list and click Move Down to move the object down on the list.
- Sort: Click Search to list all objects and then click Sort to display the Advance Sorting dialog window. This window contains a list of Available Attributes that can be used to sort objects. Select the attribute(s) you wish to sort the objects by and click Add. The selected attributes are added to the Selected

Attributes list. Use the Move Up and Move Down buttons to rearrange the order of Selected Attributes. Click OK to apply advanced sorting or Cancel to exit the dialog.

- Preview: Click Search to display all available records. Select the record from the list and click Preview to open the dialog window allowing the preview/ edit of the object. The preview option is available in the following context sensitive screens: Tabulators and Result Files.
- Search: Click Search to display all records. Alternatively, narrow down search results by selecting specific search criteria from the list of available search options. The available search criteria will differ depending on the context sensitive screen (or dialog window) where the action is performed.
- Save: Click Save to save the changes made to the object and to leave the dialog open for the active object.
- Save and Close: Click Save and Close to save the changes made to the object and to close the active object dialog.
- Apply: Click Apply to save the changes made to the object. This action commits the set of entered changes but does not close the dialog. Use this action with the OK action.
- OK: Click OK to save the changes made to the object and to close the object dialog window. This action saves the changes and closes the dialog.

3.2 List of Useful Keyboard Shortcuts

- F1: Open the Help document
- Ctrl + Click: Select multiple objects in a list of objects
- Ctrl + A: Select all objects in a list
- Ctrl + O: Open the Election Project
- Ctrl + P: Open the Transfer Points dialog window
- Ctrl + M: Open Removable Media Management
- CTRL + D: Open the Document Management viewer
- CTRL + L: Open the Load Results from Directory dialog window

3.3 Main Menu

The Main Menu contains various key application functionalities, some of which require other actions to be completed before they can be used. For example, the Create Ballots action cannot be employed until all election event properties have been defined and ballot content has been created. Application actions are summarized in the list below.

• Election Project Menu:

- Open Project: Open an existing Election Project.
- Close Project: Close an active Election Project.
- Exit: Exit the EMS Results Tally & Reporting application.
- Settings:
 - Transfer Points: Open dialog to create/edit/delete transfer points.
 - Configuration Results Export : Configure parameters associated with results export.
 - Project Properties: Open Project Properties dialog.
- Actions:
 - Open Removable Media Management: Open dialog that allows user to retrieve information from memory cards. Automatic Result Loading should have description Opens dialog that allows user to configure automatic results loading.
 - Load Results From Directory: Generate ballot content.
 - Automatic Result Loading
 - Open Document Management: Open EMS NAS viewer.
- Results:
 - Validate All: Validate all result files.
 - Validate and Publish All: Validate and publish all result files.
 - Reject All: Reject all result files.
 - Purge Results: Purge/delete all result files.
- Export:
 - Export Results: Export results to defined transfer points.
 - Export Audit File: Export audit report files to the Results directory on NAS.
 - Export Audit Images: Export audit images to the Results directory on NAS. Show Export Log: Show log on export activity in Notepad format.
- Import Report Profile: Allows user to import Report Profile files that contain configuration for reporting.
- Help:
 - Help Documentation: Open Democracy Suite[®] EMS Results Tally & Reporting User Guide.
 - About: Open the EMS Results Tally & Reporting application version information.
 - Localization Settings: Open the Localization Settings dialog.

3.4 Activities Navigation Panel

The Activities Navigation Panel groups the majority of activities used in election project definition and management as listed below.

- General:
 - Tabulators: Opens the "Tabulators" context sensitive screen. Used to manage tabulators.
 - Result Pair Resolution: Opens the "Result Pair Resolution" context sensitive screen. Used to manage result pairs.
 - Result Files: Opens the "Result Files" context sensitive screen. Used to manage result files.
 - RTM logs: Opens the "RTM Logs" context sensitive screen. Used to monitor result files transfer trough RTM.
- Export:
 - Export Type: Opens the "Export Data" context sensitive screen. Used to manage data exports.
 - XML Transformations: Opens the "XML Transformations" context sensitive screen. Used to manage XML transformations.
- Reports
 - Election Summary Report: Opens the "Report Group Election Summary Report" context sensitive screen.
 - Statement of votes Cast: Opens the "Report Group Statement of votes Cast" context sensitive screen.
 - Card cast Report: Opens the "Report Group Card cast Report" context sensitive screen.
 - RCV Report: Opens the "Report Group RCV Report" context sensitive screen.
 - Result Pair Report: Opens the "Report Group Result Pair Report" context
 - Conditional Voting Statistics Report: Opens the "Report Group -Conditional Voting Statistics Report" context sensitive screen.
 - Results Reporting: Opens the "Report Group Results Reporting" context sensitive screen.

3.5 Status and Progress Bar

- Status Bar Elements
 - Active Election Project Name: Displays the name of the currently active/

open election project.

- Status: Displays the status/state of the currently open election project.
- User Name: Displays the user name of the user that opened the election project.
- User Role: Displays the role of the user that opened the election project.

CHAPTER 4: OPENING AND CLOSING RESULTS TALLY & REPORTING

4.1 Starting the Application

- 1. Double-click on the Results Tally and Reporting icon on the Desktop.
- 2. In the Localization Settings screen, see Figure 4-1, select the language option from the combo box and click OK. The default language is English.



Figure 4-1: Localization Setting Screen

3. The splash screen appears, see Figure 4-2.



Figure 4-2: Welcome Splash Screen

- 4. The EMS Results Tally & Reporting application main screen opens.
- 5. Alternatively, open the application from the Windows Start menu:
 - a. Expand the Windows Start menu.
 - b. Click All Programs.

- c. Find and expand the DVS application group item.
- d. Click **Results Tally & Reporting**.
- e. Application splash screen appears.
- f. The application main screen appears.

NOTE: By default, EMS applications are installed under the following Windows file system folder: C:\Program Files\Dominion Voting Systems

4.2 Exiting the Application

- 1. To exit the application, click **Election Project** and then select **Exit**.
- 2. The Exit screen appears, click **Yes** to exit the application.
- 3. Alternatively, you can close the application by clicking on the X-button in the top right corner of the screen.

CHAPTER 5: ELECTION PROJECT BASIC FUNCTIONS

This Chapter describes the basic functionality of the EMS Results Tally & Reporting application. Tasks covered in this Chapter include:

- Opening an Election Project
- Closing an Election Project

5.1 Opening an Election Project

- 1. Start the EMS Results Tally & Reporting application.
- 2. Expand the Election Project item from the Main Menu and click on **Open Project**.

| EMS Application Server Setting | S | | |
|---------------------------------------|---------------------------|---|-----------|
| EMS Application Server Host (IF | Address or Name): | | |
| EMS Application Server Name: | | L | |
| | Use Encrypted Protocol | | Test |
| Database Server Name: | Unknown | | |
| Please enter configuration parameters | s for application server. | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | OK Cancel |

Figure 5-1: EMS Application Server Settings Screen

NOTE: If you are creating the project for the first time you must set the network parameters. Enter all data required.

EMS Application Server Host (IP Address or Name): Enter the name of the EMS

application server host. If using EMS Express, enter localhost. TCP Communication Port: 80 is the default TCP communication port. EMS Application Server Name: Enter emsapplicationserver

3. Once all data is entered, click **Test**. If the settings are correct, you will receive confirmation in the gray dialog box. If you do not receive a confirmation, correct your settings, or contact your IT personnel for the proper credentials. Click the **OK** button to continue The Open Project screen appears. Click on the desired project to select it, and click on the **OK** button.

NOTE: Only election projects with a Ready for Election status can be opened in the Results Tally & Reporting application. If an election project is not in the Ready for Election status, the election files have not yet been created for that project, and election result files cannot be processed for that project.

NOTE: The EMS Results Tally & Reporting Application User's status must be activated in the EMS Election Event Designer application.

4. In the election project Login dialog window, type in the credentials for the Results Tally & Reporting Administrator and click on the **OK** button. If you do not have the credentials, contact your supervisor.

| Login | THE OWNER WHEN THE OWNER |
|--------------|---------------------------------|
| Enter EMS R1 | R Application User Credentials: |
| Username: | |
| Password: | |
| | |
| | OK Cancel |

Figure 5-2: Login Screen

5. After successfully logging into the EMS Results Tally & Reporting application, the application expands to include new menu items and the status bar is updated to contain project and user details.

5.2 Closing Election Project

1. Expand the Election Project item from the main menu and click **Close Project**.



Figure 5-3: Close Project Screen

2. The project is closed, and the Status Bar now reads as No active project.

5.3 Project Settings - Project Parameters

Expand the Settings menu and click on the Project Properties menu item. The Project Settings dialog appears. See Figure 5-4. The following parameters can be configured:

| Project Settings | - Project Parameter | s | | _ | | | × |
|---|-------------------------------------|--------|---------------|-------------------------|----------------|-------|-----|
| Use Cast Vote Recor Suppress results unt | d results: il precinct reported: | 2 | Use r Auto | eporting o reporting | rder: sync: | | |
| X of Y Calculation Me | thod: | Cor | mpleted | l by Precir | nct | • | |
| Write-in Handling Me | thod: | Cor | mbine | | | • | |
| Do not load results fi | rom tabulators where | poll ł | has not | been dos | ed: | | |
| Automatic Result Pai | r Resolution: | | | | | | |
| Enable Adjudication: | | | | | | | |
| Automatically publish | adjudicated results: | | | | | | |
| (Please note that re | sults skipped by adju | dicati | on mus | t be publis | shed ma | nuall | y.) |
| Show disabled conte | sts and choices in rep | oorts: | | | | | |
| Convert disabled cho | pices to undervotes: | | | | | ☑ | |
| Use test results: | | | | | | | |
| Florida Export Settin | gs | | | | | | |
| Export Type: | Test Results | | | | | | • |
| Group reporting: | | | | | _ | | |
| Exclusion Method: | None | | • | Thresho | ld: | | 5 |
| | Apply | | V OK | : | × | Cance | : |

Figure 5-4: Project Parameters Screen

- Use Cast Vote Record results: The most of the ImageCast[®] tabulators generate result files in two different formats: Cast Vote Record results file format contains complete information about every voter mark detected on each ballot cast on a given tabulator. The total results file format is more compact and provides only totals. When the "Use Cast Vote Record results" checkbox is selected, Results Tally & Reporting loads the cast vote record results files instead of the total results files.
- Use Reporting Order: controls the order of appearance of contest in the report. If checkbox is not checked, the order of contests will be per Global order, as defined in project. If checkbox is checked, order of appearance will be per Report order, which is editable in EED. This way, contests appearance on the ballot is not influencing contest appearance on the report.
- **Suppress results until precinct reported**: If you select the checkbox, the system has the ability to suppress results for a precinct based on the X of Y progress. This setting allows you to have more control over the X of Y

progress reporting. The Y refers to the total number of precincts in a jurisdiction that participate in the progress reporting. The X refers to the number of precincts that are either started or completely finished (which one depends on the configuration). X of Y reporting is the optional ability of the system to suppress results (including votes, number of ballots cast, and turnout) for precincts included in the Y count but not yet part of the X count.

• Auto Reporting Sync: If this checkbox is selected, anytime the user creates a results report or export, the system will first synchronize the reporting model to include all published results at that moment. If this checkbox is not checked, the user must manually synchronize the reporting model (see screenshot below), or alternatively have automatic export turned on. The automatic export feature will always trigger synchronization of the reporting model, regardless of the Auto Reporting Sync checkbox.



Figure 5-5: Synchronize Reporting

- X of Y Calculation Method: This setting controls how the X is calculated; the X counts the number of reported precincts. There are two methods: Completed by Precinct: a precinct is considered reported if all tabulators handling that precinct are closed. Precincts started: a precinct is considered reported if there is a result file published referring to this precinct. If option precinct started is selected, results are not suppressed.
- Write-in Handling Method: Within this combo box, you can select whether to present the write-in results as one consolidated (combined) number. Alternately, you can choose to tally and report the write in votes separately.

• Do not load results from tabulators where poll has not been

closed: Prior to removing the Compact Flash cards from the ImageCast[®] tabulators, the poll must be closed. In some cases, operators may remove the cards without closing the polls. Selecting this feature prevents the results on cards from open tabulators from being added to the tally within the Results Tally & Reporting application.

- Automatic Result Pair Resolution: Checking this item will ensure that result pairs are automatically resolved i.e. if the results within the pair are matching, the resolution process will automatically pick the machine results as the chosen result set from the pair. For more information about result pairs, please refer to the chapter *Result Pair Resolution*.
- Enable Adjudication: Checking this item will ensure that the Adjudication process is included in the workflow when managing result files.

For more information about results states, please refer to the section *Result State Management*.

• Automatically publish adjudicated results: Checking this item will ensure that any results that undergo the adjudication process will be automatically published.

NOTE: Results that are skipped by Adjudication will have to be published manually by the application user.

- Show disabled contests and choices in reports: When this option is selected, any contests or candidates that were disabled will be shown in the Election Summary and the Statement of Votes Cast reports.
- **Convert disabled choices to undervotes**: This option is only enabled if disabled contests and candidates are not set to be displayed in the reports. When this option is selected, votes recorded for any of the disabled candidates will be converted to Undervotes in the Election Summary and the Statement of Votes Cast reports.
- **Use test results**: When this option is selected, the RTR application will only allow loading of TEST results produced by the ICX DRE system. RTR does not allow the user to load both regular and TEST results for the same ICX tabulator.

CHAPTER 6: IMPORTING ELECTION RESULTS

Election results (including the scanned ballot images and log files) are stored on the Removable Media and can be stored on local file system or on the NAS. Each file type (result files, ballot images and log files) may be imported together or separately. This allows for the flexible management of results after the election occurs. Since ballot images take a significant amount of time to import, your jurisdiction may decide that they are imported after the results have been completely tallied. Result and log files, however, take only a few seconds to load. Tasks covered in this section:

- Connecting the Removable Medium
- Loading Results From Removable Medium
- Resetting Removable Medium
- Loading Results From Directory
- Automatic Result Loading

6.1 Connecting the Removable Medium

The following components are necessary in connecting the removable medium reader/writer to the EMS Results Tally & Reporting workstation:

- A USB cable between component removable medium reader/writer and EMS Results Tally & Reporting workstation
- Memory card reader/writer
- Memory card

NOTE: If the computer you are using already has a Compact Flash card reader/ writer, skip this section.

To connect the card reader/writer, please perform the following steps:

- 1. Connect the USB cable to the card reader/writer.
- 2. Connect the USB cable to the USB port of the EMS Results Tally & Reporting workstation.
- 3. Insert the memory card into the memory card reader/writer's card slot. Ensure the card is completely inserted. The content from the Compact Flash card can now be viewed.
- 4. When the reader/writer is actively reading/writing to a card, an indicator light appears. When the process finishes, the lighted indicator goes out, and you can remove the memory card from the card reader/writer. Anytime you want to read or write data to a new memory card, insert the a memory card following these instructions.

NOTE: The card reader/writer and/or memory card design can vary depending on the vendor of the device. Never insert or remove a Compact Flash card while the indicator is lit.

6.2 Loading Results from the Removable Medium

NOTE: In order to load results, make sure to install File System Service (please see the *Democracy Suite EMS Standard System Installation and Configuration Procedures* or the *Democracy Suite EMS Express Installation and Configuration Procedures* documents).

- 1. Connect the card reader/writer to the EMS Results Tally & Reporting workstation. For more information, see the *Connecting the Removable Medium* section.
- 2. Expand the Actions menu, then click Removable Media Management.
- 3. Load Results dialog appears. See Figure 6-1.

| 🥁 Load Results | | X |
|-----------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------|
| Properties | | Actions |
| Tabulator: <none></none> | | 🗹 Load Result File |
| Batch: <none></none> | | Load Ballot Images |
| Result File: <none></none> | | Load Log File |
| Options | | J |
| Skip Adjudication Overwrite | e Ballot Images 📃 Overwrite Log File | |
| Status | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | ^ |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | × 1 |
| Reset Removable Medium | Fiert Clear Lon | Start Loading |
| Reset Removable Medium | | |

Figure 6-1: Waiting for Removable Media Dialog

NOTE: If the Use test results option was checked in the Project Settings - Project Parameters dialog, header will contain a post fix " - Testing Mode" to indicate that only TEST result files can be loaded. See *Project Settings - Project Parameters* section.

- 4. Select one of the following options from the Actions field:
 - Load Results file
 - Load Ballot Images
 - Load Log File.
- 5. If you do not want loaded results to be available for Adjudication, select **Skip Adjudication**.
- 6. Click **Load** to import selected type of file. Insert the Removable Medium into card reader.

| 🥁 Load Results | × |
|---|--|
| Properties Actions Tabulator: ICE 01 ALL Image: Load Batch: 0 Image: Load Result File: machinecontext_50505_1.xml Image: Load | Result File Ballot Images Log File |
| Options Options Skip Adjudication Overwrite Ballot Images Overwrite Log File | |
| Status Loading data | |
| Processing tabulator "ICE 01 ALL", result file "machinecontext_50505_1.xml". | ^ |
| | |
| | |
| Reset Removable Medium Eject Clear Log | V Start Loading Close |

Figure 6-2: Load Results dialog

7. The Process window tracks the loading progress for the selected file type. The Load Result dialog contains a record of the completed action. If results

| Load Results | · |
|--|--------------------|
| roperties | Actions |
| Tabulator: ICE 01 ALL | Load Result File |
| Batch: 0 | Load Ballot Images |
| Result File: machinecontext_50505_1.xml | 🗹 Load Log File |
|)ptions | 1 |
| Skip Adjudication Overwrite Ballot Images Overwrite | e Log File |
| tatus | |
| Loading completed successfully. | |
| In order to continue loading results insert next removable medi | um. |
| | |
| | |
| rocessing tabulator "ICE 01 ALL", result file "machinecontext_50505_1.x Result File: Loading completed successfully. Info: Result file 'machinecontext_50505_1.xml' was loaded successfully. Ballot Images: Loading completed successfully. Log File: Loaded log file F:\slog.txt. | mi". |
| Processing tabulator "ICE 01 ALL", result file "machinecontext_50505_1.x Result File: Loading completed successfully. Info: Result file "machinecontext_50505_1.xm" was loaded successfully. Ballot Images: Loading completed successfully. Log File: Loaded log file F:\slog.txt. temory card ejected. | mi". |
| Processing tabulator "ICE 01 ALL", result file "machinecontext_50505_1.x Result File: Loading completed successfully. Info: Result file "machinecontext_50505_1.xml" was loaded successfully. Ballot Images: Loading completed successfully. Log File: Loaded log file F:\slog.txt. 4emory card ejected. | ml". |
| Processing tabulator "ICE 01 ALL", result file "machinecontext_50505_1.x Result File: Loading completed successfully. Info: Result file 'machinecontext_50505_1.xml' was loaded successfully. Ballot Images: Loading completed successfully. Log File: Loaded log file F: slog.txt. /emory card ejected. | ml". |
| Processing tabulator "ICE 01 ALL", result file "machinecontext_50505_1.x Result File: Loading completed successfully. Info: Result file "machinecontext_50505_1.xm" was loaded successfully. Ballot Images: Loading completed successfully. Log File: Loaded log file F:\slog.txt. /emory card ejected. | mi". |

are successfully loaded, you may eject the memory card.

Figure 6-3: Load Results dialog

- 8. It is possible to load the result files, ballot images, and log files separately. For instance, If you want to load ballot images, you need to enable **Load Ballot Images** and make sure that other checkboxes under Actions are cleared.
- 9. This procedure is the same for Load Results File and Load Log File.
- 10. Insert the memory card into card reader.

11. The Load Result dialog contains a record of the completed action.



Figure 6-4: Load Results dialog

- 12. This process should be repeated until all results will be loaded.
- 13. The Load Results dialog contains all relevant information. Possible results include:
 - If the results file has already been loaded into the EMS Results Tally & Reporting application, the Load Result dialog contains error

information.

| 🥁 Load Results | × |
|--|-------------------------|
| Properties | Actions |
| Tabulator: ICE 01 ALL | ✓ Load Result File |
| Batch: 0 | Load Ballot Images |
| Result File: machinecontext_50505_1.xml | Load Log File |
| Options | |
| Skip Adjudication Overwrite Ballot Images Overwrite Log File | |
| Status | |
| Loading completed with error(s). | |
| In order to continue loading results insert next removable medium. | |
| | |
| Processing tabulator "ICE 01 ALL", result file "machinecontext_50505_1.xml". Result File: Loading failed with error(s). Errors: The database already contains results for tabulator ICE 01 ALL for batch 0. Ballot Images: Loading skipped. Log File: Loading skipped. Memory card ejected. | ~ |
| Reset Removable Medium Eject Clear Log | 🚺 Start Loading 🗾 Close |

Figure 6-5: Load Results Dialog

• If Ballot images or log file you are trying to load have already been loaded into the EMS Results Tally & Reporting application, the Load Result dialog contains information that Loading is skipped.

| 🥁 Load Results | × |
|---|--|
| Properties Tabulator: ICE 01 ALL Batch: 0 Result File: machinecontext_50505_1.xml Options | Actions Load Result File Load Ballot Images Load Log File |
| Status Loading completed successfully. In order to continue loading results insert next removable medium. | |
| Processing tabulator "ICE 01 ALL", result file "machinecontext_50505_1.xml". Result File: Loading skipped. Ballot Images: Some images were alrebdy loaded. Loading skipped. Log File: Loaded log file F:\slog.txt. Memory card ejected. | ~ |
| Reset Removable Medium 🔺 Eject 🖸 Clear Log | 🛃 Start Loading 🗾 Close |

Figure 6-6: Load Results Dialog

- If you want to overwrite ballot images, enable **Overwrite Ballot Images**. Repeat steps if you want to Overwrite Log File.
- If you want to load new result files for the same tabulator, delete the previous result file This can be accomplished in two ways as described in the *Manage Result Files* chapter of this document: Delete Result Files and Purge Results.
- If the removable medium was dismounted during loading, the following error message will appear:



Figure 6-7: Load Results dialog

• Re-insert the Removable Medium into card reader.

6.3 Resetting the Removable Medium

In some cases, it is useful to reset the contents of a removable medium.

NOTE: When a Removable Medium is reset, the contents on the removable media are cleared and the removable media can be used for something else.

- 1. To reset the removable medium, click on the **Reset Removable Medium** button in the Load dialog window.
- 2. The Question dialog appears. To continue, click Yes. See Figure 6-8.



Figure 6-8: Question dialog

3. After the Removable Medium is cleared, Information message appears.

4. Click the **Eject** button in the Load Results dialog to safely remove the removable medium from the Removable Medium reader. After doing so, the Load Result dialog resets all the values and you can safely remove the medium. Insert a new removable medium without closing the Load Results dialog window. Click the **Update** button to refresh the screen.



Figure 6-9: Info dialog

6.4 Loading Results From Directory

- 1. Select **Actions** from the menu and click the Load Results From Directory option.
- 2. In the Load dialog select the File Type you wish to load (Results, Logs or Images) from the combo box. Click **Browse**.
- 3. In the Browse for Folder dialog, select the directory that contains the results. Click **OK**. The system provides information about the source tabulator for each of the listed files. In the case of Result files, it will also show if any results have already been loaded into the system, in which state they are as well as information about paired results.
- 4. Select the files you wish to load. If you do not want loaded results to be available for Adjudication, check the **Skip Adjudication** check box. Click **Load**. See Figure 6-10.
| Load | | | | | | _ | | \times |
|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--------------------|--------|-------------------|-----------------------------|-------|----------|
| Source Directory: | C:\Users\Rade.dj | jermanovic\Desl | ctop\results | | | | C Bro | wse |
| File Type: | Results | | • | | | | C Ref | resh |
| | Show Loaded Fi | les | | | Skip Adjudica | ation | | |
| Tabulator Name | Tabulator Type | Counting Group | File Name | Status | Paired Results | Paired Results Status | Loa | ded |
| 2000 | Imagecast X | Election Day | 1_2_2000_1_CVR.res | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | 🗸 Load | Clo | se |

Figure 6-10: Loading Results from Directory screen

5. Once results have been loaded, the result file will appear in the Load dialog. At this point you can continue uploading the results (images or logs) by repeating steps two to four three above or close the Load dialog by clicking **Close**. When loading images, you can choose whether to show or hide batches that already have loaded images.

| Load | | | | - 🗆 X |
|-------------------|----------------|--------------------|----------------|---|
| Source Directory: | D:\RFE New\Res | sults Peview | | Browse |
| File Type: | Images | • | | C Refresh |
| | Show Batches | with Images Loaded | | Skip Adjudication |
| Tabulato | or Name | Tabulator Type | Counting Group | File Name |
| ICC | | Imagecast Central | Absentee | NasResults\Tabulator00004\Results\1_1_4_2_DETAIL |
| ICC | | Imagecast Central | Absentee | NasResults\Tabulator00004\Results\1_1_4_4_DETAIL |
| ICC | | Imagecast Central | Absentee | NasResults\Tabulator00004\Results\1_1_4_3_DETAIL |
| ICC | | Imagecast Central | Absentee | NasResults\Tabulator00004\Results\1_1_4_5_DETAIL |
| ICC | | Imagecast Central | Absentee | NasResults\Tabulator00004\Results\1_1_4_1_DETAIL |
| ICE | | ICE/ICP2 | Election Day | NasResults\Tabulator00003\Batch000\machinecontext |
| | | | | |
| | | | | 🔽 Load 🔤 Close |

Figure 6-11: Loading Results from Directory - Show Batches with Images Loaded **NOTE:** If the Use test results option was checked in the Project Settings - Project

Parameters dialog, header will contain a post fix " - Testing Mode" to indicate that only TEST result files can be loaded. See Project Settings - Project Parameters section.

6.5 Automatic Result Loading

Automatic result loading functionality allows loading of results without user interaction. RTR will automatically and periodically load results that are stored on the predefined location.

- 1. Select **Actions** from the menu and click on the **Automatic Result Loading** option.
- 2. The Automatic Result Loading dialog appears. See Figure 6-12 . Note that it is divided into two sections: Service Settings and Service Status.

| Automatic Result Lo | ading | - | × |
|----------------------|-----------------|---------|--------|
| Service Settings | | | |
| Results Directory: | All Directories | | \sim |
| Chunk Size: | 10 | | \sim |
| Interval: | 1 minute | | \sim |
| Multiprocess factor: | 1 🔹 | | |
| Validate Results | Publish Results | | |
| Service Status | | | |
| Status: | Stopped | | |
| Loaded Files Count: | 0 | | |
| Total Files Count: | 0 | | |
| | | | |
| Sta | rt 💽 Stop 🖸 | Refresh | lose |

Figure 6-12: Automatic Result Loading dialog

NOTE: If the Use test results option was checked in the Project Settings - Project Parameters dialog, header will contain a post fix " - Testing Mode" to indicate that only TEST result files can be loaded. See *Project Settings - Project Parameters* section.

- 3. Service Setting contains following options:
 - Results Directory: RTR can automatically load results from two

predefined locations:

- **Results directory** (results from Central Scanning)
- Uploaded Results directory (results from Listener)

These directories are in the election project directory on NAS. User can choose to monitor one of them of both.

NOTE: It is possible to change default locations (directories) from which the results are loaded by editing the Web.config (EMS Application Server configuration) file which is located at the following location on the server, regardless of the configuration: C:\VirtualDirectories\EMSApplicationServer In order to change default locations, enter the relative path into the value field for the configuration items:

```
<add key="CentralScanningResultFilesFolder" value="Results" /> <add key="ListenerResultFilesFolder" value="UploadedResults">
```

NOTE: It is strongly recommended not to change this setting.

- Chunk size defines the number of result files loaded from one iteration.
- Interval defines the interval of repeating loading results.
- **Multiprocess factor** is the number of CPU cores that can be used for simultaneous loading of result files, in order to optimize the performance. The default value is 1, which indicates sequential loading of result files.
- If **Validate Results** is checked loaded results will automatically be validated.
- If **Publish Results** is checked loaded results will automatically be published.
- 4. Service Status displays the status (started or stopped), loaded and total number of result files in selected results directory(s).
- 5. Click the **Start** button to start automatic loading.
- 6. Click **Refresh** to refresh service status information.
- 7. Click on the Stop button to stop automatic result loading
- 8. Click **Close** to close the dialog.

NOTE: In case of more then 2000 batches, in order to avoid potential submission errors when the system utilizing Adjudication is under high load, it is recommended to process results using the following steps:

- a. Ensure RTR is automatically publishing the results. Only submit a maximum number of 50 batches from Adjudication at any one time.
- b. Do not attempt to re-submit batches while the batches are pending

submission.

c. Check the batch status in RTR to ensure the system is operating as expected, and that any given results batch has a correct and up to date status.

NOTE: When loading ICX result files in cases from multiple physical ICX tabulators that were incorrectly configured using the same logical ICX tabulator definition, the RTR system will allow both result files to be read into the system. If this situation occurs the user will be warned, so that if necessary the user can take additional procedural steps.

CHAPTER 7: MANAGE TABULATORS

You can preview the list of defined ImageCast[®] series of tabulators in the EMS Results Tally & Reporting client application. Tabulators may be previewed based on their name and type, polling place, and associated voting location.

This chapter covers tabulator related functionality, which includes the following tasks:

- Searching for Tabulators
- Previewing Tabulator Properties
- Closing Tabulator for Results Processing
- Re-Opening Tabulator for Results Processing

7.1 Searching for Tabulators

- 1. Expand the General navigation group in the Activities Navigation Panel and click on the **Tabulators** option.
- 2. To search for a tabulator, enter the tabulator name and/or select other filtering options. SeeFigure 7-1.



Figure 7-1: Searching-Filtering Tabulators Screen

- 3. Click **Search**. A list of tabulators matching the entered criteria is presented.
- 4. If you click on the Search button without entering any search criteria, a list



of all defined tabulators for the active election project will be displayed.



7.2 Previewing Tabulator Properties

- 1. To preview tabulator properties, expand the General navigation group in the Activities Navigation Panel and click on the Tabulators option.
- 2. Search for tabulators to display results in the list. Select the tabulator record(s) and click on the Preview button from the toolbar.
- 3. The Tabulator preview screen appears, displaying general tabulator attributes such as tabulator name, tabulator ID, tabulator type and voting location.
- 4. If the result files have not been loaded for the chosen tabulator, the Result Files section will be empty as shown in the following image.
- 5. If the result file(s) for the tabulator have been loaded they will be listed in the Result Files section of the Tabulator preview screen.

7.3 Closing Tabulator for Results Processing

Each tabulator has a Closed property which indicates whether all results for that tabulator are final. Poll-level tabulators will automatically be set to Closed state if associated results are in Published state.

For central scanning tabulator the RTR user must explicitly close the tabulator. The closed state affects the X of Y precincts report indicator present in some of the reports. See section *Project Settings - Project Parameters*. Certain reports in the application provide the ability to display the X of Y statistic. See Chapter *Reporting* for more information.

- 1. To declare a specific tabulator closed for results processing, expand the General navigation group in the Activities Navigation Panel and click on the **Tabulators** option.
- 2. Search for tabulators to display results. Select the tabulator record(s) and click **Close** from the toolbar. The tabulator status is now set to Closed. The checkbox in the Closed column confirms the new tabulator status.

7.4 Re-opening Tabulator for Results Processing

- 1. To reopen the tabulator, expand the General navigation group in the Activities Navigation Panel and click on the **Tabulators** option.
- 2. Search for tabulators to display results. Select the tabulator record(s) and click **Open** from the toolbar.

CHAPTER 8: MANAGE RESULT FILES

This Chapter covers all functionalities related to election results processing, including inspection/review, validation, and tallying and publishing results files for interested third parties. The flow of functions when processing election results follows the result life cycle enforced by the EMS Results Tally & Reporting application. This result life cycle is explained in section RTR Functional Flow. This Chapter covers the following tasks:

- Results Files Review and Write-in Resolution
- Manual Entry of Results
- Result State Management
- Deleting of Results
- Purging of Results
- Transferring Results From One RTR Instance to Another

8.1 Result Files Review and Write-in Resolution

- 1. To see a list of loaded results files currently, click on the **Result Files** option in the Activities Navigation Panel (General Group). The Result Files main activity screen appears. See Figure 8-1.
- 2. Use the Tabulator, Tabulator Type and Replaceable combo boxes as well as the Result State checkbox list to filter the search results. To list all results, omit the search criteria and click **Search**. To sort result files by a specific column, click that column in the grid header.
- 3. By selecting a single result file from the list that particular result file will be displayed in the right side panel.
- 4. Each of the panels can be expanded and contracted by using the red arrow buttons to adjust the space in a way that suits the user.
- 5. The right side panel showing the currently selected result file has two tabs: Contest Results and Turnout.
- 6. In the Contest Results tab you can see a list of all Contest results shown broken down per precinct portion and ballot card by default. For consolidated ballots, results can be tracked by precinct for paper ballots as described in the following voting cases, when raw results are imported:
 - Ballots cast on ImageCast[®] Central:
 - Using key-in for batches, consolidated by Ballot Type (with common cards)
 - Ballots consolidated by Precinct (For portions, first available based on precinct and ballot card is used).

- For consolidated cards, there is no portion breakdown
- Ballots cast on ImageCast[®] Evolution (handling one precinct only):
 - Ballots consolidated by Ballot Type (For portions, first available based on precinct and ballot card is used)
- Ballots cast on ImageCast[®] Evolution (handling multiple precincts):
 - Ballots consolidated by Precinct (For portions, first available based on precinct and ballot card is used).
 - For consolidated cards, there is no portion breakdown
 - Voting Sessions with Smart Cards
- Ballots cast on ImageCast[®] Precinct (handling one precinct only):
 - Ballots consolidated by Ballot Type (For portions, first available based on precinct and ballot card is used)
- Ballots cast on ImageCast[®] Precinct (handling multiple precincts):
 - Ballots consolidated by Precinct (For portions, first available based on precinct and ballot card is used)
 - For consolidated cards, there is no portion breakdown

NOTE: Scanned electronic mobile ballots will also produce results that can be tracked by precinct.

- 7. At the top of the Contest Result list you can use the Contest, Precinct Portion and Ballot Card Key in Id combo boxes to filter the search results, as well as the Use Summary Results checkbox that will force results to be shown in summarized form.
- 8. When selecting a single contest result row from the list all relevant information for that contest result appears on the right of the contest result list:
 - Information about the selected contest result
 - Turnout statistics including: Total Voters Cast, Total Cards Cast, DRE Voters Cast and DRE Cards Cast.
 - Contest level statistics including: overvotes, undervotes, blanks, double votes, invalid votes, write-in overrides.
 - Votes per candidates and party affiliation.
 - Write-in resolutions showing how votes for write-in positions were resolved to qualified writein names as well as showing how many votes are left unresolved. To resolve votes to qualified write-ins simply enter the correct votes per name per contest in the current precinct portion. Once qualified write-in votes are entered correctly click Save at the top of

the screen.

NOTE: To resolve write-ins the Use Summary Results checkbox must be unchecked to ensure that all write-in resolutions are linked to specific precinct portions. Write-ins can only be resolved if the containing result file is either in Initial or Rejected state.

NOTE: Qualified write-in names can be entered through the EED application even when the project is Ready for Election state.

- 9. In the Turnout tab a list of turnout level statistics broken down per precinct portion and ballot cards are shown by default. Individual rows in the list include information on: number of total voters cast, total cards cast, DRE voters cast and DRE cards cast.
- 10. At the top of the Turnout list a **Use summary results** checkbox can be selected to force turnout to be shown in summarized form.

| See EMS | Results Tally and Reporting | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | - 0 | × |
|---------|---|-------------------|-------------------|------------------------------------|---------------|----------|----------------------------|------------|---------|----------|----------|-----|---------------------------|------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------|--------------------|------------------------|------------|---|
| Electio | on Project Settings Actions Help | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| N St. | nt Results Export 🛛 🛅 Configure Results | Export | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| R | | Result Fil | es | | | | | | | | • | I | Ð | Tabulator: ED10 | 059,Polling Location: | ED BAILEY, SISTER ROBER | RT JOSESPH ELEMEN | TARY,Batch No: 1 | | |
| Jyic | General | Tabulatan | | | Danaha Dan | | Emphy 0 | | | | | | Contest Results Turnou | t] | | | | | | |
| jati | Tabulators | rabulatori | COLLOS | | Kesuis Stat | | Inital 0 | | | | | ш | Contest: // | AUSS | | | | Ste Dafe | anh 🔽 Sava | |
| 9 | | Tabulator Type: | < <all>></all> | • | | | Validated 0 | | | | | ш | | | | _ | | | | - |
| | Result Pair Resolution | Replaceable: | < <all>></all> | * | | | Published 31 Relected 1 | | | | | ш | Precinct Portion: << | ALL>> | | | Description | | _ | |
| | _ | Synchronized: | < <all>></all> | • | | | < <all>> 32</all> | | | | | ш | Ballot Card Key in Id: << | NA>> | | | Contest: | | | |
| | Result Files | | | | | | | | Reco | rds foun | 4:32 | ш | In the Common Dearbo | | | Defects | Number Of Positi | ons: 0 | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | II. | Use summary Kesuka | | | Nellesi | Precinct Portion: | | | |
| | Provisional Votes | | | | | | | | | 4 | Search | U | | | | | Ballot Card Key i | 1 Id : < <na>></na> | | |
| | - | | 🍾 Synchronize | : 🔃 Export 🖌 Validate 🔗 Pul | blich 🏂 Vali | date and | Publish 🔛 | Reset 6 | | D | sete | lĨ | Contest | District | Precinct Portion | Ballot Card Key in Id | 🚹 Turnout | | | |
| | RTM Logs | Tabulator N | umi Tabulator Nam | e File Name Polling Location Batc | h No Counting | Replacea | ble Result State | Adjudicati | on Type | CVR | Synchron | 1 | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1038 - COUNTY | 1 ^ | Total Voters Cast | 0 | | |
| | 4 11 1 | 10059 | ED10059 | 1_6_10059_1_CV ED BAILEY, SISTE 1 | Election (| | Rejected | Slipped | CVR | ~ | | 1 | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1053 - COUNTY | 175 | Tablestown | 0 | | |
| | Ranked Profiles | 10060 | ED10060 | 1_6_10060_1_CV ED BAILEY, SISTE 1 | Election [| | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | 1 | 10 | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1072 - COUNTY | 569 | Total Cares Case | | | |
| | M | 10061 | ED10061 | 1_1_10061_1_CV ED BOULDER CIT 1 | Election [| | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | 1 | II. | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1074 - COUNTY | 572 | Dice Voters Cast: | | | |
| | Aanked Contests | 10062 | ED10062 | 1_1_10062_1_CV ED BOULDER CIT 1 | Election (| | Published | Skipped | CVR | V | × | H | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1137 - COUNTY | 581 | DRE Cards Cast: | 0 | | |
| | Furnet | 10063 | ED10063 | 1_4_10063_1_CV ED CADWALLADE 1 | Election [| | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | ₹ | H | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1302 - COUNTY | 689 | Contest Res | its. | _ | |
| | export | 10064 | ED10064 | 1_4_10064_1_CV ED CADWALLADE 1 | Election [| | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | 2 | H | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1307 - COUNTY | 713 | | | | |
| | Reports | 10065 | ED10065 | 1_5_10065_1_CV ED DAILEY, JACK 1 | Election (| | Published | Skipped | CVR | 2 | 2 | H | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1328 - COUNTY | 717 | Overvotes: | 0 | | |
| | | 10066 | ED10066 | 1_5_10066_1_CV ED DAILEY, JACK 1 | Election (| | Published | Skipped | CVR | V | ~ | H | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1345 - COUNTY | 755 | Undervotes: | 0 | | |
| | ease ease | 10067 | ED10067 | 1_3_10067_1_CV ED ELI20NDO, 16 1 | Election L | | Published | supped | CVR | | ✓ | H | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1361 - COUNTY | 759 | Blank: | 0 | | |
| | | 10068 | ED10068 | 1_3_10088_1_CV ED ELIZONDO, Ki 1 | Election L | <u> </u> | Published | Skipped | CVK | | <u>v</u> | lŀ | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1371 - COUNTY | 704 | Double Votes: | 0 | | |
| | Election Summary Report | 10069 | 2010009 | 1_7_10089_1_CV ED FAISS, WILBO 1 | Election L | | Published | Skipped | CVK | <u>v</u> | × | lŀ | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1373 - 000411 | 101 | Invalid Votes: | 0 | | |
| | | 10070 | ED10070 | 1 8 19972 1 CV ED GALOWAY E 1 | Election (| | Published | Skinned | CVR | 2 | <u>v</u> | lł | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1389 - HEN | 914 | Writein Overrider | . 0 | | |
| | Statement Of Votes Cast | 10073 | ED10072 | 1.8.10073.1.CV ED GALLOWAY, E.1 | Election (| - | Published | Ginned | OVP | 2 | - | lŀ | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1391 - HEN | 928 | | | | |
| | | 10074 | ED10074 | 1.2.10074.1.CV ED HAVDEN, DOI 1 | Election | - | Published | Skinned | CVR | 12 | | lŀ | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1513 - HEN | 948 | 🚹 Candidate Re | isults | | |
| | Cards Cast Report | 10075 | ED10075 | 1 2 10075 1 CV ED HAYDEN, DOI 1 | Election (| | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | | lł | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1517 - HEN | 1001 | Name | Party | Votes | |
| | | 10043 | EV10043 | 1 11 10043 1 C EV BOULEVARD N 1 | Early Vob | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 2 | V | ll | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1533 - COUNTY | 1003 | 🗛 Write-in Rese | Ab . | | |
| | MLV Report | 10044 | EV10044 | 1_11_10044_1_C EV BOULEVARD N 1 | Early Vot | _ | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | 1 | ll | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1601 - COUNTY | 1005 | _ | | | |
| | | 10045 | EV10045 | 1_12_10045_1_C EV CENTENNIAL (1 | Early Vob | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | ~ | ll | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1605 - COUNTY | 1015 | Total write-in vol | es: 0 | | |
| | C Results Pair Report | 10046 | EV10046 | 1_12_10046_1_C EV CENTENNIAL 1 | Early Vob | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 2 | 2 | II | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1633 - COUNTY | 1029 | Resolved write-in | votes: 0 | | |
| | | 10047 | EV10047 | 1_13_10047_1_C EV DEER SPRING 1 | Early Voti | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | 1 | 16 | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1644 - COUNTY | 1041 | Unresolved write | -in votes: 0 | | |
| | Wovisional Voting Statistics | 10048 | EV10048 | 1_13_10048_1_C EV DEER SPRING 1 | Early Vob | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | 1 | 10 | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1645 - COUNTY | 1045 | L | | | |
| | | 10049 | EV10049 | 1_14_10049_1_C EV GALLERIA AT 1 | Early Vob | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 2 | 1 | 10 | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1665 - COUNTY | 1051 | Name | | Votes | |
| | | 10050 | EV10050 | 1_14_10050_1_C EV GALLERIA AT 1 | Early Voti | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | 1 | H | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1673 - HEN | 1053 | | | | |
| | | 10051 | EV10051 | 1_15_10051_1_C EV LOWES TROPI 1 | Early Vob | | Published | Skipped | CVR | V | × | H | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1683 - COUNTY | 1055 | | | | |
| | | 10052 | EV10052 | 1_15_10052_1_C EV LOWES TROPI 1 | Early Vot- | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | ¥ | Į. | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1684 - COUNTY | 1059 | | | | |
| | | 10053 | EV10053 | 1_16_10153_1_C EV MEADOWS M# 1 | Early Vob | | Published | Skipped | CVR | | 2 | I | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1685 - COUNTY | 1061 | | | | |
| | | 10054 | EV10054 | 1_16_10054_1_C EV MEADOWS H/ 1 | Early Vob | | Published | Skipped | CVR | ×. | 2 | 1 | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1692 - COUNTY | 1063 | | | | |
| 6 | | 10055 | EV10055 | 1_17_10055_1_C EV MOBILE TEAM 1 | Early Vot- | <u> </u> | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | | I | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1704 - COUNTY | 1065 | | | | |
| | | < | 16910056 | TO THE THESE T CHEV MORTLE TEAM IT | nearly Vali | | innichef | Samed | 11.00 | 1.0/1 | | i k | UNLIED STATES SE | UNLIED STATES SE | 1752 - COUNTY | 1057 | | | | |
| Active | | | | | trator | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |



8.2 Manual Entry of Results

- 1. Manually entry of results can be performed from the Result Files screen, which can be reached by clicking on the Result Files option in the Activities Navigation Panel (General Group). The Result Files main activity screen appears.
- 2. Before any results can be entered a Result File of type Manual must be created by selecting the tabulator for which results must be entered from the Tabulator combo box and pressing Create New.
- 3. An additional option that can be selected before pressing **Create New** is to

select the **Replaceable** option from the Replaceable combo box to indicate that the manual results are temporary results which will be replaced by actual tabulator results files loaded into the system (see Chapter 13 *Result Pair resolution*).

NOTE: Only one replaceable result file can be created per tabulator.

- 4. Once the Manual Result File has been created the user can enter result in the right hand panel, which has two tabs: Contest Results and Ballot Statistics.
- 5. For each contest for each precinct portion the user must first add a Contest Result row by selecting the relevant values from the contest, (and optionally the Precinct Portion and Ballot Card Key in Id) combo boxes and click the **Add** button.
- 6. Once a Contest Result object has been created and selected from the list below the user can enter data on the right side of the contest result list. The following items can be edited:
 - Turnout statistics including: Total Voters Cast, Total Cards Cast, DRE Voters Cast and DRE Cards Cast.
 - Contest level statistics including: overvotes, undervotes, blanks, double votes, invalid votes, write-in overrides.
 - Votes per candidates and party affiliation
 - Write-in resolution is also possible for manually entered write-in votes in the same way as for regular result files.
- 7. Once the data is correctly entered for a single Contest Result the **Save** button must be clicked to keep the data. At this point the entered data will undergo some automatic validation procedures to ensure that entered information is meaningful (for example the sum of the votes, undervotes, overvotes cannot exceed the number of ballot cards cast for that contest multiplied with the Vote For number for that contest).
- 8. For each contest result that is created the user must indicate at least the Precinct Portion from where the results originated, and optionally the Ballot Card by Key in Id . The system will automatically create Turnout Statistic rows for indicated Precinct Portion and Ballot Card in the Turnout tab. These rows have the following editable fields: Total Voters Cast, Total Cards Cast, DRE Voters Cast and DRE Cards Cast.

NOTE: Only manual results that are in Initial result state (and are not part of a Result Pair) can be edited.

8.3 Result State Management

Result Files have an associated Results State which can change during the Result File lifetime and have effect on what operations are allowed on the Result Files, and on what results are included in reports. The Result State is visible per Result File in the Result Files screen, which can be reached by clicking on the Result Files option in the Activities Navigation Panel (General Group). The following Result States exist:

- **Initial**: this is the first Result State that is assigned once a Result File is loaded or manually entered into the system. In this state Write-in resolution is allowed. If the result file is manually entered, the result data is still editable. Result files in this state can be deleted by the user.
- **Validated**: this state indicates that a user has reviewed the results and the result file can be moved to the Published state by a more senior election official. Manual results in this state are no longer editable.
- **Published**: this state indicates that the results will be included in reports and exports.
- **Rejected**: this state indicates that the Result File should not be included at a later point in the set of Published results. Result files in this state can be deleted by the user. Each result file has an additional status associated with it, to reflect any lower-level changes of state to the results in the system:
- **Pending Adjudication**: The following actions will cause a result file to be in the Original status:
 - Any cast vote level result file loaded or reloaded into the system while Adjudication support is enabled.

NOTE: All cast vote records within a batch that is in Pending Adjudication will be sent to Adjudication, no matter if some of them are provisional

- **Skipped Adjudication**: The following actions will cause a result file to be in the Skipped Adjudication status:
 - Loading results from memory card or directory with Skip Adjudication checked
- **In Adjudication**: The following actions will cause a result file to be in the In Adjudication status:
 - When the Adjudication application retrieves batches that in the Original status
- **Adjudicated**: The following actions will cause a result file to be in the Adjudicated status:
 - When the Adjudication application submits a batch
- NA: The following actions will cause a result file to be in the NA status:
 - Any cast-vote-level result file loaded while adjudication support is disabled
 - Any non-cast-vote-level result file loaded into the system– Any Manual Entry

• Any Manual Entry

From the Result File screen one or more Result File rows can be selected and moved to another Result State by using one of the following available buttons, see Figure 8-2 :

- **Validate**: this will move a result file to Validated state, this is only allowed for result files in either Initial or Rejected state with Status NA or Adjudicated
- **Publish**: this will move a result file to Published state, this is only allowed for result files in Validated state with Status NA or Adjudicated
- Validate and Publish: this will move result files to Published state, this is allowed only for Result files in Initial state with Status NA or Adjudicated
- **Reject**: this will move result files to Rejected state; this is allowed for all result files in Initial, Validated or Published state. Rejecting result files will also spoil the batch(es) for Adjudication.
- **Reset**: This will move result files back into Initial state and this is only allowed for Rejected files. Status will remain the same as before the file was rejected.
- Allow Adjudication: This will move result file from Skipped state to Pending Adjudication state. Note that this could be done only in Initial state.

NOTE: Allow adjudication button cannot be clicked (button is disabled) when there are pending provisional votes.

The RTR system will disable Result State buttons to prevent invalid state transitions, depending on the state of the selected result files. Once the Result State action is initiated the system will ask the user to confirm the action.



Afterwards the list of Result Files will refresh to show the updated Result State.

Figure 8-2: Results options Screen

From the main menu there are three options available to change the result files for all result files that apply at once by clicking the Actions menu, Results and selecting one of the following options:

- Validate All: all result files that are in Initial or Rejected state will be set to Validated state.
- Validate and Publish All: all result files that are in Initial state will be set to Published state.
- **Reject All:** all result files will be set to Rejected state.n the Result Files, and on what results are included in reports.

8.4 Deleting of Results

- 1. Individual or selections of Result Files can be deleted from the Result File screen, which can be reached by clicking on the **Result Files** option in the Activities Navigation Panel (General Group).
- 2. Select result files that should be deleted and click **Delete**.

NOTE: The Delete button will only be enabled if all selected result files are in Initial or Rejected state.

3. Once the delete action is initiated the system will ask the user to confirm the action. The confirmation dialog contains a checkbox that when checked will delete associated result file and images from the NAS. If checked a secondary

confirmation dialog will appear to give the opportunity to the user to manually copy files from NAS to another location.



Figure 8-3: Confirmation dialog

- 4. If you chose to confirm the action, the Result File will be removed as well as any images that were loaded to the NAS associated with that Result File.
- 5. Afterwards the list of Result Files will be refreshed.

8.5 Purging of Results

The purpose of purging election results is to reset the results database before starting the election.

- 1. In the Main Menu, click on **Actions**, **Results** and click the **Purge Results** option.
- 2. The Confirm Purging screen appears.
- 3. In the Confirm Purging screen, enter the text sequence that appears on the screen and click **OK** to confirm purging.

8.6 Transferring Results From One RTR Instance to Another

In specific cases, jurisdictions may choose to install and run more than one instance of the RTR application.

An example of such scenario is a central office with a warehouse setup, with an RTR instance running at both locations. Consider the following:

• At the warehouse, RTR runs alongside the ImageCast[®] Central tabulator, and the Adjudication application. In this setting, RTR is loading results from ICC, making them available for Adjudication.

• In the central office, RTR runs as part of the main central EMS, and is used for collecting results from the ImageCast[®] Evolution tabulators. This instance is also tasked with exporting results in the given jurisdictions format.

In the above situation, in order to have complete and accurate results, it is necessary to transfer results, from one instance to the other; in the above case, that would be from the warehouse to the central location.

8.6.1 Exporting Results from RTR

There are two ways to export results:

1. Navigate to the Actions menu, select the **Results** menu item, and click **Export All**. See Figure 8-4 .



Figure 8-4: Actions menu

2. In the Result Files screen, select the file(s) you wish to export results for and click Export in the toolbar. See Figure 8-5

| 🐸 EN | IS Results Tally a | nd Reporting | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | - 🗆 × |
|---------|--------------------|----------------------|----------------|--------------------|---------------------|---------------|----------------|----------|--------|---------|--------------|----|------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|---|
| Electio | n Project Set | ings <u>A</u> ctions | <u>H</u> elp | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Pi⇒ Sta | rt Results Export | Configure R | esults Export | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Na | Result Fi | es | | | | | | | | | 6 | F | > | Tab | ulator: ED10061,Polling | Location: ED BOULDER CIT | IY REC CENTER, Batch No: 1 |
| Ϋ́ | Tabulator | 2241155 | | | - Deculto Sta | en Em | why 0 | | | | | 1 | Contest Results Turr | out | | | |
| lat | | | | | | Init | al O | | | | | | Contest: | COMPANIES. | | | Pafrach 🔟 Swa |
| g | Tabulator Type | < <all>></all> | | | * | 🗌 Vali | dated 0 | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Replaceable: | < <all>></all> | | | | D Pub | lished 31 | | | | | | Precinct Portion: | < <all>></all> | | | Description |
| | Sunchronized | <<411>> | | | | | ected 1 | | | | | | Ballot Card Key in Id: | < <na>></na> | | • | Contest |
| | o jine i o incesi | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Number Of Positions : 0 |
| | | | | | | | | | | Records | found: 32 | | Use Summary Res | ults | | Refresh | Precinct Portion: |
| | | | | | | | | | | | C Search | | 🖉 Add 🔲 Delet | | | | Ballot Card Key in Id : < <na>></na> |
| | Create Nev | Synchronize | Export | Validate | Publish 🌮 Va | idate and Pub | slich 🔣 R | eset 🚫 R | leject | Dde | e | Ľ. | Contest | District | Previort Portion | Ballot Card Key in 1d | Turnout |
| | Tabulatan | Tabulatan Mana | file Name | Deline Leasting | Robols No. Counting | Carl Davison | L. David Chair | Adjustic | | 00 | Combundaries | H | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1038 - COUNTY | 1 | |
| | 10059 | ED10059 | 1 6 10059 1 C | V ED BAILEY, SISTE | 1 Election D | arc neplacea | Rejected | Skipped | CVR | V | Synchronizeu | H | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1063 - COUNTY | 175 | Total Voters Cast: |
| | 10060 | ED10060 | 1 6 10060 1 C | V ED BAILEY, SISTE | 1 Election D | w 🗆 | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | | E | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1072 - COUNTY | 569 | Total Cards Cast: 0 |
| | 10061 | ED10061 | 1_1_10061_1_0 | V ED BOULDER CIT | 1 Election D | ay I | Published | Skipped | CVR | ~ | V | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1074 - COUNTY | 572 | DRE Voters Cast: 0 |
| | 10062 | ED10062 | 1_1_10062_1_C | VED BOULDER CIT | 1 Election D | y 🗌 | Published | Skipped | CVR | - | ~ | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1137 - COUNTY | 581 | DRE Cards Cast: 0 |
| | 10063 | ED10063 | 1_4_10063_1_0 | V ED CADWALLADE | 1 Election D | ay 🗆 | Published | Skipped | CVR | • | v | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1302 - COUNTY | 689 | |
| | 10064 | ED10064 | 1_4_10064_1_C | V ED CADWALLADE | 1 Election D | y 🗆 | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | ✓ | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1307 - COUNTY | 713 | Contest Results |
| | 10065 | ED10065 | 1_5_10065_1_0 | V ED DAILEY, JACK | 1 Election D | ay 🗆 | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | ✓ | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1328 - COUNTY | 717 | Overvotes: 0 |
| | 10066 | ED10066 | 1_5_10066_1_C | V ED DAILEY, JACK | 1 Election D | 1 Y | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | ✓ | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1345 - COUNTY | 755 | Undervotes: 0 |
| | 10067 | ED10067 | 1_3_10067_1_C | V ED ELIZONDO, R/ | 1 Election D | 7Y 🗌 | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | ✓ | L | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1361 - COUNTY | 759 | Blank: 0 |
| | 10068 | ED10068 | 1_3_10068_1_C | V ED ELIZONDO, R/ | 1 Election D | y 🗌 | Published | Skipped | CVR | • | ✓ | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1371 - COUNTY | 777 | Dauble Materia 0 |
| | 10069 | ED10069 | 1_7_10069_1_C | V ED FAISS, WILBU | 1 Election D | W 🗆 | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | ✓ | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1375 - COUNTY | 784 | Double votes: |
| | 10070 | ED10070 | 1_7_10070_1_0 | V ED FAISS, WILBU | 1 Election D | ay 🗌 | Published | Skipped | CVR | • | ✓ | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1384 - HEN | 803 | Invalid Votes: |
| | 10072 | ED10072 | 1_8_10072_1_0 | V ED GALLOWAY, F | 1 Election D | ay 🗌 | Published | Skipped | CVR | • | ✓ | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1389 - HEN | 914 | Writein Overrides: 0 |
| | 10073 | ED10073 | 1_8_10073_1_0 | V ED GALLOWAY, F | 1 Election D | ax 🗆 | Published | Skipped | CVR | • | ✓ | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1391 - HEN | 928 | Candidate Results |
| | 10074 | ED10074 | 1_2_10074_1_C | ED HAYDEN, DOM | 1 Election D | w 🗆 | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | ✓ | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1513 - HEN | 948 | Name Party Video |
| • | 10075 | ED10075 | 1_2_10075_1_C | V ED HAYDEN, DOM | 1 Election D | N 🗆 | Published | Skipped | CVR | V | ✓ | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1517 - HEN | 1001 | |
| | 10043 | EV10043 | 1_11_10043_1_0 | C EV BOULEVARD N | 1 Early Vote | | Published | Skipped | CVR | V | V | | UNITED STATES | SEI UNITED STATES SEI | 1533 - COUNTY | 1003 | 🚹 Write-in Results 🗸 🗸 |

Figure 8-5: Result Files screen

3. In both cases the dialog form will appear. This dialog allows user to set the

override of the default tabulator type mapping. Default settings should be changed only if there is a need to store the export of results belonging to a specific tabulator type as a results of another tabulator type. See Figure 8-6.

| 🥌 Set tabulator type mapp | ings X |
|---|--|
| This dialog allows you to set th type mapping that is used whe Only change these settings if y belonging to a specific tabulato for another tabulator type. | e override the default tabulator n exporting result files. You wish to export a result or type, to be stored as a result file |
| ImageCast X maps to: | ImageCast X 🗸 |
| ImageCast Precinct maps to: | ImageCast Precinct ~ |
| ImageCast Central maps to: | ImageCast Central 🗸 🗸 |
| | Continue |

Figure 8-6: Set Tabulator Type Mappings screen

4. Files will be exported to the ResultsExport folder inside the project folder on the NAS. Each export will create a time-stamped directory containing the files selected for the export.

Important notes about result export:

- It is not possible to export result files that in Rejected state.
- It is not possible to export Total or Manual results without cast vote record level results already loaded.
- Only files with Adjudication state NA or Adjudicated can be exported.

8.6.2 Importing Results into RTR

Before importing results, ensure that the exported files are located on the local drive of the machine where you wish to import the results into RTR. To import the results, simply use the Load Results from Directory feature, see section *Loading Results From Directory*.

CHAPTER 9: DRE AND QR BALLOT WRITE-INS

RTR can perform write-in resolutions for write-ins received from DRE and electronic mobile ballots from ImageCast[®] X and ImageCast[®] Remote. This activity is performed in the Write-In Resolution screen.

9.1 Write-in Resolution Screen

The Write-In Resolution screen is accessed by click on the Write-in Resolution in the Activities Navigation panel (General Group). See Figure 9-1.

Clicking Refresh beneath the Contest panel will populate the panel with all contests.

NOTE: The time required for the contents to appear will vary depending on the size of the project.

| 🐸 EM | S Results Tally and Reporting | | | | | | | | | | | | - | o × |
|--------|--|---|------------------------|--------------------|--|---------------|------------------|------------------|--|----------|----------|------|---|-----|
| Electi | on Project Settings Actions Help | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Ne St | art Results Export 🛛 📳 Configure Results | s Export | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Z | | Write-in Resolution | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ₹. | ueneral | Contest filters | Filters | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ga | | Contact Name | Write-in | | | | | | | | | | | |
| tic | Tabulators | | Texts | | Status 🖌 Pending 🖌 Acce | pted 🛛 🖌 I | Rejected | | | | | | | |
| ā | _ | Resolution Status | Cart Dallat Tune filt | ~ | Tabulator Elbari | | | | | | | | | |
| | Result Pair Resolution | Any Pending All Contests | Regular | QR 🗹 DR | CCAID-D | | • | | | | | | | |
| | Result Files | Contests | Write-in Instances for | contest: Judge Pro | shate Ct(2) | | | | | | | | | |
| | | President/Vice Pres [Vote For 1] | Luce and | | | | | | a to a to | | | | | |
| | - Write in Resolution | US Senator [Vote For 1] | Write-In Text | Tabulator Num | Tabulator | Batch ID | Cast Vote Record | Cast Ballot Type | Pending Candidate | Accepted | Rejected | Into | | |
| | <u>></u> | Premoens state bro of Ed (vote For 2) Premoent 11 of Mich (Vote For 4) | Baloo | 2060 | City of Pontiac PCT 07021-ICX | 1 | 2060-1-105 | DreVote | | 8 | 8 | ^ | | |
| | _ | Trustees Mich State (Vote For 2) | Baloo | 2060 | City of Pontiac PCT 07021-ICX | 1 | 2060-1-29 | Drevote | | - 18- | 8 | _ | | |
| | Provisional Votes | Governors Wayne State [Vote For 2] | Baloo | 2060 | City of Pontiac PCT 07021-ICX | î | 2060-1-66 | DreVote | | ŏ | lõ l | _ | | |
| | | Dakland Prosecuting Attorney [Vote For 1] | Baloo | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-108 | DreVote | | lõ | ŏ | | | |
| | Z RTML 009 | Oakland Sheriff [Vote For 1] | Baloo | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-98 | DreVote | • | | | | | |
| | | Wayne Sheriff [Vote For 1] | Baloo | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-147 | DreVote | • | 0 | 0 | | | |
| | | Oakland Clerk-Reg Deeds [Vote For 3] Oakland Clerk-Reg Deeds [Vote For 3] | Baloo | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-39 | DreVote | | 0 | 0 | | | |
| | Ranked Profiles | Calified Water Personal Come Dista Ter 1 | Baloo | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-232 | DreVote | | 0 | 0 | | | |
| | | Addison Twn Clerk [Vote For 1] | Baloo | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-195 | DreVote | | | 0 | | | |
| | Outland Contraste | Addison Two Trustee (Vote For 4) | Baloo | 510 | City of Bendey PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-66 | Drevote | | - 18- | 8 | | | |
| | | Justice Supreme Court [Vote For 2] | Baloo | 510 | City of Bendey PCT 00002-TCX | 1 | 510-1-9 | DreVote | | - 18- | 8 | _ | | |
| | | Justice Supreme Court(2) [Vote For 1] | Baloo | 1980 | City of Pontiac PCT 05013-ICX | 1 | 1980-1-33 | DreVote | lõ l | - lõ | ŏ | _ | | |
| | Export | Addison Twp Lib Board Director [Vote For 6] | Baloo | 1980 | City of Pontiac PCT 05013-ICX | 1 | 1980-1-137 | DreVote | ě | ŏ | ŏ | _ | | |
| | | Judge Probate Ct(2) [Vote For 1] | Baloo | 1950 | City of Pontiac PCT 04010-ICX | 1 | 1950-1-476 | DreVote | | 0 | 0 | | | |
| | Reports | Amont Sch Brd(2) [Vote For 1] | Baloo | 1950 | City of Pontiac PCT 04010-ICX | 1 | 1950-1-420 | DreVote | | 0 | 0 | | | |
| | | Protectario contini conege [rote rol 1] | Baloo | 1950 | City of Pontiac PCT 04010-ICX | 1 | 1950-1-507 | DreVote | | 0 | 0 | _ | | |
| | | | Baloo | 1950 | City of Pontiac PCT 04010-ICX | 1 | 1950-1-276 | DreVote | | 0 | 0 | | | |
| | | | Clopin | 2060 | City of Pontiac PCT 07021-ICX | 1 | 2060-1-192 | DreVote | | - 8- | 0 | | | |
| | | | Clopin | 2060 | City of Pontiac PCT 07021-ICX | 1 | 2060-1-88 | Drevote | | | 8 | | | |
| | | | Clopin | 510 | City of Bendey PCT 00002 TCX | 1 | 510-1-16 | Drevote | | - 18 | 18 | - 11 | | |
| | | | Clopin | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-193 | DreVote | 18 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I | 8 | X | | | |
| | | | Clopin | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-240 | DreVote | ě. | ŏ | 1ŏ | _ | | |
| | | | Clopin | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-285 | DreVote | lõ l | ŏ | ŏ | _ | | |
| | | | Clopin | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-123 | DreVote | • | 0 | 0 | | | |
| | | | Clopin | 1980 | City of Pontiac PCT 05013-ICX | 1 | 1980-1-93 | DreVote | • | 0 | 0 | | | |
| | | | Clopin | 1980 | City of Pontiac PCT 05013-ICX | 1 | 1980-1-217 | DreVote | | 0 | 0 | | | |
| | | | Clopin | 1950 | City of Pontiac PCT 04010-ICX | 1 | 1950-1-380 | DreVote | | - 12- | 0 | | | |
| | | | Clopin | 1950 | City of Pontiac PCT 04010-ICX | 1 | 1950-1-174 | Drevote | 8 | - 18- | 18 | | | |
| | | | Clopin | 1950 | City of Pontiac PCT 04010-ICX | 1 | 1950-1-65 | Drevote | | - 18- | 8 | | | |
| | | | Clopin | 1950 | City of Pontiac PCT 04010-ICX | î | 1950-1-168 | DreVote | lõ l | - IX | 1ŏ | _ | | |
| | | | Clopin | 1950 | City of Pontiac PCT 04010-ICX | 1 | 1950-1-83 | DreVote | lă l | - Iŏ | ŏ | | | |
| | | | Fairy godmother | 2060 | City of Pontiac PCT 07021-ICX | 1 | 2060-1-235 | DreVote | | 0 | 0 | | | |
| | | | Fairy godmother | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-381 | DreVote | | 0 | 0 | | | |
| | | | Fairy godmother | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-78 | DreVote | ۲ | 0 | 0 | | | |
| | | | Fairy godmother | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-311 | DreVote | • | 0 | 0 | _ | | |
| | | | Fairy godmother | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-236 | DreVote | | | 10 | | | |
| | | | Fairy godmother | 510 | City of Bendey PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-392 | Drevote | | | 18 | | | |
| | | | Fairy godmother | 510 | City of Bendley PCT 00002-ICX | 4 | 510-1-315 | DreVote | 18 | - 18- | 1X | -11 | | |
| | | | Fairy godmother | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | 1 | 510-1-373 | DreVote | 18 | - 18 | 18 | | | |
| | | | Calman and another | C10 | Charles and a second second second | 1: 1 | F10 1 333 | n-wate | 18 1 | | 1× 1 | - × | | |
| | | | | Toti | al write-ins: 177 Pending: 177 Aco | epted: 0 Re | jected: 0 | | | | | | | |
| e | | Refresh | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Active | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 9-1: Write-in Resolution screen

Clicking a contest in the Contest panel populates the right-hand panel with a list of all write-ins associated with that contest. The following information is provided for each write-in:

- Write-in Text: Voter input into the write-in field
- Tabulator Num: Tabulator number
- Tabulator: Tabulator name
- Batch ID: Batch identifier
- Cast Vote Record: Voter or ballot identifier, useful for tracking write-in

votes coming from the same voter

- Cast Ballot Type: Type of the cast ballot: QR, DRE
- **Pending**: Used to either display status or set status to Pending
- Candidate: Shows the name of the resolved candidate after being accepted
- Accepted: Used to either display status or set status to Accepted (resolved)
- **Rejected**: Used to either display status or set status to Rejected
- Info: Indicates to the users that status change was not successful

If a write-in belongs to the result file in the 'Initial' state and the result file's adjudication state is 'N/A' or 'Skipped', the write-in will be available for the resolution. Otherwise, it will be disabled and, not be available for resolution.

9.1.1 Filtering Contests and Write-ins

The filtering sections allows for the filtering of both the contents and write-ins in a variety of ways to better view the content.

Contest filters:

- Contest Name: Filter contest tree by contest name.
- **Resolution Status**: Filters the write-in list by resolution status. Multiple statuses can be selected.

Write-in filters:

- Text: Filters the write-in list by write-in text
- Status: Filters the write-ins by status: Pending, Accepted, Rejected Cast

Ballot Type Filter:

• Allows for filtering of write-ins by ballot type: QR, DRE

Tabulator filter:

• Filters write-ins by tabulator name

9.2 Resolving DRE and QR Write-ins

To resolve more than one write-in (batch selection):

1. From the right-hand panel, right-click all the applicable write-ins. A menu

listing appears. See Figure 9-2.

| Accept as |
|---------------------------|
| Reject |
| Pending |
| Select All |
| Deselect All |
| Invert selection |
| Add as Qualified Write-in |

Figure 9-2: Write-in resolution menu options

- 2. Click a menu option:
 - Accept as: All selected write-ins will be resolved as selected candidates. The name(s) of the selected choices appear in the Candidate column and an audit mark is appended to the ballot image.

NOTE: The length of time to complete this process will vary depending on the number of write-ins selected.

NOTE: If a write-in cannot be resolved due to conflicts with the voting rules or if an error occured during the resolution process, an exclamation mark appears in the Info column along with a description of the error.

- **Reject**: All of the selected write-ins will be resolved as 'Rejected'.
- **Pending**: All of the selected write-ins will be set as 'Pending'. Use this option to return to the write-in at a later time.

To resolve one write-in:

- 1. From the right-hand-panel, select the write-in to be resolved and click the applicable option:
 - Accepted will resolve the write-in to the candidate in the contest tree.
 - Pending and Rejected options don't require any candidate to be selected.

9.3 Adding Qualified Write-ins

Candidates can be added to contests as qualified write-ins. To add a qualified write-in to a contest:

1. In the Contest panel, right-click a contest and click **Add Qualified Write-In**. The Add Qualified Write-In window appears. See Figure 9-3.

| Add | Cancel |
|-----|--------|

Figure 9-3: Add Qualified Write-in window

2. Type the candidate's name in the provided field.

3. Click Add.

A write-in can also be added directly as qualified write-in.

- 4. In the right panel, right-click the applicable write-in and click **Add as Qualified Write-In**. The Add as Qualified Write-In window appears with the field populated with the candidate's name
- 5. Click Add.

CHAPTER 10: RESOLVING CONDITIONAL VOTES

10.1 Introduction

Conditional Votes is a generic way of discussing Provisional or Challenged Votes. EMS supports both the Provisional and Challenged modes of Conditional Voting. Different jurisdictions count conditional votes based on different criteria, hence the two prevailing approaches, as described here:

- **Provisional Votes**: Voters are given the opportunity to cast their ballot; however their vote is not counted until it is proven that it is valid. For example, this may be due to arriving at their polling location without appropriate identification, or by voting in a different precinct from where they are registered. At a later time or date, if the voters details are cleared and it is determined that their vote is valid, only then can votes from their ballot be included in the official tally.
- **Challenged Votes**: This is a variation of Provisional Voting, however, all votes are deemed valid until proven otherwise. This requires the ability to remove the voters ballot and votes from the official results.

Some jurisdictions choose to handle this situation manually, by simply not casting paper ballot and keeping it aside until it is proven to be valid.

In the RTR application, all incoming conditional votes will initially be assigned the Pending status. Each vote in the Pending state is yet to be resolved by the RTR user. There are two possible outcomes of resolving a conditional vote:

- Accepted: In all cases, a vote that is accepted is confirmed to be valid, and will in any case be included in the official results. The RTR application provides the ability for the user to duplicate the vote, and transfer the valid contests and choices to the appropriate ballot type and precinct, in case the voter cast an incorrect ballot and/or voted in the wrong precinct.
- **Rejected**: In all cases, a vote that is rejected is confirmed to be valued, and will in any case be excluded from the official results. The RTR application mandates the user to state the reason for rejection, which can be useful information later during auditing.

Cast vote records which remain in the Pending state will be handled differently depending on the mode of conditional voting in the election project:

- **Pending provisional votes** will not be included in the official results, despite not being explicitly
- Pending challenged votes will be included in the official results

There are two methods of resolving conditional votes:

- **Manual Resolution**: The user can browse all conditional cast vote records in the RTR application and accept or reject them one by one.
- **Bulk Resolution**: The user can export a list of all conditional votes into a comma-separated-values file. This file can be opened in a spreadsheet application such as Microsoft Excel, where cast vote records can have their status modified (resolved). The updated file can then be imported back into RTR, which will result in changes being applied from the input file straight to the results in the project database.

At any given time, the user can generate a report which includes some basic statistics related to conditional votes. Please refer to the *Conditional Voting Statistics Report* in the *Reporting* chapter of this document.

| Cha | llenged Vot | es | | | | | | | |
|-----|------------------------------|---------------|--|------------------------------------|---------|--------------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------------|-------|
| Fil | ter Parameters Session ID | | Resolution Filter: << ALL >> | ▼ Tabulator Filter: | | ٠ | Rejection Reason: | | • |
| | | | | | | | Q | Export CVR Images 🧱 Re | fresh |
| Re | esolution Counts: 4 | 18 | Pending: 36 | Accept | ed: 9 | | Rejected: 3 | | |
| | Session ID | Tabulator Num | Tabulator Name | Polling Location | Batch N | Voted Precinct | Voted Ballot Type | Resolution/Rejection Reason | |
| | 142F-9D1E-F | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | City of Berkley PCT 00002 | 2 | Addison Township, Precinct | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | Accepted | - ^ |
| | SC-10 | 5501 | West Bloomfield Township, Precinct 1 Tabulator 1 | Combine Election Center | 0 | Addison Township, Precinct | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | Pending | • |
| | SC-124 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township PCT 00009 | 1 | City of South Lyon, Precinct | Ballot 2 - Type 23 | Accepted | - |
| | SC-125 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township PCT 00005 | 1 | City of South Lyon, Precinct | Ballot 2 - Type 23 | Pending | - |
| | SC-13 | 5568 | West Bloomfield Township, Precinct 1 Tabulator 1_1 | Combine Election Center | 0 | Addison Township, Precinct | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | Accepted | • |
| | SC-131 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township PCT 00009 | 1 | Oakland Charter Township, | Ballot 2 - Type 16 | Pending | - |
| | SC-132 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township PCT 00005 | 1 | Oakland Charter Township, | Ballot 2 - Type 16 | Pending | - |
| | SC-133 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township PCT 00005 | 1 | City of Huntington Woods, F | Ballot 2 - Type 37 | Pending | • |
| | SC-134 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township PCT 00005 | 1 | City of Huntington Woods, F | Ballot 2 - Type 37 | Rejected - reject reason 1 | • |
| | SC-137 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township PCT 00005 | 1 | City of Northville, Precinct 1 | Ballot 8 - Type 53 | Pending | |
| | | | | | | | | 🗄 Save 🗙 Disc | ard |

Figure 10-1: Challenged Votes screen

| Filter Par Session | ameters n ID | | Resolution Filter: << ALL >> | Tabulator Filter: | | ٠ | Rejection Reason: | |
|-----------------------|-----------------|---------------|--|---------------------------------------|---------|------------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------------|
| | | | | | | | Q | Export CVR Images Refr |
| Resoluti | ion Counts: 4 | 18 | Pending: 36 | Accept | ed: 9 | | Rejected: 3 | |
| | Session ID | Tabulator Num | Tabulator Name | Polling Location | Batch N | Voted Precinct | Voted Ballot Type | Resolution/Rejection Reason |
| | 142F-9D1E-F | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-ICX | City of Berkley PCT 00002 | 2 | Addison Township, Precinct | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | Accepted • |
| | SC-10 | 5501 | West Bloomfield Township, Precinct 1 Tabulator 1 | Combine Election Center | 0 | Addison Township, Precinct | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | Pending - |
| | SC-124 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township PCT 00009 | 1 | City of South Lyon, Precinct | Ballot 2 - Type 23 | Accepted - |
| | SC-125 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township PCT 00009 | 1 | City of South Lyon, Precinct | Ballot 2 - Type 23 | Pending - |
| | SC-13 | 5568 | West Bloomfield Township, Precinct 1 Tabulator 1_1 | Combine Election Center | 0 | Addison Township, Precinct | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | Accepted • |
| | SC-131 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township PCT 00005 | 1 | Oakland Charter Township, | Ballot 2 - Type 16 | Pending - |
| | SC-132 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township PCT 00009 | 1 | Oakland Charter Township, | Ballot 2 - Type 16 | Pending - |
| | SC-133 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township PCT 00009 | 1 | City of Huntington Woods, F | Ballot 2 - Type 37 | Pending - |
| | SC-134 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township PCT 00009 | 1 | City of Huntington Woods, F | Ballot 2 - Type 37 | Rejected - reject reason 1 |
| | | | | | | and the state of a state | | |

Figure 10-2: Provisional Votes screen

10.2 Conditional Voting Settings

The user can make certain adjustments that affect the behavior of the application

when dealing with Conditional Votes. The settings can be accessed by clicking the Settings menu in the RTR application, and selecting the Challenge / Provisional Voting Settings. The following settings are available:

- General Settings, see Figure 10-3 : In this screen, the user is able to:
 - Indicate whether duplication can be performed on any provisional records in the project (See the *Duplication of Provisional Votes* section in this chapter.)
 - See the mode of Conditional Voting supported in this project this mode is only editable in the EED application.



Figure 10-3: General Settings Screen

• **Rejection Reasons,** see Figure 10-4 : In this screen, the user can manage rejection reasons available for the resolution process these are required for any rejected conditional record. Rejection reasons will automatically be

| | Challenge / Provisional Voting Settings – | |
|--------------------------------|---|-----|
| eneral Settings | Rejection Reasons Duplication of Provisional Results | |
| Here you can were to delete | edit the collection of available rejection reasons. Note that you can delete any of them without repercussions. What this means is - if e any of them, that wouldn't affect existing voting records reffering to deleted rejection reason. | you |
| Reasor | 1 | |
| reason | 1 | Û |
| reason | 2 | Ū |
| reason | 3 | Û |
| reason | TEST | Û |
| | | |
| | | |
| | Save C | ose |

presented to the user while they are resolving records.

Figure 10-4: Rejection Reasons Screen

• **Duplication of Provisional Results,** see Figure 10-5 : If duplication of provisional votes is enabled in the election project, this screen allows the user to identify a subset of contests where the votes are not eligible for

_ 🗆 🗙 Challenge / Provisional Voting Settings General Settings Rejection Reasons Duplication of Provisional Results Please use the list below to specify which Contests should not have their votes duplicated during the Conditional Voting Resolution process. In case votes for a specific contest should not be duplicated, ensure that the check-box for that contest is checked. Name Office Type Division Contest 1 Candidacy County Proposition Measure County INSTRUCTIONAL Instructional County Conest 2 ndidacy District 3 Contest 3 Candidacy District 6 RANK Candidacy County 🗄 Save X Close

duplication.

Figure 10-5: Duplication of Provisional Results Screen

10.3 Manual Resolution of Conditional Votes

To accept or reject any provisional or challenged votes (depending on the project mode), open Provisional Votes or Challenged Votes (the name of the section will depend on the mode which has been set for the project in EED) from the General section of the left-hand navigation menu.

Some basic information is presented to the user for each applicable cast vote record that is listed in the screen:

- Session ID
- Tabulator Number
- Tabulator Name
- Polling location
- Batch Number
- Voted Precinct
- Corrected Precinct (only in Provisional mode)
- Voted Ballot Type

- Corrected Ballot Type (only in Provisional mode)
- Reason for Rejection

The user can also search or filter for specific records by using the following fields and subsequently clicking Refresh:

- Session ID
- Resolution (Status)
- Tabulator
- Reject Reason

When the user has identified a conditional session in the list that they wish to modify, the next step is to click the corresponding Pending cell in the Rejection Reason column and select the appropriate value from the presented choices.

The user can:

- Accept the session
- Reject the session (with a given Rejection Reason)
- Leave the session as Pending until a later time

NOTE: When the user changes the Resolution/Rejection Reason, the upper bar, that counts how many cast vote records are in Pending, Accepted or Rejected states, will be refreshed only after the user clicks Refresh button.

| Pr | DVİSİ Filter P Sess | ional Voto | es | Resolution Fil | ter: << ALL >> | | Tabulator Filter: | · · · | Rejection Reason: | · |
|-----|---------------------------|-----------------|---------------|------------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------|---------------------------------------|--------------------|---|---------|
| | Resolu | ution Counts: 4 | 18 | | Pending: 36 | | Acce | epted: 9 | C Export CVR Images | Refresh |
| Γ | | Session ID | Tabulator Num | Tabulator Name | Polling Location | Batch Num | Voted Precinct | Voted Ballot Type | Resolution/Rejection Reason | |
| | | 142F-9D1E-F. | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 00002-IC | City of Berkley PCT 00002 | 2 | Addison Township | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | Accepted | - ~ |
| | • | SC-10 | 5501 | West Bloomfield Township, F | Combine Election Center | 0 | Addison Township | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | Pending | • |
| | | SC-124 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township P | 1 | City of South Lyon | Ballot 2 - Type 23 | Pending | |
| | | SC-125 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township P | 1 | City of South Lyon | Ballot 2 - Type 23 | Accepted | |
| Ē | | SC-13 | 5568 | West Bloomfield Township, F | Combine Election Center | 0 | Addison Township | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | Rejected - reject reason 1 Rejected - reject reason2 | |
| | | SC-131 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township Pl | 1 | Oakland Charter T | Ballot 2 - Type 16 | Pending | • |
| | | SC-132 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township P | 1 | Oakland Charter T | Ballot 2 - Type 16 | Pending | • |
| | | SC-133 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township Pl | 1 | City of Huntington | Ballot 2 - Type 37 | Pending | • |
| | | SC-134 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township P | 1 | City of Huntington | Ballot 2 - Type 37 | Rejected - reject reason 1 | • |
| - [| | SC-137 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Township Pl | 1 | City of Northville, | Ballot 8 - Type 53 | Pending | • ~ |
| | | | | I | | | | | Save 🔀 | Discard |

Figure 10-6: Manual Resolution of Conditional Votes Screen

10.4 Duplication of Provisional Votes

In the context of Provisional Voting, if duplication is enabled in the project, the term Duplication actually means to transfer any valid votes from an accepted Provisional Ballot, and assign them to the correct Precinct and Ballot Type for the voter. See Figure 10-7.

Duplication is performed during resolution of conditional votes in the RTR application, and is only activated when accepting a provisional record. Where appropriate:

- Click the cell containing the Precinct value in the Corrected Precinct column for the corresponding session, and select the appropriate value for the new, corrected Precinct.
- Click the cell containing the Ballot Type value in the Corrected Ballot Type column for the corresponding session, and select the appropriate value for the new, corrected Ballot Type.

Following that, the user must Accept the provisional session, if votes are to be transferred for any contests where duplication is permitted.

NOTE: A duplication can only occur once, if a records has been duplicated this operation cannot be undone. The only way to revert would be to re-load the original result file, and repeat both adjudication and conditional vote management for all records in this batch.

While duplication may also be achieved through bulk resolution, it is currently not supported as special care would have to be taken to ensure correct values are entered by the user into the input file. Duplication is not permitted for challenged votes.

| Pr | ovisi | onal Vo | tes | | | | | | | | | |
|---|--------|---------------|--------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|--------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|---------|
| Filter Parameters Session ID Resolution Filter: << ALL >> Tabulator Filter: | | | | | | | tor Filter: | Rejection Reason: | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | C Exp | ort CVR Images | Refresh |
| | Resolu | ition Counts: | 48 | | Pendir | ıg: 36 | | Accepted: 9 | | Rejected: 3 | | |
| | | Session ID | Tabulator Nu | Tabulator Name | Polling Location | Batch | Voted Precinct | Corrected Precinct | Voted Ballot Type | Corrected Ballot Type | Resolution/Rejection | Reason |
| | | 142F-9D1E | 510 | City of Berkley PCT 000 | City of Berkley PCT 00(| 2 | Addison Township, Precinct 1 | City of Bloomfield Hills, Precinct 1 | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | Ballot 2 - Type 35 🔹 | Accepted | • ^ |
| | ▶ 📘 | | 5501 | West Bloomfield Town: | Combine Election Cent | | Addison Township, Precinct 1 | Bloomfield Township, Precinct 1 | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | Ballot 2 - Type 33 🔹 | Pending | • |
| | | SC-124 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Towns | 1 | City of South Lyon, Precinct 1 | City of South Lyon, Precinct 1 | Ballot 2 - Type 23 | Ballot 2 - Type 23 🔹 | Accepted | • |
| | | SC-125 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Towns | 1 | City of South Lyon, Precinct 1 | City of South Lyon, Precinct 1 | Ballot 2 • Type 23 | Ballot 2 - Type 23 · | Pending | • |
| | | SC-13 | 5568 | West Bloomfield Towns | Combine Election Cent | 0 | Addison Township, Precinct 1 | Addison Township, Precinct 1 - | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | Ballot 1 - Type 1 🔹 | Accepted | • |
| | | SC-131 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Town: | 1 | Oakland Charter Township, Precinct 1 | Oakland Charter Township, Precinct 1 | Ballot 2 - Type 16 | Ballot 2 - Type 16 🔹 | Pending | • |
| | | SC-132 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Town: | 1 | Oakland Charter Township, Precinct 1 | Oakland Charter Township, Precinct 1 | Ballot 2 - Type 16 | Ballot 2 - Type 16 🔹 | Pending | • |
| | | SC-133 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Town: | 1 | City of Huntington Woods, Precinct 1 | City of Huntington Woods, Precinct 1 | Ballot 2 - Type 37 | Ballot 2 - Type 37 🔹 | Pending | • |
| | | SC-134 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Town: | 1 | City of Huntington Woods, Precinct 1 | City of Huntington Woods, Precinct 1 | Ballot 2 - Type 37 | Ballot 2 - Type 37 🔹 | Rejected - reject rea | ison 🔹 |
| | | SC-137 | 5500 | ICC | West Bloomfield Town: | 1 | City of Northville, Precinct 1 | City of Northville, Precinct 1 | Ballot 8 - Type 53 | Ballot 8 - Type 53 🔹 | Pending | • . |
| | | | | | | | | | | [| Save 🗙 | Discard |

Figure 10-7: Duplication of Provisional Votes Screen

10.5 Bulk Resolution of Conditional Votes

This feature is aimed at allowing for the process of resolving a large number of conditional votes away from the EMS system, by using a file which contains conditional session records, and their details in the context of conditional voting. The RTR application exports the data into a Comma Separated Values (CSV) file, which can then have modifications made to it (currently only the status of a record is updated it is set to accepted or rejected). The file is then imported back by RTR



and the records are automatically updated. See Figure 10-8.

Figure 10-8: Export-Import of Conditional Votes Screen

10.5.1 Exporting Conditional Votes

In order to perform bulk resolution of conditional votes, the user must first export conditional votes from the RTR application. To run the export, open the Actions menu from the top of the screen, click Export / Import of Conditional Votes and select Export to CSV file. When the export process has completed, a dialog will appear displaying information on where the exported data was saved.



Figure 10-9: Completed Bulk Export screen

10.5.2 Resolving Conditional Votes in the Exported File

Once the file has been exported, the user can open it in a spreadsheet application such as Microsoft Excel, and modify the Status field and the Rejection Reason fields (only in case the record is being rejected).

When finished with updating records, the file should be saved in preparation for

| _ | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|----|--------------|---------------------------|---------------------|------------|------------------|----------|-------------------|--------------|---------------------------------------|--------|---------------|--------------|
| X | 🔄 🎝 🗕 🕼 - | ∓ | | | | | | | | Conc | litional Vo | otes |
| | File Home | Developer | Insert Pa | ige Layout | Formulas Data | Review | View Acro | bat | | | | |
| | Cut | Calibri | - 1 | 1 · A | | | Wrap Text | General | - | | | |
| Pa | 🗧 🛷 Format I | Painter B <i>I</i> | <u>u</u> - <u> </u> | 🔅 - A | | | Merge & Center 🔻 | 9 7 % | • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • | Format | ting ∗ as Tal | nat ble ≖ |
| | Clipboard | G. | Font | | Fa Al | ignment | Es. | Numb | er 🖓 | | - | |
| | U23 | • (* | f_x | | | | | | | | | |
| | А | В | С | D | E | F | G | Н | L. | | J | |
| 1 | RowNumber | SessionCode | Tabulatorid | BatchId | Tabulator | Precinct | BallotType | Status | RejectionR | eason | | |
| 2 | 1 | 83765 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 4 - Type 4 | Pending | | | | |
| 3 | 2 | 8XA0W9R748 | 53 | 1 | ICX | ED 5 | Ballot 4 - Type 4 | Pending | | | | |
| 4 | 3 | 22 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | Accepted | | | | |
| 5 | 4 | 84 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | Accepted | | | | |
| 6 | 5 | 268 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 4 - Type 4 | Accepted | | | | |
| 7 | 6 | 199 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | Accepted | | | | |
| 8 | 7 | 227 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | Accepted | | | | |
| 9 | 8 | 208 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | Accepted | | | | |
| 10 | 9 | 76 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | Accepted | | | | |
| 11 | 10 | 222 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | Accepted | | | | |
| 12 | 11 | 9 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 4 - Type 4 | Accepted | | | | |
| 13 | 12 | 23 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 4 - Type 4 | Rejected | TEST 1 | | | |
| 14 | 13 | 220 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 4 - Type 4 | Rejected | TEST 1 | | | |
| 15 | 14 | 156 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | Rejected | TEST 1 | | | |
| 16 | 15 | 105 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | Rejected | TEST 1 | | | |
| 17 | 16 | 55 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 4 - Type 4 | Rejected | TEST 1 | | | |
| 18 | 17 | 62 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 4 - Type 4 | Rejected | TEST 2 | | | |
| 19 | 18 | 174 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 4 - Type 4 | Rejected | TEST 2 | | | |
| 20 | 19 | 140 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 4 - Type 4 | Rejected | TEST 2 | | | |
| 21 | 20 | 116 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 4 - Type 4 | Rejected | TEST 1 | | | |
| 22 | 21 | 202 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | Pending | | | | |
| 23 | 22 | 49 | 55 | 0 | ICP ONE PRECINCT | ED 5 | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | Pending | | | | |

the import of data back into RTR. See Figure 10-10.

Figure 10-10: CSV file opened in MS Excel screen

10.5.3 Importing Resolved Conditional Votes

The final step is to import any changes that were performed to the conditional cast vote records. To run the import, open the Actions menu from the top of the screen, click Export / Import of Conditional Votes and select Import from CSV file. A Browse dialog

will appear prompting the user to select a file to import. When the file is selected, the process will run, attempting to update records for all sessions that can be matched between the import CSV file and the results in the EMS database. When the import process has completed, a dialog will appear informing the user that the process has finished. In case any issues were encountered with the incoming data, the user will be presented with a list of issues and corresponding line numbers in the input CSV file.



Figure 10-11: Completed Bulk Export screen

CHAPTER 11: RANKED CHOICE VOTING

11.1 Introduction

Ranked choice voting (RCV) allows voters to rank their candidates in order of preference from first to last ranking, which is different compared to traditional forms of voting where the voter can only express equal preference for one or more candidates by marking their voting box. This additional information that the ranking provides can be processed using different ways to declare one or more winner in a way to ensure elected candidates receive a majority of the vote. What most of these methods have in common is that they process the results in rounds. In the initial round only the first ranked candidates are evaluated, if any candidate achieves the majority of the votes these are elected. Otherwise, another round starts and candidates with the lowest amount of votes are eliminated. Those ballots get redistributed according to their subsequent rankings, and votes are evaluated to determine winners. This process avoids the need to do run-off elections, while still ensuring candidates receive a majority of the vote.

There are various forms of RCV supported in EMS and each variation has a number of settings which are managed through Ranked Profiles.

11.2 RCV Profile

11.2.1 General Management of Profiles and Purpose

Settings that control Ranked Choice Voting (RCV) tabulation are managed through RCV profiles from the Ranked Profiles screen in Result Tally and Reporting (RTR). See Figure 11-1 .You can view existing profiles byclicking Search and edit them by selecting a profile and clicking the Edit button or by double clicking a profile. You can delete existing profiles or create new ones.

| 🥥 Re | C Results Taily and Reporting | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------|----------------------------------|--------|--|-------------------|-----------------|-----------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Elect | ion Project Settings Actions Hel | lρ | | | | | | | | | | |
| 14 E | Ne Export Results | | | | | | | | | | | |
| z | | R | anked Profiles | | | | | | | | | |
| az. | General | 17 | | | | | | | | | | |
| gat | Tabulators | Ne | | | | | | | | | | |
| ğ | | | | | | December format | | | | | | |
| | Result Files | | | Records round: | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | Search | | | | | | | |
| | and RTM Logs | 0 | 🗘 Create 🧧 Edit 🧧 Delete | | | | | | | | | |
| | | IC | Name | RCV Method | Elmination Type | | | | | | | |
| | Ranked Profiles | | IRV with batch elimination | IRV | Batch | | | | | | | |
| | | | STV with batch elimination | STV | Batch | | | | | | | |
| | Ranked Contests | | LPC algorithm with threshold | Points IRV | Batch | | | | | | | |
| | | | Takoma Park IRV | IRV | Batch | | | | | | | |
| | Export | | IRV without batch, but with threshold | 1RV | Single | | | | | | | |
| | Reports | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Active | | orting | Status: Ready for Elections User Name: RTRAdmin User Role: | RTR Administrator | | | | | | | | |

Figure 11-1: Ranked Profiles main screen

11.2.2 Settings

The RCV profile screen, see Figure 11-2 , shows all settings associated with RCV tabulation.

| Rcv Profile | | | × |
|---------------------------|----------------------------------|---|--|
| 🗟 Save 🌀 Save and Clo | | | |
| Name: | Weighted Inclusive Gregory Metho | d | |
| RCV Method: | STV | Ŧ | Use Previous Tie Break Decision |
| Previous Round Evaluation | | | Exclude Unresolved Write-ins |
| Method: | Backwards from previous round | • | Declare Winners By Threshold |
| Elimination Type: | Batch | • | Uses Precincts |
| Votes To Include In | Continuing Pallete Per Peured | - | Pause After Round |
| Threshold Calculation: | Continuing Ballots Fer Hound | • | Perform Elimination Transfer In Last Round |
| Fixed Precision Decimals: | 1 | | Skip Overvoted Rankings |
| | | | Assign Skipped Rankings to the set of Exhausted Ballots |
| | | | Use First Round Suspension |
| | | | |
| Fixed Precision Decimals: | 1 | | Skip Overvoted Rankings Assign Skipped Rankings to the set of Exhausted Ballots Use First Round Suspension |



- **Name**: Each profile can be named descriptively, so it can be quickly selected at the start of a tabulation session from a list.
- **RCV Method**: This will select the specific method of tabulating RCV votes to elect a winner, the following methods are supported:
 - IRV: Instant Runoff-Voting.
 - **STV**: Single Transferable Voting, more specifically the Weighted Inclusive Gregory Method, which implements fractional surplus transfer of elected candidates.
 - **Points IRV**: a modified form of Instant Run-off Voting where ranked

choice voting results are evaluated on a district per district basis and each district has a set number of points (100). Elimination and declaration of winners is done on basis of points, not votes.

| Rcv Profile X | | | | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 🖬 Save 🞯 Save and Close | | | | | | | | | | |
| Name: | Weighted Inclusive Gregory Metho | d | | | | | | | | |
| RCV Method: | STV | • | Use Previous Tie Break Decision | | | | | | | |
| Previous Round Evaluation | Backwards from previous round | | ✓ Exclude Unresolved Write-ins | | | | | | | |
| Method: | | | Declare Winners By Threshold | | | | | | | |
| Elimination Type: | Batch | - | Uses Precincts | | | | | | | |
| Votes To Include In | Continuing Pallate Per Peurd | | Pause After Round | | | | | | | |
| Threshold Calculation: | Continuing ballots Fer Hound | • | Perform Elimination Transfer In Last Round | | | | | | | |
| Fixed Precision Decimals: | 1 | | Skip Overvoted Rankings | | | | | | | |
| | | | Assign Skipped Rankings to the set of Exhausted Ballots | | | | | | | |
| | | Use First Round Suspension | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 11-3: RCV Profile screen

- **Previous Round Evaluation Method**: The system has the option to try and break a tie by looking at the vote totals in previous rounds. The following options are available:
 - None: ties are broken manually.
 - **Backwards**: the system attempts to break ties using vote totals in previous rounds going backwards from round preceding the current round to the first round.
 - **Forwards**: the system will attempt to break ties using vote totals in previous rounds going forward from first round to the round preceding the current round.
Previous Rounds Evaluation Method example:

The example below demonstrates how different previous round evaluation methods affect the handling of ties.

| Candidates | Vote Totals in Round 1 | Vote Totals in Round 2 | Vote Totals in Round 3 |
|------------|---------------------------|---------------------------|---------------------------|
| А | 4 | 6 | 6 (Tied) |
| В | 5 | 5 | 6 (Tied) |
| С | 6 | 6 | 8 |
| D | 3 | 3 (Eliminated) | 0 |
| Е | 2 (Eliminated) | 0 | 0 |

 Table 11-1: Previous Rounds Evaluation Method Example

Previous Rounds Evaluation Method

Candidates A and B are tied for elimination in round 3, below each method treats the tie break differently:

- **None**: The system would require the tie to be broken manually by the user.
- **Backwards**: The system looks at the votes for candidate A and B in round 2, and picks candidate B for elimination, since candidate B has less votes than candidate A in that round. If the votes would have been tied as well in round 2 for those candidates, the system would go another round backwards, until the tie is resolved, or until it runs out of rounds, in which case it will resolve the tie manually.
- **Forwards**: The system looks at the votes for candidate A and B in round 1, and picks candidate A for elimination, since that candidate has less votes than candidate B in that round. If the votes would have been tied as well in round 1, the system would go a round forwards, until the tie is resolved, or until the current round is reached, in which case the tie will be resolved manually.
- Elimination Type: The system can be configured to eliminate single candidates or multiple candidate each round through the Elimination type setting, the following options are available:
 - **Single**: only one candidate per round is eliminated.
 - **Single and Tied**: the candidate with the lowest vote total and any candidates tied with that candidate is eliminated. This only occurs if the

following conditions apply, otherwise it will fall back to single elimination type behavior:

- The vote total sum for all the tied candidates is less than the vote total for the next continuing candidate with the fewest votes.
- The number of continuing candidates is at least one more than the remaining number of positions to elect.
- **Batch**: all candidates that are certain to be eliminated in subsequent rounds are eliminated in a single round. Batch elimination will try to eliminate the largest possible amount of candidates from the list of remaining candidates ordered by vote total in ascending order for which the following conditions apply.
 - The vote total sum for all candidates to be eliminated is less than the vote total for the next continuing candidate with the fewest votes.
 - The number of continuing candidates should be at least one more than the remaining number of positions to elect.

If the number of candidates that would be eliminated due to batch elimination is less than two the system will fall back to single elimination type behavior.

NOTE: All forms of candidate elimination including batch elimination take place after all surplus has been transferred. This means that at the moment of batch elimination, the surplus has already been transferred, and is already included in the vote totals used for determining batch elimination.

Elimination Type example 1:

The example below shows the vote totals for a single seat contest per candidate in ascending order (the candidates names follow that order alphabetically). The maximum column contains the maximum number of votes a specific candidate would receive if the votes of candidates with less votes are transferred to that specific candidate.

| Candidates | Vote Totals | Maximum Possible |
|------------|-------------|------------------|
| А | 10 | 10 |
| В | 10 | 20 |
| С | 30 | 50 |
| D | 40 | 90 |
| Е | 400 | 490 |

Table 11-2: Elimination Type example 1

| Candidates | Vote Totals | Maximum Possible |
|------------|-------------|------------------|
| F | 600 | 1090 |
| G | 800 | 1890 |

Table 11-2: Elimination Type example 1 (Continued)

- **Single**: the system will detect that candidates A and B are tied for elimination and it will have to be resolved through previous round evaluation or through manual tie breaking.
- **Single and Tied**: the system will detect that candidate A and B are tied for last place and that their vote total sum of 20 is less than the vote total of the subsequent continuing candidate with 30 votes. Also at least two candidates are left to continue (there are five continuing candidates). So candidates A and B will be eliminated.
- **Batch Elimination**: the largest set of candidates for which the summed vote total is smaller than the next continuing candidate, and which still leave at least two candidates to continue in the next round, is the set of candidates A, B, C, D and E (maximum possible is 490 for this set, and next vote total is 600), so these candidates will be eliminated.

Elimination Type example 2:

The example below shows the vote totals for a single seat contest per candidate ordered in ascending order (the candidates names follow that order alphabetically for simplicity's sake). The maximum column contains the maximum number of votes a specific candidate would receive if the votes of candidates with less votes are transferred to that specific candidate.

| Candidates | Vote Totals | Maximum Possible |
|------------|-------------|------------------|
| А | 15 | 15 |
| В | 15 | 30 |
| С | 30 | 60 |
| D | 40 | 100 |
| Е | 400 | 500 |
| F | 600 | 1100 |
| G | 800 | 1900 |

Table 11-3: Elimination Type example 2

- **Single**: the system will detect that candidates A and B are tied for elimination and will resolve this through previous round evaluation or through manual tie breaking.
- **Single and Tied**: the system will detect that candidate A and B are tied for last place and that their vote total sum of 30 is equal to the vote total of the subsequent continuing candidate with 30 votes. This means that it cannot eliminate these candidates together, so it will fall back to Single elimination logic that requires a manual tie break.
- **Batch Elimination**: the largest set of candidates for which the summed vote total is smaller than the next continuing candidate, and which still leaves at least two candidates to continue in the next round, is the set of candidates A, B, C, D and E (maximum possible is 500 for this set, and next vote total is 600), so these candidates will be eliminated.
- Use previous tie break decision: Everytime a tie occurs that requires a manual resolution, a dialog will appear where the tie can be resolved. If the "Use previous tie break decision" checkbox is selected, these resolutions are remembered for the next time the algorithm is re-run. If the checkbox is left unchecked, the system will always prompt the user with the tie break dialog.
- Exclude Unresolved Write-Ins: If this option has been selected, any rankings for write-ins that were left unresolved will be ignored. If the ranking containing an unresolved write-in was over-voted because of that unresolved write-in, the ranking will still be considered over-voted even with when this option is used. If this option is left unselected, all votes for write-in position s that have not yet been resolved to qualified write-ins will be treated as votes for a single potential qualified write-in (who received all write-in position votes). If this potential qualified write-in is eliminated when the tabulation algorithm is run with the "Exclude Unresolved Write-ins" option left unchecked, then we can be sure that no qualified write-in will be elected in this contest, so election officials can choose not to resolve write-ins for this contest.
- **Declare Winner by Threshold**: If this option has been selected, the system will declare winners by threshold. The threshold is the number of votes sufficient for a candidate to be elected. The threshold is calculated in each round by taking the number of continuing ballots (see 'Votes to include in threshold calculation' setting), divided by the number of positions to elect plus one, then adding one to the quotient, disregarding any fractions. If this option is left unselected the system will not use the threshold to elect candidates but will continue eliminating candidates each round until the number of continuing candidates is equal to the number of positions left to be elected plus one. It will then eliminate the candidate with the least amount of votes and declare the remaining candidates as elected.
- **Uses Districts/Precinct**: If this option is checked, the system will perform all calculations per precinct and allow for reporting to report each precinct

separately. By leaving it unchecked all results will not be separated per precinct. This option is relevant for STV, because calculating surplus transfer for each precinct separately will create a higher total surplus transfer remainder than when surplus transfer is not separated per precinct.

- **Pause After Round**: When this option is selected the tabulation session will pause the tabulation session after each round. If it is not selected the session will continue until the end or until a manual tie break is required.
- **Fixed Precision Decimals**: This option allows you to specify how many decimals the votes should be represented during calculation, this is relevant only for the STV and Points IRV methods where votes and points are expressed as fractional values.
- **Skip Overvoted Rankings:** This option allows the algorithm to skip overvoted rankings and proceed to the next ranking. No over-votes will be recorded if this option is used and consequently not be shown in RCV reports. If this option is not selected, overvotes will be recorded for this contest when the algorithm reaches an overvoted ranking.
- Votes to include in threshold calculation: The user has the option between two variations of calculating the threshold value used to elect candidates:
 - **Continuing Ballots Per Round**: Each round the total number of ballots assigned to candidates is calculated and used in the division that calculates the threshold. This means the threshold will lower as an increasing amount of ballots are exhausted in subsequent rounds.
 - **Continuing Ballots 1st round**: Each round will re-use the total number of ballots assigned to candidates in the first round for each subsequent round. Therefore the threshold will remain the same throughout the tabulation.

NOTE: If first round suspension option is used, the suspended ballots will not be included in the threshold calculation.

- **Perform Elimination Transfer in Last round**: The tabulation system will stop early if it detects that the number of continuing candidates is equal to the number of positions left to be elected plus one. For example, if the number of positions to elect is one, and if the system detects that only two candidates remain at the start of the round, the candidate with the least amount of votes is eliminated and the remaining candidate is elected without going into another round. This option allows the algorithm to perform the elimination transfer for the elimination transfer to the winning candidate if that winning candidate did not yet reach the threshold. Note: This option only applies the IRV or Points IRV methods.
- Assign Skipped Rankings to the set of Exhausted Ballots: This option allows the algorithm to assign Skipped Rankings to the set of Exhausted Ballots. If this option is not selected, any rankings that are left

empty by the voter will be skipped by the algorithm and the next available ranked candidate will be used instead.

• **Use First Round Suspension**: This option adds one more round at the start of results tabulation where only 1st rankings are evaluated in the algorithm. All the other results are suspended until the start of the second round. Using this option automatically adds a suspended category in the RCV reporting.

11.3 Ranked Contests

Ranked Contests functionality is used to export results for ranked choice contests.

11.3.1 Export Ranked Results

Result Tally and Reporting (RTR) has the ability to export ranked results to a simple text format which can be used to tabulate the results independently from the RTR application. See Figure 11-4.

| EMS Results Tally an | d Reporting | | | | | - 8 | × |
|---------------------------|---------------------------|--|-----------------------------------|---------------|----------------------------|-------------------|---|
| Election Project Set | | | | | | | |
| Start Results Export | 👘 Configure Result | ts Export | | | | | |
| Z | | Ranked Contests | | | | | |
| S. General | | | | | | | |
| at Contrabulat | | Name: | | | | | |
| i i | | Office: << <al>></al> | • | | | Paconde found: 6 | |
| Realt | air Resolution | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | CC Sear | m |
| Result F | | 🔹 Tabulate 📴 Export 🚯 Publish 📓 Delete | | | | | |
| | | Name | Office | District Type | District | Tabulation Status | _ |
| RTM LO | | D BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, DISTRICT 1 | BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, DISTRICT 1 | SUPERVISORIAL | SUPERVISORIAL DISTRICT 1 | Not Tabulated | |
| | | BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, DISTRICT 3 | BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, DISTRICT 3 | SUPERVISORIAL | SUPERVISORIAL DISTRICT 3 | Not Tabulated | _ |
| C Ranked | | BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, DISTRICT 5 | BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, DISTRICT 5 | SUPERVISORIAL | SUPERVISORIAL DISTRICT 5 | Not Tabulated | |
| _ | | BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, DISTRICT 7 | BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, DISTRICT 7 | SUPERVISORIAL | SUPERVISORIAL DISTRICT 7 | Not Tabulated | |
| Aanked | | BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, DISTRICT 9 | BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, DISTRICT 9 | SUPERVISORIAL | SUPERVISORIAL DISTRICT 9 | Not Tabulated | |
| | | BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, DISTRICT 11 | BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, DISTRICT 11 | SUPERVISORIAL | SUPERVISIORIAL DISTRICT 11 | Not Tabulated | |
| Export | | | | | | | |
| Reports | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| 🔪 Basic | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Election | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| 🟏 Statem | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Cards C | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| RCV Re | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Results | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Active Election Project I | Name: SF Test Copy Stat | us: Ready for Elections User Name: RTRAdmin User R | | | | | |

Figure 11-4: Ranked Contests main screen

11.3.1.1 Export dialog

- 1. In the Ranked Contests screen, the user can select any ranked contest.
- 2. The Export button opens the Export Ranked Results dialog. SeeFigure 11-5.



Figure 11-5: Export Ranked Results screen

You must first select the export format to be used:

- RCR format which includes breakdown per precinct and counting group
- BLT format which is compatible with OpenSTV 2.1 and higher
- Choice Plus format which is compatible with Choice Plus Pro version 2.3.4
- 3. You can initiate the export by pressing the Export button. The export files are saved under RCVExport folder on NAS\Project Name.
- 4. The export contains any resolved write-ins that were entered by the user, but if a contest still has unresolved write-in votes, the export will include one or multiple Write-in candidates (one for each write-in position on the ballot for

that contest).

| Process | × |
|--|--------|
| Exporting Ranked Results | |
| In Progress Exporting Ranked Results Started Action Completed. | ^ |
| | - |
| | |
| | Cancel |
| | ок |

Figure 11-6: Exporting Ranked Results.

5. The system indicates where the file was stored and provides some basic statistics in the log. See Figure 11-7.

| Export Ranked Results | | | | \times |
|--|---|-------------|------------|----------|
| File Format: RCR (Native for | ormat) V | | | |
| Export Log: Ranked Contest: 1 City Cound 1 -Ronald Benjamin -Josh Burgin -Dennis Carlone -Olivia D'Ambrosio -Jan Devereux -Samuel Gebru -Richard Harding -Craig Kelley -Dan Lenke -Ilan Levy -Alanna Marie Mallon -Marc McGovern -Gregg Moree -Adriane Musgrave -Nadya Okamoto -Hari I. Pillai -Jeff Santos -Sumbul Siddiqui -E. Denise Simmons -Vatsady Sivongxay -Bryan Sutton -Sean Tierney -Paul Toner -Timothy J. Toomey -Gwen Volmar -Quinton Zondervan | Tor Cambridge (Number of positions = 1) Info: Info: Ranked Choice Voting data exported to directory 'D:'EMS Expl (Cambridge 2017 General'RcvExport\2018_06_19_12_44_32) | Copy to dip | X board | ~ |
| Export Close | | | | |

Figure 11-7: Export Ranked Results screen

11.3.1.2 RCV Export File Formats

This document explains the two export formats available in RTR for exporting ranked choice voting results. The three formats supported are the Dominion RCRformat, the Open STV BLT format and the Choice Plus Pro file format.

11.3.1.3 RCR Format

This is the Dominion native results format for Ranked Choice Results

```
4
             2
                       2
1
LPC Leadership contest
Anne A
Patrick B
Pascale C
Marc D
       Election Day
2
      Absentee
       Electoral District A
1
2
      Electoral District B
     Electoral District B

1 39 1 2 3

1 12 2 1 4

1 7 3 2 4

2 30 4 3 1

2 12 3 1 4

1 350 4 1 2

1 600 3 4 2

1 1950 2 1 4

2 1500 1 3 4
1
                                               3
                                            1
2
1
1
                                              2
1
2
                                               3
2
                                               1
2
                                               3
2
       2
                1500 1
                               3
                                       4
                                               2
2
       2
                600 4
                               2
                                       3
                                               1
```

Figure 11-8: Dominion native results format for Ranked Choice Voting

- 1. The first line contains three numbers separated by a tab character:
 - Number of seats to elect.
 - Number of candidates in the file
 - Number of precincts
 - Number of counting groups
- 2. The second line contains the contest name.
- 3. In the candidate name lines below, note the number of candidate lines must match the specified number of candidates.
- 4. Below, note that the number of precinct lines must match the specified number of precincts. Each precinct line contains two values separated by a tab character:
 - Precinct number
 - Precinct name
- 5. Next in the counting group lines, note that the number of counting group lines must match the specified number of counting groups. Each counting group line contains two values separated by a tab character:
 - Counting group number
 - Counting group name
- 6. All the other lines are showing rankings and their count per precinct. Each line contains a list of number separated by a tab character:
 - Precinct number (the same number used in the precinct lines). If precinct is unknown the precinct value will be -1.
 - Counting group number (the same number used in the counting group lines).
 - Ballot count: the number of times the ranking get cast in this precinct and counting group
 - The remaining numbers are ranked candidates. Each number refers to a candidate in the order that they are defined in the list. If empty it means a blank ballot.

11.3.1.4 BLT File Format

The BLT file format is used by the Electoral Reform Society and the OpenSTV application.

- 1. The first line contains three numbers separated by a space character:
 - Number of candidates in the file
 - Number of seats to elect

- 2. The following lines contain the ranked results in the following3. Each line in the ranking section has three parts (separated by spaces):
 - Ballot count: indicates the number of times the ranking was cast.
 - Ranking: for each rank, the set of candidates that were ranked are referred to by a candidate index (starting from 1 and following the order of candidates defined at the bottom of the file). An empty rank is indicated by the '-' character. An overvoted ranking will include all ranked candidates separated with the '=' character.
 - 'o' character that terminates the line.
- 3. The end of the rankings section is signaled by a line containing a single 'o' character.
- 4. Then the candidate names are listed in the order which corresponds with the candidate index references in the rankings themselves. Each candidate name is surrounded by "" characters. The number of candidate lines must correspond with the number of candidates indicated at the start of the file.
- 5. The last line in the file is the name of the contest surrounded by " " characters.

11.3.1.5 Choice Plus Pro File Format

This is the file format used by the Choice Plus application and is used by RTR to allow this application to perform ranked choice voting algorithm.

The format consists of multiple files. There will be one main file per exported contest, which will have an "in" extension and a number of "prm" files, each one containing results for one precinct.

The main file has a number of different lines in the following order:

- Title lines are prefixed with ".TITLE" and are followed by text. There can be multiple title lines
- Elect line is prefixed with ".ELECT" and followed by the number of positions to elect.
- Contest line is prefixed with ".CONTEST" and will be followed by the contest name.
- Statistics line will always be exported as ".STATISTICS-ON".
- Comply with line will always be exported as ".COMPLY-WITH CAMBRIDGE".
- Ballot format separator line will always be exported as ".BALLOT-FORMAT-SEPS ,)".

- Ballot format fields line will always be exported as ".BALLOT-FORMAT-FIELDS BALLOT-ID-ALPHA BALLOTTOP-ALPHA IGNORE-FIELD IGNORE-FIELD RANKINGS-ALPHA".
- Candidate lines are prefixed with ".CANDIDATE" and are followed by two comma separated fields:
 - Candidate reference: a short alphanumeric string that is used in the PRM files to refer to a specific candidate. For example "Co1", "Co2", "Co3" for regular candidates and "WIo1", "WIo2" for write-in positions.
 - Candidate name: the name of the candidate
- Include lines are prefixed with ".INCLUDE" and are followed by the PRM file name to be included in the result set. The name of PRM file refers to the precinct.

Each PRM file contains all the rankings for a given contest within a particular precinct. The file consists of as many lines as there are cast ballots for a given contest in a particular precinct. Each line consists of two fields separated by a space character:

- Header: this field contains meta-data about the cast vote record, including:
 - Precinct external identifier
 - Cast Vote Record identifier: consisting of tabulator number, batch number and record id.
 - Ballot type external identifier
 - Contest external identifier.
 - Ranking: This field will contain a list of all ranked candidates separated by comma. A ranked candidate will consist of a candidate reference string followed by '[x]' with x indicating the rank starting from 1. So "C21[1]" indicates that candidate 21 was the first ranked candidate. An overvoted ranking will list multiple candidate references separated by a '=' character followed by a rank indicator, for example "C05=C06[1]" indicates that the fifth and sixth candidate were overvoted in the first rank. A blank ranking will have an empty string as ranking.

11.3.2 Tabulate

You can start a tabulation session by clicking the Tabulate button once a contest has been selected. The Tabulate Ranked Results screen appears, see Figure 11-9 .

| Tabulate Ranked Re | sults | in sec | | - | and the second se | 0X |
|--------------------|---|------------------|----------------------|--------|---|----------|
| Contest: | City Council for Saint Paul, Vote for 1 | | | | | |
| Tabalana | Manual Tie Breaking | | Options | | Status | |
| | | | RCV Profile | | | |
| | Tied Condidates: | | Setri Paul IRV rules | - Open | | |
| | | Select Candidate | | | | |
| Summary: | | | | | | Show Log |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

Figure 11-9: Tabulate Ranked Contests screen

- 1. Select RCV profile to be used for tabulation. The user can press Open to verify that the settings are correctly setup.
- 2. The tabulation can be started by pressing Tabulate button, the system will proceed to collect all results for this contest and start the tabulation algorithm.

NOTE: If the Pause After Round setting is enabled in the selected RCV profile, the tabulation will proceed round by round and the user must click Tabulate to proceed to the next round. Otherwise, the tabulation will proceed until the end of tabulation process or until the user must resolve a tie.

3. If the algorithm detects a tie between two or more candidates the system has the ability to pick a single candidate from a list of multiple candidates. The system will indicate the reason a tie occurred and what will happen to the selected candidate.

NOTE: If the selected RCV profile has the Use previous tie break decision setting enabled the tie break decisions will be re-used if the contest is tabulated a subsequent time.

4. The system shows the round by round summary in the Summary grid at the bottom of the screen. It will indicate eliminated candidates in red and elected candidates in green color. See Figure 11-10.



Figure 11-10: Tabulate Ranked Contests screen

5. The user can also see the tabulation log by clicking Show Log, this will allow the user to see a detailed round by round explanation of the actions taken by the algorithm. The user can select Summary or Detailed. Summary displays results per round, while Detailed displays results per round broken down per precinct. See Figure 11-11

| Tabulate | Ranked Results | 100 | | | | - | - | | | - | tere and the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second | | . 0 × |
|----------|--------------------|---------------|---------------------|------------|---------|---------|-----------------------|------------------------|----------|----------------------|--|----|--------------|
| Cont | test: Oty | Council for 5 | Saint Paul, | Vote for 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| | Completed | inual Tie Br | reaking | | | | | Options RCV Profile | | | Status Round 3 finished. Tabulation finished. | | |
| | т | Tied Candid | lates: | | | | v Select Candidate | Saint Paul IRV rules | | Open | | | |
| Summ | M74: | | | | | | | | Hide Log | Tabulation | Log: Summary Detailed | | 😢 ExportLogs |
| | Candidate | | Status | Round 1 | Round 2 | Round 3 | | | | Method: Number of | total ballots: 104 | | <u> </u> |
| • | A. | _ | Siminated Invitated | 40 | 42 | 45 | | | | 6 candida | tes running for 1 seats. | | |
| | c | v | Vinner | 24 | 31 | 55 | | | | Round 1 | | 40 | 2 |
| | D | E | Iminated | 7 | 0 | 0 | | | | 8 | | 26 | |
| | E | E | Sminated | 2 | 0 | 0 | | | | D | | 7 | |
| | Write-in 1 | | Siminated | 1 | 0 | 0 | | | | I Wgite-in | 1 | 2 | |
| | Threshold | | | 51 | 51 | 51 | | | | Non-Trans | ferable | 4 | |
| | Non-Transferable | | | 4 | 3 | 3 | | | | -Exhauste | d | ő | |
| | Blanks | | | 2 | 2 | 2 | | | | -Overvote | s Transfer Remainder | 0 | |
| | Exhausted | | | 0 | 1 | 1 | | | | -Suspende | d | 2 | |
| | Surplus Transfer R | Remainder | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | | Threshold | 1 | 51 | |
| | Surplus | | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | | | | | |
| | Suspended | _ | _ | 2 | 0 | 0 | | | | Round 2 | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | 8 | | 42 | |
| | | | | | | | | | | c | | 31 | |
| | | | | | | | | | | E | | ő | * |

Figure 11-11: Tabulate Ranked Contests screen

6. Both the Summary and Detailed log can be exported by pressing the Export Logs button, which will present the user with a folder browser dialog that selects the directory to where the logs will be written. These logs are simple text files.

7. The user can make more space for the Summary grid by hiding the log by clicking Hide Log.

11.3.3 Write-in Handling for Regular Contests

1. Once a regular contest is selected in the result file screen, the user can click Write Ins.

| | ma | chinec | ontext | _1_4.x | ml - F | Result Fi | le | - | 1 | | | _ | - | - | | |
|---|------------|-----------------|----------|--------|--|-----------|-----------------|--------|------|--------------------|-----|----------------|-------|---------|----------|----|
| Ī | √ 1 | <u>/</u> alidat | e 🔝 | Publi | ish | 🌮 Vali | date <u>a</u> r | nd Pub | lish | | 0 | <u>R</u> eject | | | | |
| ſ | Gen | eral | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Tabu | lator: | | 10 | DE | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Polli | ng Sub | odivisio | on: < | <not !<="" th=""><th>Specified</th><th>>></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>*</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></not> | Specified | >> | | | | | * | | | | |
| | Filen | ame: | | m | achine | econtext, | _1_4.xr | nl | | | | | | | | |
| | Stat | e: | | Ī | nitial | | | | | | | - | | | | |
| | | Total | Voters | | | Ballots C | ast | | Auc | dio | Vot | ters | Audio | Ballots | Write-in | \$ |
| | • | 100 | | | 1 | 00 | | | 0 | | | | 0 | | 15 | - |
| | Con | tests: | | | | | | 1 Sort | | Choices: Write Ins | | | | ĝ↓ Sort | | |
| | | C | S | Bl | 0 | U | D | In | ^ | | | Choice | | Party | Vote | s |
| | | Ма | City | 7 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | ľ | Choice 44 | | | 0 | |
| | | Se | 1st | 81 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | ⊢ | Choice 45 | | | 2 | |
| | | Go | 1st | 41 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | ⊢ | Choice 46 | | | 1 | |
| | | Go | 2n | 40 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | ⊢ | Choice 47 | | | 0 | |
| | | Co | Co | 81 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | | Choice 48 | | | 1 | |
| | | Ма | City | 26 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | h | | | Write-in | | | 3 | |
| | | Ма | City | 7 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | | | | | | |
| | | Ма | City | 8 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | Ш | | | | | | | |
| | | То | То | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 | | | L | | | | | |
| | | То | To | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | - | | | | | | | |
| L | | | | | | | | | | | | | _ | | | |

Figure 11-12: Result Files screen

- 2. The user can add new write-in names to the contest using Add or delete previously added write-in names if these names do not contain votes in any of the result files.
- 3. The user can then enter the number of votes for write-in names as long as it does not exceed the number of write-ins votes for the current contest in the current result file.

| v | Vrite Ins | × |
|----------|----------------------|-----------------|
| ۵ | <u>A</u> dd <u> </u> | |
| | Name | Number of Votes |
| | John Doe | 0 |
| | | |
| | | |
| 1 | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | С ок |

Figure 11-13: Tabulate Ranked Contests screen

11.3.4 Write-in Handling for RCV Contests

1. Once a RCV contest is selected in the result file screen, the user can click Write Ins. This opens a dialog where each row represents a single cast ballot in which the selected RCV contest has one or more write-ins ranked.

| | City Council for Saint Paul | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|-----------------------------|--|------|---|---------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| E | 🐼 <u>R</u> esolve 💼 Remove | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Combination Resolved Poling Subdivision Ballot Ballot Description | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Þ | W1, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0 | | PCT1 | 1 | Ballot 1 - Type 1 - English - Default | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| l | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| L | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| L | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| L | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| L | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | 🔽 ок | | | | | | | | |

Figure 11-14: RCV contest has one or more write-ins ranked Screen

2. The combination column shows how the contest was ranked. Each rank is separated by a comma, and each ranking is indicated by their candidate position in the contest. For example the first candidate in the contest is encoded as 1, the second candidate is encoded as 2. Each unique write-in

position is indicated in the combination by the 'W' character followed by the position index. For example, W1 for the first write-in position, W2 for the second position, etc. If a ranking is left empty, it will be encoded with a 0. If multiple rankings were made in a single rank the selected candidates will be separate by '=' character. For example 1=2 means that in the same rank both the first and second candidate were marked.

- 3. The resolved checkbox indicates whether the write-in positions referred to in the combination have been resolved. To assist the user to find the ballot with the write-ins, the row also includes information on the precinct in which the ballot was cast.
- 4. To resolve write-in positions in the combination, select the row and click Resolve.
- 5. This opens a dialog that displays all referred write-in positions in the combinations. It allows you to select the write-in position from the list and to either resolve the combination to an existing candidate, to a newly entered write-in name, or to resolve as blank (meaning that the ranking for the write-in position will be considered empty).

| W1, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0 - Ranked Result Combination | |
|---|-------------------------|
| Save Save and Close | |
| Combination: W1, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0 | |
| Resolved: | |
| Resolve Remove Resolve as Blank | |
| Write-in | Resolution |
| ▶ W1 | <not resolved=""></not> |
| | |

Figure 11-15: Ranked Result Combination Screen

6. If the user selects a write-in position and clicks Resolve button another dialog opens where the list of regular candidates and resolved write-in names are presented the user.

| City Council for Saint Paul | |
|-----------------------------|-------------------|
| 🗱 🗚 🥤 Delete 👫 Assig | and <u>C</u> lose |
| Name | Туре |
| ▶ A | Regular |
| В | Regular |
| с | Regular |
| D | Regular |
| E | Regular |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | 🗾 ок |
| | |

Figure 11-16: The list of regular candidates and resolved write-in names Screen

7. You can add new resolved write-in names and delete write-in names (if they are not used in any resolution).

| | City Council for Saint Paul | — ×— |
|---|---------------------------------|-------------|
| | Add 📋 Delete 🙁 Assign and Close | |
| | Name | Туре |
| 0 | John Doe | Write-In |
| | A | Regular |
| | В | Regular |
| | с | Regular |
| | D | Regular |
| | E | Regular |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | С |

Figure 11-17: Add new resolved write-in names or delete write-in names Screen

8. You can select the candidate and press Assign and Close to use that

candidate in the resolution.

| W1, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0 - Ranked Result Combination | |
|---|------------|
| Save Save and Close | 1 |
| Combination: W1, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0 | |
| Resolved: 🕑 | |
| Resolve Remove Resolve as Blank | |
| Write-in | Resolution |
| ▶ W1 | John Doe |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

Figure 11-18: Ranked Result Combination - write-in positions have been resolved Screen

9. Once all write-in positions have been resolved, click Save and Close. The Resolved checkbox will be selected. See Figure 11-19 .



Figure 11-19: Ranked Combinations with Write-Ins Screen

10. The user can Remove resolutions by pressing the Remove.

CHAPTER 12: RESULT PAIR RESOLUTION

Result Tally & Reporting allows manual entry of results that can be marked as replaceable indicating that those results are temporary. The temporary results are replaced as soon as official result files are loaded into RTR, at this point the system will automatically create a Result Pair object, which will also store whether the two sets of results are matched in terms of summary votes per candidate per contest.

- 1. Result Pairs can be seen and interacted with from the Result Pair Resolution screen, which can be reached by clicking on the **Result Pair Resolution** option in the Activities Navigation Panel (General Group). See Figure 12-1.
- 2. Use the Tabulator, Tabulator Type and Matched combo boxes as well as the Status checkbox list to filter the search results. To list all Result Pairs, omit the search criteria and click **Search**. To sort Result Pairs by a specific column, click that column in the grid header.
- 3. Each listed Result Pair will indicate its associated tabulator and list both the temporary manually entered results and the results loaded from tabulator, each pair shows whether it is matched and its status.
- 4. By selecting a single result pair from the list that particular result pair will be displayed in the right side panel, which can be expanded or contracted to by using the red arrows on either side of the panel separator.
- 5. The right side panel will display all contests handled by the tabulator associated with the result pair. The contest row can be expanded by clicking them to reveal its choices and show the votes from the temporary results compared to those from the tabulator result file. Contest and choice rows are marked red if they are not matching.
- 6. Contest row can be contracted by holding the Ctrl key while clicking the row.
- 7. Once a result pair is created its status will be set to Pending to indicate that an election official must perform result pair resolution, meaning that only the user must pick which result of the pair will be used for reporting, the other will be placed in Rejected result state.
- 8. Once a Result Pair is reviewed the user can indicate which result is preferred by using one of two buttons:
 - Resolve to Tabulator button: by clicking this button the tabulator results will take on the result state of the temporary result file, and it will also place the temporary result file in rejected state.

NOTE: If the Automatic Result Pair Resolution option is checked in Project Parameters (see X) the system will automatically execute the Resolve to Tabulator action if the Result Pair is matching.

• Resolve to Temporary button: by clicking this button the tabulator result

will be placed in Rejected state. The result state of the temporary result file will remain unchanged.

NOTE: Both actions present the user with a dialog that requires them to confirm the action.

9. Although you cannot delete a Result Pair directly, it can be automatically deleted if one of its constituent Result Files is deleted in the Result Files screen.

| EMS | Results Tally and Reporting | - | | | | | | | | | | | | • • × • |
|----------|---------------------------------------|-----------------|-----------------------------|------------------------------|----------------|----------------------|----------------|----------------|---------------------|--------------------------|-------------|-----------------|-----------------|---------|
| Flectic | in Project Settings Actions Help | | | | | | | | | | _ | | | |
| Par Sta | rt Results Export 🙀 Configure Results | s Export | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| - | | Result Pai | r Resolution | | | | 51 | 73 | | Tabulator: 08C10 | Polling Loc | ation: 08 C10 | | |
| la/ | General | itesuite a | The solution | | | | | Deadt D | ~ | | | | | |
| ſġ | | Tabulator: | < <all>></all> | • | Status: 🛄 | Pending | 0 | KCSOK PC | _ | | _ | | | |
| atic | Tabulators | Tabulator Type: | < <all>></all> | | | Resolved To Tabula | tor 0 | Tabulator: | 08 <u>C</u> 10 | Temporary Result File: | 1100_10 | 8_1000_MANUAL. | DVD | |
| , S | | | | | | coallon | rary x | Tabulator Nu | mber: 108 | Temporary Result Status: | Initial | | | |
| | Result Pair Resolution | Matched: | < <all>></all> | * | | | | Counting Locat | un: US <u>_</u> IU | Tabulator Result File: | Initial | 8_1_KAW.DVD | | |
| | | | | | | Res | ords found: 1 | country or o | | Matched: | Not Mate | hed | | |
| | Result Files | | | | | | Count | | | Status: | Pending | | | |
| | T 1994 | | | | | | Search | Durch Co | | | _ | | | |
| | K IM Logs | 🗸 Resolve To T | abulator 🔀 Resolve To T | emporary | | | | Resolution | mparison | District | _ | hard and | 10-01 | |
| | Evnort | Tabulator Nar | ne Temporary Result | Temporary Result Tabulato | r Result Ta | bulator Result State | Matched Status | MLA / D | puté. 08 Tracadie-S | heila 08 Tracadie-Sheila | _ | Number O | r Positions | Matched |
| | | > 08_C10 | 1_100_108_1000_MANU | AL.DVT Initial 1_100_1 | 08_1_RAW.E In | ittal | Pending | Ch. | ice. | Party | _ | Temporary Votes | Tabulator Votes | Matched |
| | Export Type | | | | | | | Cla | ude LANDRY | PC | | 21 | 21 | |
| | _ | | | | | | | 50 | ge ROUSSELLE | L | | 23 | 23 | |
| | 1 XML Transformations | | | | | | | Fra | nçois ROUSSELLE | NDP/NPD | | 10 | 12 | |
| | - | | | | | | | Na | ncy BENOIT | PARTI VERT N.B. GR | EEN PARTY | 18 | 18 | 7 |
| | Reports | | | | | | | Do | nald THOMAS | IND | | 21 | 21 | |
| | Massic | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | L | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Election Summary Report | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Statement Of Votes Cast | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Cards Cast Report | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| G | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Active E | | OV PRODUCTION | Status: Ready for Elections | User Name: RTRAdmin User R | ole: RTR Admin | nistrator | | | | | | 1 | | |

Figure 12-1: Result Pair Resolution screen

CHAPTER 13: RESULTS EXPORT

13.1 Export Types

Once the transfer points are defined, the user can configure how the results should be exported:

- Either by using any of the available export formats
- Or, by importing an export package which allows users to export data in a new format

To manually activate one or more export types, select them from the list and click the Active button in the toolbar. Similarly, deactivating export types can be achieved using the Inactive button in the toolbar. Active export types are indicated by check boxes in the Active column in the list. See Figure 13-1.

| 🝟 EM | S Results Tally and Reporting | | - D X |
|------------------------|--|--|-------------------|
| Electi | on Project Settings Actions Hel | | |
| N 92 | art Results Export 🛛 🛅 Configure Resul | ts Suport | |
| z | | Export Type | |
| lav | General | enforce the | |
| igi | | Name | |
| tic | Tabulators | | Records found: 27 |
| ă | | | C Search |
| | Result Pair Resolution | 🕐 Import 👽 Active 🛶 Inactive | |
| | Result Files | Name | Active |
| | | Ohio Summary Results Export - Major Contests | |
| | - Write-In Resolution | Calorado Expant | |
| | <u></u> | Ohio Summary Results Export | |
| | | Onio Ballot Cast Title Export | |
| | | D Michigan Standard Results File Format | |
| | de la contra contra | Area Types | |
| | Ranco Holles | Detail Results Export | |
| | | Utah Bection Night Export | |
| | Ranked Contests | Messadusetts Precinct Summary Report | Ø |
| Bectio ₽ Navigation | | Roids will Export | |
| | Export | Batches Leaded Report | |
| | Evoret Tune | Ohio Predict Level Export - Major Contests | |
| | | Bection Night Returns Export Reduced | |
| | Doposte | Minnesota Export | |
| | | Ohio Predict Level Export | |
| | tasic | Election Night Returns Export | |
| | - | Area List | |
| | Flarting Gammary Parvet | Colorado Export by Portion | |
| | | Area Results | |
| | Cashamana Of Vistar Cast | Detal Results Export Election Night | |
| | | Ohio Ballot Cast Data Export | |
| | Cardo Cardo Darrando | Daily Balancing Report | |
| | | Dynamic information | |
| | - 0010 | Louisiana Taily Export | |
| | 2 KCV Report | Deriver Export | |
| | | Nevada 5x5 Summary Pile Export | |
| | C Results Pair Report | Static information | |
| | | | |

Figure 13-1: Export Type Screen

To import a custom export package:

- 1. From the toolbar click **Import**.
- 2. Browse to find and select the package you wish to use for your export.
- 3. Click **Open**. The package will be imported into the application, and it will be shown in the Export Types screen.

4. If you wish to use this export package, you must activate it.



Figure 13-2: Export Type - Import export package Screen

13.2 XML Transformations

The EMS Results Tally & Reporting application exports election results in XML format by default.

EMS Results Tally & Reporting can also define XML transformations, allowing election results to be presented in any format. XSL (XML Style-sheet Language) transformations make this function possible because XSLT is structured around the W₃C standards for transformation. W₃C defines a language that transforms XML files into more readable formats, such as clear text files, HTML, XHTML, other XML formats, SVGPDF, etc.

Any number of XSLT transformations can be defined. When an XSLT transformation is created, it is automatically attached to all transfer points set within the system. This means that, in addition to the XML results file, the system will create other output file formats defined by the XSLT transformations.

To define and manage XSLT transformations, perform the following actions:

- 1. Click on the **XML Transformations** option in the Activities Navigation Panel (Export group).
- 2. Enter search criteria (type-in the XML Transformation name) and click **Search**. A list of previously defined transformations appears.
- 3. To define a new XSLT results transformation, click **Create New** from the toolbar.
- 4. The XSL Transformation screen appears.

- 5. In the XSL Transformation screen, enter the transformation and the output file names.
- 6. Click **Browse** to find and select the XSL transformation file you wish to use. The Export option is used to connect the transformation to the existing export.
- 7. Click **Save and Close**, or click **Save**. The XML Transformation screen now contains a newly defined transformation.
- 8. To delete an XSLT file, select the XSLT record and click **Delete** from the toolbar.

13.3 Defining Transfer Points and Exporting Results

Transfer points represent locations accessible via the network. Accumulated election results can be transferred to these locations and used for presentations and reporting. This feature not only presents results, but it also provides detailed reporting and analysis of these results. Election results appear in XML or XSLT transformed data formats (HTML, TXT, XHTML, SVG, etc.) that are created by using Election Results Transformation functionality in EMS Results Tally & Reporting to transform the election results data.

- 1. Expand the Settings menu and click the **Transfer points** menu item.
- 2. The Transfer Points List screen appears.
- 3. To add a new transfer point, click **Add**.
- 4. The Transfer Point Editor screen appears allowing you to define the Local and Global locations where you wish to send the results.
- 5. The Local refers to the location on the local drive, whereas the Global transfer point is defined within the EMS Database and is applicable for all EMS Results Tally & Reporting installations for a given election project.
- 6. In the Browse for Folder screen, click **Browse** to select the location of the Local folder.
- 7. To set the Global folder location, type in the full path of the target folder on the network.

NOTE: If some mandatory fields are empty, an error message will appear, reading, "Not all mandatory fields are set". Click **OK** and enter all necessary information.

| Transfer Points List of Transfer | Transfer Poi Select operation: Points | nts List | – 🗆 🗙 | | | |
|--|--|------------------|-----------|---|---|----------|
| Transfer Point Type: Settings Location: Store configuration Target Directory: Connection Name: Host Name: Port: Username: Password: | Transfer Point Editor Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder F | X 2 2 2 | Save Cose | Transfer Point Type: Settings Location: Store configuration Target Directory Connection Name Host Name: Port: Usemame: Password: | Transfer Point Editor Folder Local Local Local Local Delta elta Delta | K Cancel |

8. In the Transfer Point Editor click **OK** to save the changes.

Figure 13-3: Setting Local and Global Transfer Points

- 9. The saved transfer point records will be listed in the Transfer Points screen.
- 10. If you wish to remove a transfer point, click on the record you want to remove and click the **Delete**.

| | Transfer Points List | | | | | | | | | |
|---------|--------------------------------|--------|-------------|-------------|------------|------|--------------------|-------|----------------|--|
| iransfe | er Points | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ | | _ | |
| List | Select operation: 🚺 Add 🗾 Edit | | | | | | | | <u>D</u> elete | |
| | Location | Туре | Directory | Connecti | Host Name | Port | User Name | Publi | c | |
| ⊳ | Local | Folder | D:\ | Local tran | | | | | | |
| | Global | FTP | /RTRResults | Toronto FTP | ftp.domini | 21 | (⁵ | | ✓ | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | [| <u>S</u>ave | - | Close | |

Figure 13-4: Transfer Points Dialog Listing Saved Transfer Points Record Screen

11. When the transfer points have been defined, the user can configure how they want the results to be exported. Click **Configure Results Export** in the Results Export toolbar at the top.



Figure 13-5: Configuring Results Export Screen

- 12. The Configure Results Export screen appears. In this dialog, the user can:
 - Indicate whether the export should run automatically
 - Specify the interval at which automatic exports are running
 - Indicate whether results should be exported to transfer points marked as public

| Configure Results Export | | | | | | | | | |
|--|------|---|---------|------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Export results automaticaly, every | 1 | • | minutes | • | | | | | |
| Export results to public transfer poir | nts | | | | | | | | |
| | _ | | _ | | | | | | |
| | 🗸 ок | | X Car | ncel | | | | | |

Figure 13-6: Configuring Results Export Screen

- 13. Once configured, the user can export results by clicking Start result export, in the Result Export toolbar. The Result Export toolbar also displays a status message, which will in this case state Result export in progress. The system will begin transferring the XML and any other XSTL transformed election results from the EMS system to all of the specified transfer points.
- 14. The user can also stop the export by clicking on the same button, which now

has the label Stop result export. In this instance, the application will complete whatever sub-process is running, and will then stop the overall process (The status message will state Stopping result export. The user can stop both the manual and automated result export processes.





| RTR | | | EMS Results Tally and Reporting |
|------------|---|-----------------------------|---------------------------------|
| Election | on Project Settings Actions Help | | |
| 🖘 Ste | op results export 🛛 👘 Configure Results E | port Stopping result export | |
| Navigation | General Tabulators | | |
| | Result Files | | |
| | Provisional Votes | | |
| | RTM Logs | | |
| | Ranked Profiles | | |
| | Ranked Contests | | |

Figure 13-8: "Stopping results export..." Status Screen

15. When the export process is completed, the status message will display

information about the last successful export.

Figure 13-9: Result export inactive Screen

- 16. To view the election results transfer log, expand the Actions menu, select the Export menu item, and click the Show Export Log option to open the Transfer Log in Notepad.
- 17. To view exported results, navigate to the transfer point location you defined in the previous steps. You should find the XML and any other XSLT transformed election result files.

13.4 Cleaning Transfer Points

Generated result exports can be removed from transfer points in following way:

- 1. Go to Actions menu select Results Purge Results.
- 2. Click Delete Exports. (You don't need to enter verification characters for this action). See Figure 13-10 .



Figure 13-10: Confirm Purging screen

3. Result exports from all transfer points will be deleted and success message

will be shown. sEE Figure 13-11



Figure 13-11: Info screen

CHAPTER 14: AUDITING

14.1 Exporting Cast Vote Record Data

This feature is designed to be used in auditing scenarios such as the Risk Limiting Audits, or other auditing of cast vote level records. The user can choose to export a set of cast vote level data (entire set or filtered), into one of two distinct formats:

- 1. A set of well-defined JSON files packaged together in a zip file.
- 2. A tabular tab-separated format, which can be opened in Excel for easy viewing.

The exported data conforms to the following:

- No compromise of voter privacy:
 - Session Code is excluded
 - Out-stack conditions are excluded
- The user can choose to export data for all results, or only results in the published batches
- Data can be filtered by the following prior to export:
 - Batch
 - Tabulator
 - Precinct
 - Ballot Type– Contest
- Each record in the export can be matched with a physical ballot or a VVPAT (Voter-Verified Paper Audit Trail).

The JSON format has two additional features not supported in the tabular format:

- Any modified data (e.g. post-adjudication or conditional vote resolution) is included alongside the original capture of the cast vote level record.
- Export can be split into different files for each batch.
- 1. Navigate to the Actions menu, click the Export menu item and click the CVR Export sub-menu item.



2. The CVR Export screen will appear. See Figure 14-1.

Figure 14-1: Export Data Screen

- 3. Select criteria for filters if applicable, or leave as ALL in case no filter is required.
- 4. Perform additional settings, if applicable:
 - Create separate file per batch check this if the export should create a separate export file for each results batch being exported.

NOTE: This setting does not apply to the tabulator format, but only is used when exporting the JSON format.

NOTE: If the number of batches is larger than 100, we strongly recommend that this option is used, otherwise the resulting file could be too large to produce (depending on system and project configuration).

- Published batches only check this if the export should only contain data from published result batches.
- Use tabular format If this option is selected the export will be in the form of a tabular text file format, which can be opened in Excel instead of the default JSON format.

5. Click Export.

| 🥃 CVR Expo | rt | - | | × |
|--------------|--------------------------------|------|-------|-----|
| | | | | |
| Batch: | << ALL >> | | | - |
| Tabulator: | << ALL >> | | | • |
| Precinct: | << ALL >> | | | • |
| Ballot Type: | << ALL >> | | | • |
| Contest: | << ALL >> | | | • |
| | Create separate file per batch | | | |
| | Published batches only | | | |
| | Use tabular format | | | |
| | Ex | port | X Can | cel |
| | | | | |

Figure 14-2: CVR Export Screen

- 6. When the process has completed:
 - An Information dialog will appear, see Figure 14-3 indicating where the exported data is located. Click **Close**.



Figure 14-3: CVR Export Completed Screen

• The system will indicate if batches were encountered during the export that did not have associated cast vote record data (for example: manually entered results). The system will indicate which batches were not



included in the CVR export due to this reason. See Figure 14-4.

Figure 14-4: Completed CVR export where no data matches filter screen

- 7. The exported data in the JSON format is then usually analyzed using a thirdparty tool which can parse the format However, the user can still inspect the contests of the exported files in a third-party editor with a plug-in which performs the parsing.
 - A tool which can be used to inspect the content of the file is Notepad++ which can be downloaded and installed along with the default set of plug-ins.
 - The JSON Viewer plug-in should be enabled in the Plug-In Manager section of Notepad++.
 - The exported data simply needs to be opened in the Notepad++ application, and the JSON Viewer plug-in needs to be activated in order

for the data to be presented in a readable format.



Figure 14-5: Exported data opened in Notepad screen

8. The tabular format text file can simply be dragged and dropped in Excel. This will open Excel and present the user with all cast vote records that were part in the export. See Figure 14-6 for an example. Cast vote records are placed vertically with every row representing a single cast vote record. Horizontally all contests and their containing choices are placed. If a column contains a 1 that means that there was a vote for a choice. A 0 means that this choice was no vote was made for that choice (or that it was part of an overvoted selection). An empty cell means that the contest/choice was not part of the current ballot style.

| x∎ | ⊟ 5 • ∂ | - | | | | | c | VR_Export_20 | 16121610 | 5932.txt - I | ixcel | | | | | | | ? 📧 | - 0 |
|-------|-----------------|--------------|----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------|-------------------|-----------------------|--------------|-------------|---------------------|--------------|---------------|------------|-----------|-------------|------------------------------|------------|--------------|---------|
| FIL | HOME | INS | SERT P | AGE LAYOUT F | ORMULAS DAT | A REVIEW V | IEW AE | DD-INS L | OAD TES | T TEA | м | | | | | | | | |
| Paste | Cut | | Calibri B I | - 11 - U - 12 - 25 | | | ap Text rge & Cent | Gene | ral % * | ▼ €_000 .0000 | Conditional | Format as C | ell Insert | Delete F | ormat | AutoSum Fill - | Sort & F | ind & | |
| Ŧ | V Format Pai | inter | | French | _ | | | | No. or burn | | Formatting * | Table * Styl | es * * | · | * * | Clear * | Filter * S | :lect * | |
| | Clipboard | Gi | | Font | Gr. | Alignment | | Tá l | Number | Tai | | Styles | | Cells | | Б | siting | | |
| F10 | * : | > | $\langle \checkmark$ | fx Ballot 5 - | Type 5 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | A B | | С | D | E | F | G | н | 1 | 1 | к | L | м | N | 0 | Р | Q | R | s |
| 1 R | eporting 5.2.4. | .22 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 2 | | | | | | | Presider | nt for Count | y of Any | wh Presi | dent for Cou | inty of Anywi | US Repres | sentative | for CD 1 (D | E US Repr | esentative | for CD 1 (RF | US Repr |
| 3 | | | | | | | Α | Write-in | Test | в | С | Write-in | D | E | Write-in | F | G | Write-in | G |
| 4 T | abulator Batch | nId | RecordId | CountingGroup | PrecinctPortion | BallotType | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 5 | 5 | 1 | 1 | Early Voting | PCT 1-A (P1A) | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | | 0 : | L | | | | 0 | | 0 | L | | | |
| 6 | 5 | 1 | 2 | Early Voting | PCT 1-A (P1A) | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 7 | 5 | 1 | 3 | Early Voting | PCT 3-A | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 8 | 5 | 1 | 4 | Early Voting | PCT 3-A | Ballot 6 - Type 6 | | | | | 0 | 1 0 | | | | | | | |
| 9 | 5 | 1 | 5 | Early Voting | PCT 3-A | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 10 | 5 | 1 | 6 | Early Voting | PCT 3-A | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | | 1 (|) | | | | | | | | | | |
| 11 | 5 | 1 | 7 | Early Voting | PCT 3-B | Ballot 7 - Type 7 | | 1 (|) | | | | | | | | | | |
| 12 | 5 | 1 | 8 | 8 Early Voting | PCT 3-B | Ballot 7 - Type 7 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 13 | 5 | 1 | 9 | Early Voting | PCT 3-B | Ballot 7 - Type 7 | | 1 (| 0 | | | | | | | | | | |
| 4 | 5 | 1 | 10 |) Early Voting | PCT 3-B | Ballot 7 - Type 7 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 15 | 5 | 1 | 11 | Early Voting | PCT 2 | Ballot 3 - Type 3 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 6 | 5 | 1 | 12 | Early Voting | PCT 2 | Ballot 4 - Type 4 | | | | | 0 | 0 1 | | | | | 0 | 0 1 | ι |
| 7 | 5 | 1 | 13 | Early Voting | PCT 1-B | Ballot 3 - Type 3 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 18 | 5 | 1 | 14 | Early Voting | PCT 1-B | Ballot 4 - Type 4 | | | | | 0 | 1 0 | | | | | 1 | 0 0 | 1 |
| 19 | 5 | 1 | 15 | Early Voting | PCT 2 | Ballot 3 - Type 3 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 20 | 5 | 1 | 16 | Early Voting | PCT 2 | Ballot 3 - Type 3 | | 1 (|) | | | | 0 | | 0 | 1 | | | |
| 21 | 5 | 1 | 17 | Early Voting | PCT 3-A | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 22 | 5 | 1 | 18 | Early Voting | PCT 3-A | Ballot 5 - Type 5 | | 1 (| 0 | | | | | | | | | | |
| 23 | 5 | 1 | 19 | Early Voting | PCT 3-B | Ballot 7 - Type 7 | | 0 : | L | | | | | | | | | | |
| 24 | 5 | 1 | 20 | Early Voting | PCT 3-B | Ballot 7 - Type 7 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 25 | 5 | 1 | 21 | Early Voting | PCT 3-B | Ballot 7 - Type 7 | | 0 (| 0 | | | | | | | | | | |
| 26 | 5 | 1 | 22 | Early Voting | PCT 3-B | Ballot 7 - Type 7 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 27 | 5 | 1 | 23 | Early Voting | PCT 1-B | Ballot 3 - Type 3 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 4 | > C\ | VR_Ex | port_2016 | 51216105932 | + | | | | | | | 4 | | | | | | | Þ |
| READ | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Ħ | E | m | | + 1009 |

Figure 14-6: Tabular Export Format screen

NOTE: In elections where paper ballots are made up of more than one card, the export will list each card as an individual session, unless the tabulator that produced the cast vote record has a session control mechanism such as smart cards.

14.2 Exporting Audit Files

This functionality allows the user to export results audit reports for a subset of or all result files. Each result file will have its own report in simple text file format. Each report contains a list of all individually cast ballots (if this information is available). For manually entered data, the list only displays totals for that result file. Each report lists

the number of ballots cast in the result file and displays how many of those were cast within a DRE and/or provisional session. If the result file contains information for individually cast ballots, each cast ballot is listed in random order. Each ballot will have a reference to its image file, status and ballot card ID. All contests on the ballot are listed showing name of contest, number of positions, and number of valid votes, undervotes, and overvotes. Subsequently, each contest also displays a list of all marked voting boxes and whether or not they are valid votes.

- 1. To display a list of loaded results, click on the **Result Files** option in the Activities Navigation Panel (General group).
- 2. The Result Files main activity screen appears.
- 3. Use the Tabulator, Tabulator Type and Result State combo boxes to filter the search results.
- 4. Click **Search**.

~1· 1

- 5. Omit the search criteria and click **Search** to list all imported results.
- 6. Use the Sort functionality to list all imported results.
- 7. Select the desired result files from the list, and click **Export Audit File** or click on **Actions**, **Export**.

| 8. | Click on the Export Audit File option. | |
|----|---|--|
| | | |

| 🐸 EN | S Results Tally an: | Reporting | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | - | | × |
|---------|--|---|----------------|---------------------|--|---------------------------------------|--------------|-------------------------|-------|----------|-------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------|---|------------------|---|------------------|--------------------|-------|---|-------|----|
| Electio | n Project Setti | igs Actions I | Help | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Re Sta | rt Results Export | 📑 🛃 Open (| Card Manageme | nt Ctrl+M | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| z | Result File | S 🐱 Load R | | | | | | | | | G | Ð | | Tabulator: ED10060.Polling Location: ED BAILEY, SISTER ROBERT JOSESPH ELEMENTARY, Batch No: 1 | | | | | | | | |
| lav | | Autom | | | | | | | | | | | Context Results Turnout | | | | | | | | _ | _ |
| iga | Tabulator: | < <a i<="" open="" td="" 🖸=""><td></td><td></td><td>Results State:</td><td colspan="7">Results State: Empty 0</td><td colspan="5"></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>~</td> | | | Results State: | Results State: Empty 0 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | ~ |
| tio | Tabulator Type: < <a results<="" td=""><td>></td><td colspan="7" rowspan="3">Inital 0 Validated 0 Published 31 Post Results I</td><td colspan="5">Contest: <<<all>> •</all></td><td colspan="3">- Refresh 🔢 Save</td><td></td> | | | > | Inital 0 Validated 0 Published 31 Post Results I | | | | | | | Contest: << <all>> •</all> | | | | | - Refresh 🔢 Save | | | | | |
| 3 | Replaceable: < <a conditional="" export="" import="" of="" td="" votes<=""><td>•</td><td>Precinct Portion: <<</td><td>ALL>></td><td></td><td colspan="4"></td><td></td> | | | | | | | | | | | • | Precinct Portion: << | ALL>> | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | Export Res | | | | Description | | | | 4 | | |
| | Synchronized: | < <a import<="" td=""><td>Export Auc</td><td colspan="8">Export Audit File</td><td>NA>></td><td colspan="3">Contest:</td><td></td> | Export Auc | Export Audit File | | | | | | | | NA>> | Contest: | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | Export Audit Images Records found: 32 | | | | | | | Use Common Decili | Number Of Position | is: 0 | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | Show Export Log | | | | | | | Ose summary Results | | | Reife | SI | Precinct Portion: | | | | |
| | | | | | | Q Search | | | | | | | | | ٩. | Ballot Card Key in Id : < <na>></na> | | | | | | |
| | Create New | Synchronize | Export | 🗸 Validate 🗧 | Publish 5- Valida | te and Pub | lah 🔣 R | eset 🚫 Re | rject | Delete | | | Contact | District | Previnct Portion | Ballot Card Key in I | | Turnout | | | | 1 |
| | | int to a | | | | | | | | | | H | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1038 - COUNTY | 1 | 1 | | | | _ | 1 |
| | 1 abulator No | mi Tabulator Name | Hie Name | Polling Location | Batch No Counting Gr | керіасеа | Result State | Adjudication Skinned | Type | CVR : | ynchronized | H | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1053 - COUNTY | 175 | - | Total Voters Cast: | | | | |
| | > 10060 | ED10960 | 1.6 10060 1.0 | V ED BAILEY, SISTE | Election Day | | Published | Skinned | CV8 | | 7 | i F | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1072 - COUNTY | 569 | - | Total Cards Cast: | • | | | |
| | 10061 | ED10061 | 1 1 10061 1 0 | VED BOULDER CIT | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | | - - | I H | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1074 - COUNTY | 572 | 1 | DRE Voters Cast: | 0 | | | |
| | 10062 | ED10062 | 1 1 10062 1 0 | V ED BOULDER CIT | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | | 2 | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1137 - COUNTY | 581 | 1 | DRE Cards Cast: | 0 | | | |
| | 10063 | ED10063 | 1 4 10063 1 0 | V ED CADWALLADE | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | | 2 | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1302 - COUNTY | 689 | | | | _ | _ | 4 |
| | 10064 | ED10064 | 1 4 10064 1 C | V ED CADWALLADE | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | v | V | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1307 - COUNTY | 713 | | Contest Results | : | | | 4 |
| | 10065 | ED10065 | 1 5 10065 1 C | V ED DAILEY, JACK | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | v | V | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1328 - COUNTY | 717 | 1 | Overvotes: | 0 | | | |
| | 10066 | ED10066 | 1_5_10066_1_C | V ED DAILEY, JACK | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | ~ | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1345 - COUNTY | 755 | 1 | Undervotes: | 0 | | | |
| | 10067 | ED10067 | 1_3_10067_1_C | V ED ELIZONDO, R. 1 | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | | ~ | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1361 - COUNTY | 759 | 1 | Disala | | | | |
| | 10068 | ED10068 | 1_3_10068_1_0 | V ED ELIZONDO, R. 1 | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | | ~ | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1371 - COUNTY | 777 | 1 | Dienk: | | | | |
| | 10069 | ED10069 | 1_7_10069_1_0 | V ED FAISS, WILBU 1 | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | • | ~ | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1375 - COUNTY | 784 | 1 | Double Votes: | • | | | |
| | 10070 | ED10070 | 1_7_10070_1_C | V ED FAISS, WILBU | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | 1 | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1384 - HEN | 803 | | Invalid Votes: | 0 | | | |
| | 10072 | ED10072 | 1_8_10072_1_0 | V ED GALLOWAY, F | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | ~ | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1389 - HEN | 914 | | Writein Overrides: | 0 | | | |
| | 10073 | ED10073 | 1_8_10073_1_0 | V ED GALLOWAY, F | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | | 1 | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1391 - HEN | 928 | | Constitute Devi | | | | 1 |
| | 10074 | ED10074 | 1_2_10074_1_0 | V ED HAYDEN, DON 1 | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | 1 | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1513 - HEN | 948 | | Candidate Resu | 10.5 | | | 41 |
| • | 10075 | ED10075 | 1_2_10075_1_0 | V ED HAYDEN, DOM | Election Day | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | 1 | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1517 - HEN | 1001 | | Name | Party | _ | votes | |
| | 10043 | EV10043 | 1_11_10043_1_0 | C EV BOULEVARD N | Early Vote | | Published | Skipped | CVR | 1 | v | | UNITED STATES SE | UNITED STATES SE | 1533 - COUNTY | 1003 | \sim | Mrite-in Result | 5 | | | |
| | | | - | | | | | | - | - | | | | | | | - | | | | | - |

Figure 14-7: Export Results Audit File screen

- 9. In the Question message box, click **Yes** to confirm the action.
- 10. Once exporting is complete, the Success screen appears.
- 11. To open Document Management, go to the Main Menu, click **Actions**, and click the **Open Document Management** option.
- 12. The Document Management screen opens.
- 13. Select EMS NAS from the Target combo box and double-click on the **Results directory** to open it.
- 14. In the Results directory, navigate to the individual batch/result file directory to locate the .txt file (Results Audit File).
- 15. Select the audit file and click **Copy** to copy it to the local directory.
- 16. Navigate to the local directory where the Results Audit File has been copied and open the file. The Result Audit File opens in Notepad.
14.3 Exporting Audit Images

The Export audit images functionality will go through each scanned ballot image that was extracted previously from the tabulators and will categorize each image and export them into separate sub-folders per category. For each export a separate sub-folder will be created. The export audit images screen either applies to all result files or to the currently selected result file. See Figure 14-8.

| Seport Audit Images | × |
|---|-----|
| Add filter criteria | |
| V 🗌 Use external id 🗱 Add | |
| Contest Candidate Precinct Ballot Type Ballot Exception Tabulator Polling Location Counting Group Batch ID Published | |
| Remove Filters | ort |

Figure 14-8: Export Audit Images screen

The user can define which images to export and how they should be exported by adding and selecting filter criteria. The following lists the different filter criteria, some of which allow sub selection:

- **Contest**: adding this filter criterion splits images per contest in separate sub-directories prefixed with "Contest "and followed by contest name. The filter allows the user to select a specific contest, resulting in an export where only images for ballots containing that contest are included.
- **Candidate**: adding this filter criterion splits images per contest in separate sub-directories depending on candidate type (regular or write-in. Within the Regular sub-folder, images are separated by candidate name. Write in sub-folder contains all the ballot images with write-in votes. The filter allows the user to select a specific contest, resulting in an export where only images for ballots containing that contest are included.
- **Precinct**: adding this filter criterion splits images per precinct in separate sub-directories prefixed with "Precinct " followed by precinct name. The filter allows the user to select a specific precinct, resulting in an export where only images for ballots cast in that precinct are included.

- **Ballot Type**: adding this filter criterion splits images per Ballot Type in separate sub-directories prefixed with "BT" and followed by the name of the Ballot Type. The filter allows the user to select a specific Ballot Type, resulting in an export where only the images of ballots that belong to the specified Ballot Type are included.
- **Ballot Exception**: adding this filter criterion splits images per ballot exception in separate sub-directories prefixed with "Ballot Exception" followed by each of the following categories:
 - Blank Ballot: no marks were detected for any of the contests.
 - **Blank**: no marks were detected for the current contest, or if no contest criterion was added, no marks were detected for at least one contest.
 - **UndervotedNotBlank**: the current contest was undervoted, but not blank, or if no contest criterion was added, undervoted contest detected was not blank.
 - **Regular**: current contest was marked equal to the vote for, or if no contest criterion was added, all contests were marked equal to their vote for.
 - Write-in: current contest had one of the write-in positions marked, or if no contest criterion was added, a contest had one of their write-in positions marked.
 - **Overvoted**: current contest was overvoted, or if not contest criterion was added, a contest was overvoted.
- **Tabulator**: adding this filter criterion splits images per tabulator in separate sub-directories prefixed with "Tabulator " and followed by tabulator name. The filter allows the user to select a specific tabulator, resulting in an export where only images of ballots cast in that tabulator are included.
- **Polling Location**: adding this filter criterion splits images per polling location in separate sub-directories prefixed with "PollingLocation" and followed by polling location name. The filter allows the user to select a specific polling location, resulting in an export where only images of ballots cast at that polling location are included.
- **Counting Group**: adding this filter criterion splits images per counting group in separate subdirectories prefixed with "CountingGroup ", followed by the counting group name. The filter allows the user to select a specific counting group, resulting in an export where only images of ballots cast in that counting group are included.
- **Batch ID:** adding this filter criterion splits images per batch in separate sub-directories prefixed with "BatchId_", followed by the batch id.
- **Published**: adding this filter criterion separates images depending on if an image has been published. The sub-directories will be prefixed with

"Published_" followed by either "not published" or "published".

The user can add each filter criterion once. The order in which they are added determines the folder structure that is created on export. Once the export is started using the Export button the system will create an "AuditImages" directory in the project's "Results" sub-folder. Within that directory a subfolder named "Audit" is created named followed by a timestamp (for example: Audit2013_12_17_13_58_00). Within that sub-folder a hierarchy of subfolders are created matching the order of the filter criteria added by the user. The user can clear all filter criteria by pressing the Remove Filter button.

14.4 RTM Logs

RTR has exposed services through which remote clients can communicate with server and transfer result files (if proper protocol is implemented). These client activities can be tracked in RTR RTM Logs view control.

- 1. Click Search.
- 2. Remote Clients are listed.
- 3. Double-click on the Remote Client. The Result Manager Transfer Session screen appears.
- 4. There are Result Transfer Manager Id field and Polling Place field.
- 5. Different actions in this screen can be monitored. The Ping action ensures that remote client is accessible. Logs also display the status of uploaded files.

14.5 Obtain User's Audit Log

An Audit Report of user activity can be produced in the EMS EED application. For more details, see the *Democracy Suite ® EMS Election Event Designer User Guide* for help.

14.6 Exporting Write-ins

The user can export all write-in related values from the RTR application. To run the export, open the Actions menu from the top of the screen, click Export and select Export Write-ins to Excel file. When the export process is completed, a dialog will appear displaying information on where the exported data was saved. See the image below. See Figure 14-9.



Figure 14-9: Completed Write-in export to Excel screen

The excel file contains all the data relevant for the write-in votes, such as data about precinct/precinct portion, tabulator, batch, result file state, contest, CVR. It also includes resolution status of each write-in vote (Pending, Accepted, Rejected) and, in case the write-in vote has been Accepted, the name of the resolved candidate.

CHAPTER 15: REPORTING

The EMS Results Tally & Reporting application integrates several election results reports. Additional reports can be defined using XSLT transformations.

The report tool is integrated within the EMS Results Tally & Reporting client application and contains XSLT (XSL transformations). If using EMS Express Configuration, this tool allows the report to be exported as a PDF, Excel, or Word file. If using EMS Standard Enterprise Configurations, this tool allows the report to be exported as a PDF, Excel, Word, XML file with Report data, CSV (Comma delimited), MHTML (web archive), or TIFF.

All reports contain the Election Project and Report Name, the Report Creation Date, and a Note.

NOTE: Report names are determined by the localization settings. For example, generic name Report per Polling Subdivision is replaced with Results per Precinct or Result Per ED. The end-user the has the EMS Results Tally & Reporting interface tailored to fit their election terminology.

Tasks covered in this section:

- Election Summary Report
- Statement of Votes Cast
- RCV Report
- Card Cast Report
- Result Pair Report
- Conditional Voting Statistics Report
- Ability to Manage Reporting Profiles on Card Cast, Election Summary, and Statement of Votes Cast Reports
- Import Report Profile
- Generating Election Summary, Statement of Votes Cast and Cards Cast Reports
- Enabling and Disabling Contests and Choices for Reporting
- Results Reporting

15.1 Election Summary Report

The Election Summary Report displays election results by race, and is summarized across the jurisdiction. See Figure 15-1. The information on these reports include the number of ballots cast, and the number of undervotes, overvotes, blank votes, double votes, as well as information on registration and turnout. At this moment the totals on top of the Summary Report are showing the individual Counting Groups with the totals.

The following are user-controlled parameters that the application uses to generate the report:

Parameters

- Report Title
 - The title can be multi-line.
 - The user can indicate if they wish to have the Standard Title displayed.
 - The user can indicate if they wish to have the report filters displayed.
- The user is able to select one or more of the following Contest Statistics for inclusion in the report:
 - Times Cast
 - Undervotes
 - Overvotes
 - Combine Overvotes and Undervotes as "Blanks"
 - Double votes
 - Total votes
 - Counting Group Totals Only
 - Write-in Overrides
 - Vote For
 - X of Y
 - Registration and Turnout
- Candidate Statistics:
 - Party affiliation
 - If candidates are cross-endorsed, the user can break down results per party affiliation by leaving the item unchecked.
 - The user can choose how candidates are highlighted:
 - None: No highlighting of candidates.
 - **Leaders**: the names of the leading candidates will be shown in Bold, if leading candidates are tied their names will be shown in italic font.

• Winners: the names of the winning candidates will be shown in Bold, if winning candidates are tied their names will be shown in italic font. This highlighting will appear only if all precincts that can produce results for this contest are completed in terms of reporting, so results can be considered final.

- The user can show remaining Unresolved Write-in row or to hide that row
- The user can choose to count unresolved write-ins as undervotes
- The user can choose how percentages are calculated:
 - No percentages
 - Divided by Votes Cast
 - Divided by Ballots Cast
- The user can choose how Write-Ins are represented:
 - No Write-ins
 - **Combine:** shows single Write-In
 - **Split:** shows individual Write-In positions in the contest
- Additional Sorting/Splits
 - The user can indicate if the results should be broken down or not. Results can be broken down by:
 - **Tabulator**: Results are grouped per tabulator
 - **Batch**: Results are grouped per batch
 - The user can choose how to sort candidates by the following criteria:
 - Global Order
 - Number Votes in descending order
- The Filters for Report
 - **Filter for Contests**: The user can choose to display all contests, or, by clicking the filter radio button, the user can select one or more contests to be displayed in the report, from the list provided on the form.
 - **Filter for Districts or Precincts**: The user can select to display the results by districts or by precincts. For either selection, the user can display all districts/precincts, or, by clicking the filter radio button, the user can display one or more districts/precincts in the report, from the list provided on the form.
 - **Filter for Polling Location**: From the combo box on the form, the user can filter the report results by polling location.
 - **Filter for Tabulator**: The user can choose to include results for all tabulators, or, by clicking the "filter" radio button, the user can select one or more tabulators to be included in the report, from the list provided on the form.
 - **Filter for Batch**: If the breakdown per batch is enabled (selected), the filter for batch can be applied to this report, otherwise this filter is not applicable. This filter is connected with the Filter for Tabulator. The list

of batches is displayed for the selected tabulators and can be filtered. The user can choose to include the results for all batches, for selected tabulator/tabulators, or, by clicking the Filter radio button. The user can also select one or more batches connected to the selected tabulator/ tabulators to be included in the report, from the list provided on the form.

- **Filter for Counting Group**: From the combo box on the form, the user can filter report results by counting groups.
- For Report Profiles, see section *Ability to Manage Reporting Profiles on Card Cast, Election Summary, and Statement of Votes Cast Reports.*

| Election Summary Re | port | | | | |
|--|---|--|--|---|--|
| Parameters | | | | | |
| Report Title: | | | | | |
| | | | | Standard Title | 2 |
| Contest Statistics Times Cast Vote For Undervotes X of Y Overvotes Combine Overvotes and Undervote Double Votes Total Votes Counting Group Totals Only Writein Overrides | Ca V es as "Blanks" V @ C | andidate Statistics Party Affiliation Cross-Endorse Toc Count unresolver Show Qualified W vercentages By: None Votes Cast Times Cast | Unresolved Write-in tals Only d write-ins as undervotes trite-ins Write-In O None Combine Split | Highlighting None Leaders Winners Sort By: Global Order Votes | Split By: None Tabulator Batch Registration and Turnout Cards Cast |
| Filters | | | | | |
| Contests: | Districts: | O Precincts: | Polling Location: <all></all> | • | |
| Select All Filter Inited States President (candida United States Representatives (United States Representatives (Supreme Court Justice(Propositic Ranked Choice Voting 3 for County Ranked Choice Voting 3 for Count Attorney General (disabled CHOI Attorney General (disabled CHOI Straight Party for Governor Governor [disabled CHOI Straight Party for Governor Governor (Ibuttor) (Mayor (Ballot card 2) for City AB(County Clerk(no candidate, no pr | Select All County 2nd Congressi 1st Congressi City ABC Off ballot Reporting 1st Reporting split | O Filter ional t | Tabulator: ● Select All ICP ICE ICP Audio ICP for single p ICX DRE | O Filter | Batch: Select All Filter 1.1.4.15_TOTALS.D' 1.1.4.0_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.0_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.0_TOTALS.D' 1.1.6.1_CVR.res 1.1.4.12_TOTALS.D' 1.1.4.2_TOTALS.D' 1.1.4.4_TOTALS.D' 1.1.4.4_TOTALS.D' 1.1.4.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5.5_TOTALS.D' 1.1.5 |
| Report Profiles No report profile applied | | | | | Default |
| Add 🔅 Modify 📋 De | elete 🚺 Expor | rt | [| 🗙 Reset 🗸 | Apply |

Figure 15-1: Election Summary Report screen

| ≪ | H 4 🛞 🚱 🖨 | a 🔲 💷 🔍 - 📔 100% | - | Find Next |
|-------------------------------|--------------|--------------------|----------------|-------------------------|
| Page: 1 of 1 | | _ | | 2/1/2018 5:40:30 PM |
| | Fla | etion Summ | aw Rono | \wt |
| | Lie | schon Summ | lary Kepu | <i>и</i> т |
| | | Closed Pri | mary | |
| | | Morris Cour | nty, NJ | |
| | | November O | 5. 2019 | |
| Summary | or: Covornor | PEP All Districts | All Tabulato | and All Counting Groups |
| Summary | or. Governor | KEI, All Districts | , All Tabulato | is, All coulding Groups |
| | | | | |
| Precincts Reported: 1 of 1 (1 | 00.00%) | | | |
| Voters Cast: 15 of 0 (N/A) | | | | |
| Governor REP | (Vote for 1) |) | | |
| REP | | | | |
| Precincts Reported: 1 of 1 (1 | 00.00%) | | | |
| | | Total | | |
| Times Cast | | 15 / 0 N/A | | |
| Candidate | Party | Total | | |
| Jack Ciattarelli | REP | 1 | | |
| Kim Guadagno | REP | 5 | | |
| Hirsh Singh | REP | 5 | | |
| Steven Rogers | REP | 0 | | |
| Total Votes | | 13 | | |
| | | Total | | |
| Unresolved Write-In | | 0 | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| ł | | | | |
| | | | | |

Figure 15-2: Election Summary Output screen

NOTE: When the election summary report is generated, the system automatically estimates the report size. If the report is estimated to be very large (usually because Split by Tabulator or Split by Batch option was selected), the following

warning message displays. See Figure 15-3.



Figure 15-3: Warning message

NOTE: User can press OK to continue creating the report with the currently selected parameters or Cancel to stop the report and adjust the filters so that the report size is smaller.

15.2 Statement of Votes Cast

The Statement of Votes Cast report provides election officials with the detailed results of an election. See Figure 15-4 .

The report is divided into two sections: the first section is an overview of the cards cast and eligible voters broken down per precinct, district, and district type. The second section shows the election results on a contest-by-contest basis and includes the number of ballots cast, the vote totals for each candidate, and the number of write-ins, undervotes, and overvotes.

The following are user-controlled parameters that the application uses for generating the report:

Parameters

- Report Title:
 - The title can be multi-line
 - The user can indicate if they wish to have the Standard Title displayed
 - The user can indicate if they wish to have the report filters displayed
- The user is able to select one or more of the following Contest Statistics for inclusion in the report:

- Times Cast
- Undervotes
- Overvotes
- Combine Undervotes and Overvotes as "Blanks"
- Double votes
- Total votes
- Counting Group Totals Only
- Write-in Overrides
- Vote For
- Registered Voters
- Candidate Statistics:
 - The user can break down results per party affiliation in the case that candidates are cross endorsed by leaving the item unchecked.
 - The user can display remaining Unresolved Write-in column or to hide that column– The user can choose to count unresolved write-ins as undervotes.
 - The user can choose to count unresolved write-ins as undervotes.
 - The user can select how percentages are calculated:
 - No percentages
 - Divided by Votes Cast
 - Divided by Ballots Cast
 - The user can select how Write-Ins are represented:
 - No Write-ins
 - **Combine**: shows single Write-In
 - **Split**: shows individual Write-In positions in the contest
 - The user can choose how to split the data:
 - By Precinct
 - By District
 - Precinct Portion
 - By Ballot Types
- Voter Privacy:
 - **Protect Voter Privacy**: if this option is enabled, the SOVC report will redact rows showing breakdown per precinct/portion and counting group to preserve voter privacy. If within a single precinct or portion the

number of voters in one or more counting groups is less than the defined "minimum turnout" parameter all numbers that would reveal information about how a person voted are replaced with the "****" text. Fields that are redacted include votes, overvotes, undervotes, blanks, write-in related information.

• **Minimum Turnout**: this number defines the threshold for which voter privacy is used.

• The user can choose to include cards cast statistic in Registration And Turnout section

- The Filters for Report:
 - **Filter for Contests**: The user can choose to display all contests, or, by clicking the filter radio button, the user can select one or more contests to be displayed in the report from the list provided on the form.

NOTE: This filter does not affect the first report section, if the user wishes to narrow the first section of the report the Filter for Districts or Precincts must be used.

- **Filter for Districts or Precincts**: The user can select if they wish to display the results by districts or by precincts. For either selection, the user can display all districts/precincts, or, by clicking the Filter radio button, the user can display one or more districts/precincts in the report from the list provided on the form.
- **Filter for Polling Location**: From the combo box on the form, the user can filter the report results by polling location.

- **Filter for Tabulator**: In the combo box on the form, the user can filter the report results by tabulator. the form by which to filter results in the report.
- **Filter for Counting Group**: From the combo box on the form, the user can filter report results by counting groups.
- **Filter for District Type**: In the combo box on the form, the user can filter the report results by district.

NOTE: In case that District Type list is multiplied, first close and then open the project again and list would be corrected

For Report Profiles, see section *Ability to Manage Reporting Profiles on Card Cast, Election Summary, and Statement of Votes Cast Reports.*

| rameters | | | | |
|---|----------------------------|-------------------------|----------------------------------|--------------|
| eport Title: | | | | |
| | | | Standard Title | |
| | | | Report Filters | |
| | | | — . | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| Contest Statistics | Candidate Statistics | | Split By: | Registration |
| Times Cast Vote For | Cross-Endorse To | tals Only | Districts | and Turnout |
| Undervotes 🗹 Registered Voters | Unresolved Write- | in | Precincts | Cards Ca |
| Overvotes | Count unresolved | write-ins as undervotes | O Precinct Portions | _ |
| Combine Overvotes and Undervotes as "Blanks " | Percentages By: | Write-To | Ballot Types | |
| Double Votes | None | None | | |
| Total Votes | None None | | Voter Privacy | |
| | | Combine | Protect Voter Privacy | |
| Writein Overrides | O Times Cast | | 11 🚔 Minimum Turnout | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| ters | | | | |
| ontests: | Districts: O Precino | ts: | Polling Location: | |
| | | | | |
| Select All Filter | Select All Filter | | <all></all> | • |
| UNITED STATES SENATOR for UNITED STAL | Clark County | | Tabulator: | |
| UNITED STATES SENATOR for UNITED STA | UNITED STATES SENATE | | <all></all> | - |
| REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS for DISTR | DISTRICT 1 | | C | |
| REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS for DISTR | DISTRICT 4 | | Counting Group : | |
| REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS for DISTR | NEVADA | | Election Day | |
| REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS for DISTR | DISTRICT 8 | | Early Vote | |
| GOVERNOR for NEVADA (DEM), Clark Coun | DISTRICT 9 | | Carly vote | |
| GOVERNOR for NEVADA (REP), Clark Count | DISTRICT 10 DISTRICT 12 | | | |
| LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR for NEVADA (REP | DISTRICT 20 | | District Type: | |
| SECRETARY OF STATE for NEVADA (DEM), | DISTRICT 21 | | County | ^ |
| STATE TREASURER for NEVADA (REP), | DISTRICT 1 DISTRICT 2 | | | |
| STATE TREASURER for NEVADA (REP), Clar | DISTRICT 3 | | | |
| STATE CONTROLLER for NEVADA (DEM), C | DISTRICT 4 | | | ~ |
| ATTORNEY GENERAL for NEVADA (DEM), C | DISTRICT 6 | | | |
| ATTORNEY GENERAL for NEVADA (REP) CL | | | * | |
| | - | | | |
| | < | > | | |
| eport Profiles | | | | |
| report profile applied | | | Default | 🔅 Create Rep |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |

| | Depictored | | | |
|--------------|------------|------------|-------------|-----------|
| Precinct | Voters | Cards Cast | Voters Cast | % Turnout |
| 6033 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 034 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 035 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 036 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 039 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 6040 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5041 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 6045 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 6046 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 047 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 048 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5040 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| (04) (05) | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 051 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 053 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 0054 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 0000 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 0061 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 062 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 063 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 064 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 6065 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 6066 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5100 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5101 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5104 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5105 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5106 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5107 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5108 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5109 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5110 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5111 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5113 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5114 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5115 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5202 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 5203 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 205 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 206 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 307 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| 207 | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |
| | 0 | 0 | 0 | N/A |

Figure 15-4: Statement of Votes Cast report



15.3 Card Cast Report

The Cards Cast Report displays the number of cards cast in the election by both report precinct and voter group. The report also contains information regarding registered voters and voter turnout. Information on these reports include the vote center ID, vote center export ID, vote center label, report precinct ID, report precinct export ID, report precinct label, card number, and the card count. See Figure 15-6.

The following are user-controlled parameters that the application uses for generating the report:

Parameters

- Report Title:
 - The title can be multi-line
 - The user can indicate if they wish to have the Standard Title displayed
 - The user can indicate if they wish to have the report filters displayed
- Statistics:
 - The user can indicate if they wish to have Counting Group Totals Only displayed.
 - The user can indicate how they wish to split the data:
 - By Precinct
 - By District
 - Precinct Portion
- The Filters for Report:
 - **Filter for Districts or Precincts**: The user can select if they wish to display the results by districts or by precincts. For either selection, the user can choose to display all districts/precincts, or, by clicking the filter radio button, the user can choose one or more districts/precincts to be displayed in the report from the list provided on the form.
 - **Filter for Polling Location**: The user can specify a polling location from the combo box on the form by which to filter results in the report.
 - **Filter for Tabulator**: The user can specify a tabulator from the combo box list on the form by which to filter results in the report.
 - **Filter for Counting Group**: The user can select one or more (or all) counting groups from a list provided on the form by which to filter results in the report.
 - **Filter for District Type**: The user can select one or more (or all) district types from a list provided on the form by which to filter results in the report.

NOTE: In case that District Type list is multiplied, first close and then open the project again and list would be corrected.

NOTE: For Report Profiles see section *Ability to Manage Reporting Profiles on Card Cast, Election Summary, and Statement of Votes Cast Reports.*

| Cards Cast Report | |
|--|--|
| Parameters | |
| Report Title: | |
| | Standard Title Report Filters |
| Statistics | |
| Counting Group Totals Only | |
| Split By: | |
| Districts | |
| Precincts | |
| Precinct Portions | |
| Filters | |
| Districts: Precincts: | Poling Location: |
| Select All Filter | <al> •</al> |
| Oakland County | Tabulator: |
| Federal State | <all></all> |
| Supreme Court Clarkston Independence District Lib | Counting Group : |
| Congos | ✓ Election Day |
| Cong09 | |
| Cong11 Cong14 | |
| State Rep020 State Rep026 | District Type: |
| State Rep027 | County |
| State Rep029 State Rep035 | E Federal |
| State Rep037 State Rep038 | Supreme Court |
| State Rep039 ¥ | Clarkston Independence District L 🗸 |
| Developeration | Create Report |
| No report profile applied | Default |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | and the second s |
| Add 😥 Modity 🗾 Delete 💋 Ex | port Reset Apply |
| | |
| | |
| | |

Figure 15-6: Card Cast Report screen

| 🕅 🖣 1 of 111 🕨 📔 | + 🛞 🚱 🖨 目 | û 🔍 - | 100% | • | Find | Next | | | | | |
|-----------------------|-------------------|----------------|-----------------|-----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------|----------------------|---------|-------------------|--------------------|----------------|
| Page: 1 of 111 | | | | | | | | | | 06/11/201 | 7 17:22:0 |
| | | | Ca | nde Coel | Dono | nt | | | | | |
| | | | Ca | rus Casi | керо | rt | | | | | |
| | | | | General E | ection | | | | | | |
| | | | | San Fran | cisco | | | | | | |
| | | | | February 2 | 2 2017 | | | | | | |
| | | Car | ds Cast for: | All District | s All Cou | inting G | rouns | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Precinct | Ballot Type | Paper Index | Ballot Group | Elector Group With Count | Total Cards Cast | Total Voters Cast | Registered Voters | Turnout | DRE Cards Cast | DRE Voters Cast | DRE Turnout |
| County | | | | | | | | | | | |
| San Francisco | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Pct 1101 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | 1 | General Ballot | | 3 | 3 | 0 | | 3 | 3 | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | 2 | General Ballot | | 3 | 0 | 0 | | 3 | 0 | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | 3 | General Ballot | | 3 | 0 | 0 | | 3 | 0 | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | 4 | General Ballot | | 3 | 0 | 0 | | 3 | 0 | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | 5 | General Ballot | | 3 | 0 | 0 | | 3 | 0 | |
| | Cumulative | | | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| Pct 1101 - Total | | | | | 15 | 3 | 0 | | 15 | 3 | |
| Pct 1102 | | | | | | _ | | | _ | _ | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | 1 | General Ballot | | / | (| 0 | | | 1 | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | 2 | General Ballot | | 7 | 0 | 0 | | 7 | 0 | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | 3 | General Ballot | | / | 0 | 0 | | / | 0 | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | 4 | General Ballot | | 7 | 0 | 0 | | 7 | 0 | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | 5 | General Ballot | | / | 0 | 0 | | / | 0 | |
| | Cumulative | | | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| Pct 1102 - Total | | | | | 35 | 1 | 0 | | 35 | 1 | |
| Pct 1103 | Dellad de Travel | | Concern Dollar | | | | | | | | |
| | Ballot I - Type I | 1 | General Ballot | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| | Ballot I - Type I | 2 | General Ballot | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | 2 | General Ballot | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| | Ballot I - Type I | 4 | General Ballot | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| | Gumulatius | | General ballot | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| Det 1102 Total | Cumulative | | | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| Pct 1102/1105 | | | | | 0 | 0 | U | | U | 0 | |
| Fcc 1104/1105 | Ballot 1 Type 1 | 1 | General Ballot | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | 2 | General Ballot | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | 2 | General Ballot | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| | Ballot 1 Type 1 | | General Ballot | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| | Ballot 1 - Type 1 | | General Ballot | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| | Cumulative | | Serierar barrot | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |
| Ret 1104/1105 Tatal | Cumulative | | | | 0 | 0 | | | 0 | 0 | |
| PCL 1104/1105 - 10tal | | | | | 0 | 0 | 0 | | 0 | 0 | |

Figure 15-7: Card Cast Report screen

15.4 RCV Report

The **RCV Report** section in RTR allows the user to create reports showing the tabulation results for individual Ranked Choice Voting contests. These reports can only be created if the user has performed Ranked Choice Voting tabulation. The reports present how the ranked choice voting tabulation algorithm calculated the distribution of ballots and votes in each round, and shows the candidate status in each round.

The user has the following parameters:

- **Standard Title**: a checkbox that indicates whether the standard title should be used in the report header, if not the custom Report title is shown.
- Report Title: the user can define a custom report title which is used only if

Standard Title checkbox is not checked.

- **Contest combo box**: the user can choose which ranked choice voting contest the report should be created for. Each report will only include tabulation results for a single ranked choice voting contest.
- **Show Precincts**: a checkbox that controls whether tabulation results on the precinct level should be included in the report.
- **Type**: there are two types of RCV report:
 - **Short**: the ranked choice voting tabulation results will be shown in a tabular format
 - **Detailed**: the ranked choice voting tabulation results will be shown in a more detailed format explaining each step in the process.

15.5 Results Pair Report

Results Pair Report allows the user to perform comparison of contests and choices loaded from manually entered and machine results for the same tabulator respectively. When the manually entered and machine results do not match, they are marked with red color. In addition to that, an "x" appears in the Difference column for such mismatched results. See Figure 15-8.

The following are user-controlled parameters that the application uses to generate the report:

Parameters

- Report Title:
 - The title can be multi-line.
 - The user can indicate if they wish to have the Standard Title displayed.— The user can indicate if they wish to have the report filters displayed.
- Two additional filtering options are added:
 - **Show only mismatched pairs**: this option will list only pairs of manually entered and machine results which do not match
 - **Show only mismatched contest**: this option will list only contests where a difference in votes exists between the manually entered and machine results. Selecting this check box will automatically select Show only mismatched pairs check box.
- The Standard Report Filters:
 - **Filter for Contests**: The user can choose to display all contests, or, by clicking the filter radio button, the user can select one or more contests to be displayed in the report, from the list provided on the form.

- **Filter for Districts or Precincts**: The user can select to display the results by districts or by precincts. For either selection, the user can display all districts/precincts, or, by clicking the filter radio button, the user can display one or more districts/precincts in the report, from the list provided on the form.
- **Filter for Polling Location**: the user can filter the report results by polling location from the combo box.
- **Filter for Tabulator**: In the combo box on the form, the user can filter the report results by tabulator. The form by which to filter results in the report.
- For Report Profiles see section Ability to Manage Reporting Profiles on Card Cast, Election Summary, and Statement of Votes Cast Reports.



| Results Pair Report | | |
|--|--|----------------------------------|
| Parameters | | |
| Report Title: | | |
| | | Standard Title Report Filters |
| Show only mismatched pairs | | |
| \checkmark Show only mismatched contests | | |
| Filters Polling Location: Tab | ulator: | |
| <ali> <ali></ali></ali> | l> • | |
| Contests: | Districts: O Precincts: | |
| Select All Filter | Select All Filter | |
| President and Vice President - contest 2 ma UNITED STATES SENATOR U.S. Representative vote for 2 State Senator District 46 State Senator District 47 State Senator District 47 Member of the State Assembly District 66 Member of the State Assembly District 68 Judicial 1 Judicial 2 Cascade proposition Reduced proposition Proposition Regular YES/NO Prototype Judicial 3 Mayor Candidate span 3 Governor & Lt Governor Column span 3 Secretary of State Candidate span 3 Reduced proposition contest span 3 Reduced proposition contest span 3 Reduced proposition contest span 3 | County District 46 District 47 District 48 District 66 District 67 District 68 | |
| Report Profiles No report profile applied | Def | ault |
| New Profile import | | |
| | | |
| Add Add Modify | Export Reset Ap | ply |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |

Figure 15-8: Result Pair Report screen



15.6 Conditional Voting Statistics Report

The Conditional Voting Statistics Report allows the user to generate a basic set of statistics in the context of any conditional results in the election project. It provides information about the number of conditional sessions and their states and resolutions. Please note that the report will display the appropriate label depending on the mode in the project, i.e. Challenge or Provisional. SeeFigure 15-10.

The following are user-controlled parameters that the application uses to generate the report:

- Report Title:
 - The title can be multi-line
 - The user can indicate if they wish to have the Standard Title displayed.
 - The user can indicate if they wish to have the report filters displayed
- The user can indicate if they wish the result to be split by:
 - Precinct and Ballot Type
 - Precinct only
 - Ballot Type only
- For Report Profiles see section *Ability to Manage Reporting Profiles on Card Cast, Election Summary, and Statement of Votes Cast Reports.*

| RTR | | EMS Results Tal | ly and Repor |
|---------|---|---|--------------|
| Electio | on Project Settings Actions Help | | |
| 🖶 Sta | rt Results Export 🛛 🖶 Configure Results | : Export | |
| Na | Conoral | Provisional Voting Statistics Report | |
| lvig | | Parameters | |
| Jati | Tabulators | Report Title: | |
| on | | Standard Tibe | |
| | Result Pair Resolution | Report Pitters | |
| | | Create Report | |
| | Result Files | | |
| | | | |
| | Provisional Votes | | |
| | - | Ballot Type | |
| | RTM Logs | | |
| | A | | |
| | Ranked Profiles | | |
| | Panked Contests | | |
| | Concests | | |
| | Export | | |
| | Descente | | |
| | Reports | | |
| | Masic | | |
| | | | |
| | 🕍 Election Summary Report | | |
| | | | |
| | 🟏 Statement Of Votes Cast | | |
| | | | |
| | 🟏 Cards Cast Report | | |
| | - | | |
| | CV Report | | |
| | | | |
| | Results Pair Report | Report Profiles Last applied profile: New Profile2 | Default |
| | Provisional Voting Statistics | New Profile | |
| | | D New Profile2 | |

Figure 15-10: Conditional Voting Statistics Report screen

| ing | | | | | |
|---|-------------------------|---------------------|----------------------|----------------------|-------------|
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| _ | | | | _ | |
| 🛯 🖣 1 of 1 | ▶ ▶ + ⊗ 🚱 🖷 |) 🔲 🔍 🔍 - | 100% | • | Find Next |
| Page: 1 of 1 | | | | | |
| | Provision | al Vote | s Resolı | ition S | Statistics |
| | | Gene | eral Electio | n | |
| | | | County | | |
| | | Janu | ary 12, 201 | 5 | |
| | | All I | Ballot Type | 5 | |
| Ballot Type | Provisional Sessions | Pending Sessions | Accepted Sessions | Rejected Sessions | |
| | 70 | 55 | 10 | 5 | |
| Ballot 1 - Type 1 | | | | | |
| Ballot 1 - Type 1 Ballot 2 - Type 2 | 64 | 40 | 17 | 7 | |
| Ballot 1 - Type 1 Ballot 2 - Type 2 Ballot 3 - Type 3 | 64 0 | 40 0 | 17 0 | 7 0 | |

Figure 15-11: Conditional Voting Statistics Report screen

15.7 Ability to Manage Reporting Profiles on Card Cast, Election Summary, and Statement of Votes Cast Reports

This feature allows the user to define various filters for reports, store them, and reuse them later (especially throughout the election night). In combination with the "Import Report Profile" functionality, existing filters can be imported to other election projects. Profiles are applied to the Statement of Votes Cast, the Election Summary Report, and the Cards Cast Report. This section uses SOVC as example (the application of profiles is identical to other cases). See Figure 15-12.

The profiles are managed by a separate control, which is part of each report.

| Rep: Last | ort Profiles applied profile: All Profile | 🖌 Default |
|--------------|--|-------------|
| | All Profile | |
| | First Profile | Default |
| | Second Profile | |
| | | |
| | Add Modify Delete Export | Reset Apply |

Figure 15-12: Report Profiles screen

Elements of control:

- Title: Report Profiles
- **Last applied profile label**: This label informs the user about the currently applied profile. It also indicates which profile will be affected by the Modify action.
- **Default checkbox**: This indicates a profile which has been designated the default profile. Toggling the control affects the state of the profile. In case no profile is selected, or multiple profiles are selected, the control is disabled.
- **Grid with list of available profiles for the selected report**: The grid presents a list of profiles for the current profile, identified by name. The list is refreshed and updated automatically after each user action and sorted by profile name. Double-clicking a profile applies the contained parameters to the current report (identical to the Apply action).
- Add: Takes current report parameters, and initiates the process of saving them to a new profile. The Profile name screen appears. Maintenance buttons:

| Profile name | - | × |
|--------------------|----|--------|
| Enter profile name | | |
| New Profile | | |
| | ОК | Cancel |

Figure 15-13: Profile Name screen

- Add: Takes the current report parameters, and initiates the process of saving them to a new profile. The Profile name screen appears. If you enter a name and click **OK**, the system stores data to the database, and the newly created profile appears on the list of existing profiles. If you click **Cancel**, the operation will not be completed.
- **Modify**: This action updates the parameters of the selected profile(s) with the current states and values of the filters and selections on the report. In case no profiles are selected, **Modify** acts as the **Add** button.
- The name of the profile must be unique per report type. In case the entered name is not unique, an error message appears, and the operation is canceled.



Figure 15-14: Error message screen

• Delete: This action removes all selected profiles from the database. If the

user confirms the action, the selected profiles are permanently removed.



Figure 15-15: Deleting screen

• **Export**: This action saves the selected Report Profile(s) as separate XML file(s) that can be imported into another election project (See section 16.8 Import Report Profile). If a single profile is selected, a Save As screen appears.

| Save sumplandtab as | | | | ж | |
|---|---------|---|-----------------|------|--|
| COO & Computer + Local Disk (C) + temp + export profiles | | • 49 Search | export profiles | es 🔎 | |
| Organize - New folder | | | - II. • | | |
| Sound Games Sounds Sounds Sounds Training Forcing Computer Computer Computer MAD Sounds Mathematic Mathemathematic Mathematic | a Norre | Date modified No items match your search. | Туре | S | |
| Program Tee (pH) Program Tee (pH) Program Tee (pH) Program Tee (pH) Program Tee (pH) Program Tee (pH) Program | • ¥[| | e Can | • | |

Figure 15-16: Save As screen

• In case multiple profiles are selected for export, the Select Folder form appears, and the profiles are saved with the names as defined in the list.

| Select folder for storing report profiles. | |
|--|--|
| | |
| Desktop | |
| D Libraries | |
| P B. Petar Srdanovic | |
| a jui Computer | |
| Local Disk (C:) | |
| > AMD | |
| > 🔐 inetpub | |
| > 👍 Intel | |
| MSOCache | |
| P PerLogs | |
| Program Files | |
| Program Files (Jdb) | |
| P a ProgramCata | |
| > 🚲 temp | |
| > di Uses | |
| P a Windows | |
| · · · working | |
| D DUD BULDER (D) | |
| P and OVD RW Drive (E) | |
| h Control Based | |
| Recent Rice | |
| E Pacyce on | |

Figure 15-17: Browse for folder screen

- **Reset**: This action resets all the filters and selections on the report control to the initial state.
- **Apply**: This action takes the data from the selected profile and applies it to the report filter parameters. In case more than one profile is selected, an error appears. The same action can be achieved by double-clicking the desired profile in the list.



Figure 15-18: Error message screen

15.8 Import Report Profile

To import Report Profile:

1. Expand the Actions item from the Main Menu and click on the **Import Report Profile** option. See Figure 15-20.

| Select report profile | _ | _ | _ | l | X |
|--|----------------------------------|--------------------|-------------|------------------------------------|---|
| Profiles | | | ▼ 47 | Search Profiles | ٩ |
| Organize 🔻 New folde | r | | | ≣ ▼ 🗔 | 0 |
| ★ Favorites | Name | Date modified | Туре | Size | |
| Mesktop | Profile 1.xml | 4/16/2014 3:24 PM | XML File | 3 KB | |
| 💫 Downloads 🗧 | Test1.xml | 4/22/2014 12:28 PM | XML File | 3 KB | |
| 🔛 Recent Places | unresolved writeins excluded.xml | 4/16/2014 3:24 PM | XML File | 2 KB | |
| ConeDrive | | | | | |
| □ Libraries □ Documents → Music □ Pictures □ Videos □ Computer □ Local Dick (Ct) | | | | | |
| Data (D:) | | | | | |
| - | | | | | |
| File <u>n</u> a | me: Test1.xml | | • | Import Report Profile (*.xml) Open | • |



- 2. The Import Report Profile screen appears. Before clicking Import, you can change parameters and filters in this verification status.
- 3. Click **Import**. Once the completed, the Import Finished screen appears.
- 4. Click **Close** to exit the Import Report Profile screen.

| - | Import Report Profile | _ 🗆 × |
|---|---|--------------------------------|
| Description : | | |
| Name : testing profile | | |
| Type : Statement Of Votes Cast | | |
| Version : 1.0 | | |
| Parameters | | |
| | | ✓ Standard Title |
| | | Report Filters |
| | | |
| | | |
| Contest Statistics | Candidate Statistics | |
| Undervotes Vote For | ✓ Unresolved Write-in | |
| | Count unresolved write-ins as undervote | S |
| Combine Overvotes and Undervotes as "Blanks" | Percentages By: Write-In | |
| ✓ Total Votes | None None Votes Cast Combine | Split By: |
| Counting Group Totals Only | O Ballots Cast O Split | Precincts Districts |
| Wrtein Overrides | | O Districts |
| Filters | | |
| Contests: | Districts: O Precincts: | Polling Location: |
| Select All Filter | Select All Filter | <al> •</al> |
| Federal Contest 1 | County of Anywhere | Tabulator: |
| United States President | 2nd Federal Dsct | <al> •</al> |
| US Governor for 1st Federal Disct, County of An | 3rd Assembly Doct | Counting Group : |
| Us devenor for 2nd rederal Disct, County of Al United States Defense Officer | 8th Assembly Dsct | |
| Ranked Choice Office | | |
| Proposition for 1st Assembly District Proposition for 3rd Assembly District | | |
| Proposition for 6th Assembly District Proposition for 8th Assembly District | | County |
| County Question Object NameEs_County Quest County Question Reduced for County of Anywh | | Federal Dsct Assembly Dsct |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | 171 |
| | | Import K Close |

Figure 15-20: Import Report Profile screen

15.9 Generating Election Summary, Statement of Votes Cast and Cards Cast Reports

1. Expand the Reports section and click on the appropriate option in the Activities Navigation Panel depending on the type of report you wish to

preview or print.

- 2. The screen containing the user interface for the chosen report appears.
- 3. Perform all the selections and filtering desired for generating the report.
- 4. Click Create Report.

15.10 Enabling and Disabling Contests and Choices for Reporting

There is a possibility to control enabling and disabling contests and choices for reporting, independently from enabling and disabling contests and choices in EED. Contests and choices disabled in RTR are not going to be presented in reports. To disable contests and choices, please perform the following steps:



1. From the Settings menu open Enable/Disable Contests and Choices.

Figure 15-21: Enable and Disable Contests and Choices Menu

2. On the left side of the window there is a list of all contests. Check the checkbox next to contest to disable the contest, or uncheck it to enable that

contest.



Figure 15-22: Disable Contest

3. After clicking on any contest, list of all choices will be on the right side of the windows. Each choice can be disabled by checking the checkbox next to it, or enabled by unchecking it.





15.11 Results Reporting

Results Reporting screen offers the user the ability to generate a large variety of results reports and manage their parameters using a single user interface. The user interface is divided in several sections, see Figure 15-24 :

| EMS Results Tally and Reporting | | | | - 🗆 X |
|--|---|-----------------------|--|-------------------|
| Election Desired Cettings Astings Met | | | | |
| pection Project gettings Actions He | la Barrat - Mill Barrahan das Barratian | | | |
| Start Kesuits Export | is Export Synchronize Reporting | | | |
| Z Or Ground | Results Reporting | | | |
| | Parry t Crown Electrice Day Baseria Parry Donalian | dula la | Options | 4 |
| Tabulativa | Report of Heports | 1 | 20 01 00 | |
| ġ. | Report Name: Summary Report (2 Column) | 🗱 Add 🕎 Save 📑 Delete | Header/Footer | |
| | Description: | | Show page number | True |
| Result Par Resolution | Summary Report displayed in two courins Output Type: | POF · | Show printed time | True |
| | | | Show refresh time | True |
| Result Files | | Q Search | Page Orientation | Portrait |
| | | | Page Size | Letter |
| 📥 Write-in Resolution | 🚺 🗘 Create Report 🔷 Preview 🚺 Open 🧧 Delete 💋 Export | | ✓ Results | |
| | Name | Date | Add party to candidate names | True |
| RTM Logs | D Summary Report (2 Column), 20181114112246482 odf | 2018-11-14 11:22:48 | Statistics Show over and undervates | True |
| | S mmary Report (2 Column) 20181114112924981 off | 2018-11-14 11-29-24 | Show X of Y | True |
| Ranked Profiles | Summary Report (2 Column) 20181114112035050 add | 3 | ✓ Title | |
| | Commery Report (2 Column)_2010111412230303-000 | 2010-11-11-11-29-00 | Title 1 | Summary Report |
| Barlard Contents | Summary Report (2 Column)_20181120115644493.pdf | 2010-11-2011:30:44 | Title 2 | |
| | Summary Report (2 Column)_20101122113441087.por | 2010-11-22 11:3%*41 | Show registration and turnout | False |
| former for the second sec | Summary Report (2 Column)_20181122113445087.pdf | 2018-11-22 11:34(45 | Turnout by counting group | False |
| Export | Summary Report (2 Column)_20181122165453527.pdf | 2018-11-22 16:54:53 | Turnout by elector group | False |
| Constant and | Summary Report (2 Column)_20181129154107248.pdf | 2018-11-29 15:41:07 | Registration by elector group | Palse |
| Export type | Summary Report (2 Column)_20181129154146029.pdf | 2018-11-29 15:41:46 | Write-ins Include qualified write-ins | True |
| M | Summary Report (2 Column)_20181129154212667.pdf | 2018-11-29 15:42:12 | Include write-ins | False |
| XM. Transformations | Summary Report (2 Column)_20181129154232262.pdf | 2018-11-29 15:42:32 | Resolve remaining unqualified write-ins as undervotes | False Y |
| | Summary Report (2 Column)_20181129165234278.pdf | 2018-11-29 16:52:34 | Show page number | |
| Reports | | | Include the page number in the footer | |
| | | | | |
| Clection Summary Report | | | Contest, Counting Group, Districts, Bracingts, Ballion Locations, T. | abudators Ratches |
| | | | | |
| Statement Of Votes Cast | | | Select All | 5 |
| - | | | President/Vice Pres | <u>^</u> |
| Cards Cast Report | | | US Senator | |
| - | | | Members State Brd of Ed | |
| PCV Reset | | | Regents U of Mich | |
| Pour response | | | Trustees Mich State | |
| | | | Governors Wayne State | |
| Kesurs Par keport | | | Oakland Sheriff | |
| | | | Wayne Sheriff | |
| Results Reporting | | | Oakland Clerk-Reg Deeds Oakland County Treasurer | |
| | | | Oakland Water Resource Comm | |
| | | | Addison Twp Supervisor | |
| | | | Addison Two Clerk | |
| | | | Addison Twp Trustee | |
| | | | Justice Supreme Court | * |
| | | | | |

Figure 15-24: Results Reporting screen

1. Report and profile selection:

• All reports are organized into several groups to make it easier to find the correct report from the set of available reports: Election Day Reports group contains reports that are typically run during election night. Post-Election Reports group contains reports that are used for canvassing and auditing election results. The Basic group contains a series of reports that were used

in previous versions of EMS. Finally, the Export group lists all exports that were managed through the Export Type screen and allows the user to directly execute these exports on demand, without the need to specify transfer points. Once the user selects a Report Group from the combo box the list of available reports will be visible in the Report Name combo box.

- The user can select the report from the Report Name combo box. At this point the system will show a description of the selected report, and it will retrieve a list of report profiles for this report and populate the list of previously created reports in (see Figure 15-24, field 3). Also, the available output types and parameter and filter will be populated with the default settings.
- The user can select any previously created Reporting Profiles from the Report Profile combo box. Report Profiles are a way for the user to save selected report parameters and filters. To create a new Reporting Profile, the user must click on the Add button. Reporting Profile dialog will appear, see Figure 15-25 where the name can be entered and by pressing OK the new profile will be created and listed for the selected report. The user can also update reporting profiles by pressing Save, or remove by pressing Delete.



Figure 15-25: Reporting Profile

- The user can select the desired output type, the available types depend on the selected report but typically include PDF, Excel, Word for reports in the Election Day and Post-Election groups, and for Basic reports it will include typically HTML and Excel output. For the Export group there is no output type to select.
- The user can refresh the list of previously created reports by pressing Search button.
- 2. **Task bar**: here the user can trigger execution or preview of the report, and open, delete or export previously created reports that are stored on the NAS.
- **Create Report button**: will trigger execution of report on the server using the selected parameters, filters and output type and store the report on the NAS. After the successful execution the list of created reports is refreshed.

NOTE: For certain reports a warning will be issued to the user if the settings/ filters could potentially result in an extremely large report, the user can then

continue or cancel the report execution to modify the settings.

• **Preview button**: for certain reports there is the ability to preview reports in a separate dialog showing the report viewer control. From the dialog the user can save the report in a variety of formats to the local workstation.

NOTE: Reports created in this manner will not be stored on NAS.

| Report Preview | | | | | | _ | | \times |
|---------------------------------------|---------------|---------|-----------------------------------|--|---|------|------|----------|
| ≪ 1 of 8 | ► H + (|) 🚯 🕼 🔲 | 💷 属 • | 100% | • | Find | Next | |
| | | I | Cou Integration April Summa | unty Smoke test 9, 2016 ry Report | | | | ^ |
| President/Vice Pres | | | | | | | | |
| (0 of 66 precincts r | eported) | | | | | | | |
| DEM - Barack Obama/Joe | Biden | 24,619 | 25.10% | | | | | |
| UST - Virgil H. Goode Jr./J Clymer | ames N. | 24,521 | 25.00% | | | | | |
| GRN - Jill Stein/Cheri Honk | ala | 24,308 | 24.78% | | | | | |
| NL - Ross C. Anderson/Lu | uis Rodriguez | 24,643 | 25.12% | | | | | |
| Under Votes: | 33,901 | | | | | | | |
| Over Votes: | 1,626 | | | | | | | |
| | Total | 98,091 | | | | | | |
| US Senator | | | | | | | | |
| (0 of 66 precincts r | eported) | | | | | | | |
| REP - Pete Hoekstra | | 20,997 | 16.64% | | | | | |
| DEM - Debbie Stabenow | | 20,977 | 16.62% | | | | | |
| LIB - Scotty Boman | | 21,112 | 16.73% | | | | | |
| UST - Richard A. Matkin | | 21,203 | 16.80% | | | | | |
| GRN - Harley Mikkelson | | 20,768 | 16.46% | | | | | |
| NL - John D. Litle | | 21,139 | 16.75% | | | | | |
| Under Votes: | 9,292 | | | | | | | |
| Over Votes: | 1,535 | | | | | | | ~ |

Figure 15-26: Report Review

- **Open button**: this will retrieve the selected report from the list of previously created reports from the NAS and show it in the associated application. For example a PDF report will be shown in for example Acrobat Reader.
- **Delete button**: this will delete the selected report from the list of previously created reports from the NAS.
- **Export button**: this will retrieve the selected report from the list of previously created reports from the NAS and allows the user to store it to the local workstation.
- 3. **Previously created report list**: this section lists all previously created reports for the currently selected report, for exports it will list all previously created exports without filtering. Reports will be shown by name and

creation timestamp.

- 4. **Report Parameters**: each report except exports will have its own set of parameters that can be modified by the user, these are all presented in a property grid. If the user selects a parameter a description of the parameter will be shown below.
- 5. **Report filters**: many reports will have optional filters where the user can specify which election objects should be included in the report.

Election Day Group:

This group contains reports that are typically used during election night.

Election Summary Report (2 column)

Contains election results on a contest by contest basis. Consists of two sections:

- Registration and Turnout: this section shows eligible voters and number of ballots cast and is configurable to show breakdown per counting group and elector group that tracks count.
- Results: this section shows results per contest, with each contest showing optionally X of Y, over and undervotes, write-ins, votes per candidate.

Global project settings:

- **Suppress results until precinct reported**: if this project parameter setting is set, results for precincts that are not yet completed will not be included in the report.
- **Use report order**: if this project parameter setting is set then contests are sorted by reporting order, otherwise contest global order is used.
- Show disabled contests and choices in reports: if setting is checked then disabled contests/candidates are indicated with "[Disabled]" behind their name.
- **Convert disabled choices to undervotes**: if setting is checked then votes for disabled choices are counted as undervotes.

Report parameters:

- Show page number: if set true the page number will be included in the report.
- Show printed time: if set true the date and time of when the report was produced will be included in the report.
- Show refresh time: if set true the date and time of when report model was synchronized will be included in the report.
- Page orientation: selects whether the report is oriented in portrait or in landscape mode. Will not affect the preview.
- Page size: select the page length: Letter, Legal, Ledger. Will not affect the

preview.

- Add party to candidate names: if set to true the party abbreviation is included in the choice name. For example, "John Doe" vs. "PTY John Doe".
- Show over and undervotes: if set to true over and undervotes are included in the report.
- Show X of Y: if set to true the X of Y should be included in the report.
- Title 1: shown as the last line in the main header.
- Title 2: shown as text in the upper left corner of the page.
- Show registration and turnout: if set to true the registration and turnout section in report will be included in the report.
- Turnout by counting group: if set to true the registration and turnout should breakdown turnout by counting group.
- Turnout by elector group: if set to true the registration and turnout should breakdown per elector group (that track count).
- Registration by elector group: if set to true the number of eligible voters per elector group should be shown.
- Include qualified write-ins: if set to true qualified write-ins will be included in the report.
- Include write-ins: if set to true remaining unqualified write-ins are shown in the report as "Write-in". No matter on how many write-in positions there are in the contest this will always be shown as one write-in position.
- Resolve remaining unqualified write-ins as undervotes: if set to true remaining unqualified write-ins will be added to undervotes.

Filters:

- Contest filter: multi-select contest filter that only effects the second section of contests to include.
- Counting group filter: multi-select counting group filter that effects which counting groups are included in the first section, and what results are included in the second section.
- District filter: multi-select district filter that effects both turnout and results that are included in the report.
- Precinct filter: multi-select precinct filter that effects both turnout and results that are included in the report.
- Polling Location filter: multi-select polling location filter that effects both turnout and results that are included in the report.
- Tabulator filter: multi-select tabulator filter that effects both turnout and results that are included in the report.

• Batch filter: multi-select batch filter that effects both turnout and results that are included in the report.

Completed Precinct Turnout

Contains a summary of progress of election night reporting, including X of Y and registration and turnout optionally broken down per elector group that tracks count.

Global project settings:

Suppress results until precinct reported: if this project parameter setting is set, results for precincts that are not yet completed will not be included in the report.

Report parameters:

- Show page number: if set true the page number will be included in the report
- Show printed time: if set true the date and time of when the report was produced will be included in the report.
- Show refresh time: if set true the date and time of when report model was synchronized will be included in the report.
- Page orientation: selects whether the report is oriented in portrait or in landscape mode. Will not affect the preview.
- Page size: select the page length: Letter, Legal, Ledger. Will not affect the preview.
- Title 1: part of the title shown in the header
- Title 2: part of the title shown in the header
- Turnout by elector group: if set to true the turnout will be broken down by elector group that track count.
- Registration by elector group: if set to true the number of eligible voters is shown per elector group, only effects report if Turnout by elector group is turned on.

Filters:

• Has no filters

Incomplete Precincts by Districts

Prints a list of incomplete precincts by district.

Global project settings:

Not effected by any global project settings.

Report parameters:

• Show page number: if set true the page number will be included in the report

- Show printed time: if set true the date and time of when the report was produced will be included in the report.
- Page orientation: selects whether the report is oriented in portrait or in landscape mode. Will not affect the preview.
- Page size: select the page length: Letter, Legal, Ledger. Will not affect the preview.
- Title 1: part of the title shown in the header
- Title 2: part of the title shown in the header

Filters:

- District type filter: multi-select district type filter that selects which district types should be included.
- District filter: multi-select district filter that selects which districts should be included.

Machine Report

Allows the user to create summary reports per tabulator optionally broken down per precinct.

Global project settings:

Not effected by any global project settings.

Report parameters:

- Show page number: if set true the page number will be included in the report
- Show printed time: if set true the date and time of when the report was produced will be included in the report.
- Extra Vertical Space: if set true there will be extra vertical space between each line of content.
- Page orientation: selects whether the report is oriented in portrait or in landscape mode. Will not affect the preview.
- Page size: select the page length: Letter, Legal, Ledger. Will not affect the preview.
- Add party to candidate names: if set to true the party abbreviation is included in the choice name. For example, "John Doe" vs. "PTY John Doe".
- Display blank totals: if set to true, none of the votes will be shown in the report, the turnout section if included will show all relevant content.
- Split tabulator per precinct: if set to true results per tabulator will be broken down per precinct.
- Include blank ballots: if set to true the number of blank ballots cast containing the contest will be shown.

- Include overvotes: if set to true the number of overvotes for a given contest will be shown.
- Include undervotes: if set to true the number of undervotes for a given contest will be shown.
- Title 1: part of the title shown in the header
- Include Turnout: if set to true the turnout section will be included in the report for each tabulator.
- Include Write-ins: if set to true the write-in position results will be included.

Filters:

- Counting groups filter: multi-select counting groups filter that selects which counting groups should be included.
- District filter: multi-select district filter that selects which districts should be included.
- Precinct filter: multi-select precinct filter that selects which precincts should be included.
- Polling locations filter: multi-select polling location filter that selects which polling locations should be included.
- Tabulators filter: multi-select tabulator filter that selects which tabulators should be included.

Post-Election Group:

This group contains reports that are used for canvassing and auditing election results.

Precinct Canvass

Contains election results on a contest by contest basis broken down by precinct and optionally counting group.

Global project settings:

- Suppress results until precinct reported: if this project parameter setting is set, results for precincts that are not yet completed will not be included in the report.
- Use report order: if this project parameter setting is set then contests are sorted by reporting order, otherwise contest global order is used.
- Show disabled contests and choices in reports: if setting is checked then disabled contests/candidates are indicated with "[Disabled]" behind their name.
- Convert disabled choices to undervotes: if setting is checked then votes for disabled choices are counted as undervotes.
- Counting group breakdown has three possible values:
 - Precinct total: show only precinct totals
 - Counting groups: show results broken down per counting group
 - Counting groups and precinct total: show results broken down per counting group and include precinct totals.
- Show contest totals: if set to true the totals for the contest are shown at the bottom of each contest.
- Show counting group totals: if set to true the totals for the contest per counting group are shown at the bottom of each report.
- Show registration by elector group: if set to true the column Registered will show the number of registered voters eligible for that contest, otherwise it will show all registered voters regardless of elector group.
- Show document map: if set to true the Excel file output will include a document map that allows the user to navigate directly to the contest.
- Single contest per page: if set to true contests will not be grouped together on a single page but will always be kept separate.
- Sort by elector group and district: if set to true contests will be sorted by elector group and district order, this will allow for more efficient grouping of contests on the same page.
- Show page number: if set true the page number will be included in the report
- Show printed time: if set true the date and time of when the report was produced will be included in the report.
- Show refresh time: if set true the date and time of when report model was synchronized will be included in the report.
- Page orientation: selects whether the report is oriented in portrait or in landscape mode. Will not affect the preview.
- Page size: select the page length: Letter, Legal, Ledger. Will not affect the preview.
- Add party to candidate names: if set to true the party abbreviation is included in the choice name. For example, "John Doe" vs. "PTY John Doe".
- Use voter privacy protection: if set to true rows where the total number of voters is below or equal to the set threshold the vote information will not be shown in the report.
- Voter Privacy Threshold: if the Use voter privacy protection option is switched on this value will control whether votes are shown or not.
- Include blank ballots: if set to true the number of blank ballots cast containing the contest will be shown.

- Include overvotes: if set to true the number of overvotes for a given contest will be shown.
- Include undervotes: if set to true the number of undervotes for a given contest will be shown.
- Title 1: part of the title shown in the header
- Include qualified write-ins: if set to true qualified write-ins will be included in the report.
- Include write-ins: if set to true remaining unqualified write-ins are shown in the report as "Write-in". No matter on how many write-in positions there are in the contest this will always be shown as one write-in position.
- Resolve remaining unqualified write-ins as undervotes: if set to true remaining unqualified write-ins will be added to undervotes.

- Contest filter: multi-select contest filter that selects which contests should be included.
- Counting group filter: multi-select counting group filter that selects the counting groups that should be included.
- District filter: multi-select district filter that selects which districts should be included.
- Precinct filter: multi-select precinct filter that selects which precincts should be included.
- Polling Location filter: multi-select polling location filter that selects which polling locations should be included.
- Tabulator filter: multi-select tabulator filter that selects which tabulators should be included.

Discovery List

Allows an election official to find contests where the difference in votes between a winning candidate with the lowest number of votes and a losing candidate with the highest number of votes is within a small margin. This is useful to determine which contests are possibly subject to a recount.

The votes shown in this report are not subject to Suppress results until precinct reported setting, so it always shows the current vote total.

Global project settings:

Use report order: if this project parameter setting is set then contests are sorted by reporting order, otherwise contest global order is used.

Report parameters:

• Show page number: if set true the page number will be included in the report

- Show printed time: if set true the date and time of when the report was produced will be included in the report.
- Page orientation: selects whether the report is oriented in portrait or in landscape mode. Will not affect the preview.
- Page size: select the page length: Letter, Legal, Ledger. Will not affect the preview.
- Add party to candidate names: if set to true the party abbreviation is included in the choice name. For example, "John Doe" vs. "PTY John Doe".
- Winner margin: this parameter controls the percentage margin for a contest to be included into the report. For each contest we calculate the difference between the winning candidate with the lowest number of votes and the losing candidate with the highest number of votes. If the difference in votes between these two candidates is less in terms of percentage of the votes of the winner than the specified margin the contest will be included in the report.
- Title 1: part of the title shown in the header

Has no filters.

District Canvass

Contains election results on a contest by contest basis broken down by district, precinct and optionally counting group. Note: this report will warn the user if all District Types are selected, this would potentially result in a very large report.

Global project settings:

- Suppress results until precinct reported: if this project parameter setting is set, results for precincts that are not yet completed will not be included in the report.
- Use report order: if this project parameter setting is set then contests are sorted by reporting order, otherwise contest global order is used.
- Show disabled contests and choices in reports: if setting is checked then disabled contests/candidates are indicated with "[Disabled]" behind their name.
- Convert disabled choices to undervotes: if setting is checked then votes for disabled choices are counted as undervotes.

- Show contest totals: if set to true the totals for the contest are shown at the bottom of each contest.
- Show counting group totals: if set to true the totals for the contest per counting group are shown at the bottom of each report.

- Show district data by counting group: if set to true the district results are broken down per counting group.
- Show district totals: if set to true district totals are included at the end of each district.
- Show precinct data by counting group: if set to true the precinct results are broken down per counting group
- Show precinct totals: if set to true precinct totals are added for each precinct
- Show registration by elector group: if set to true the column Registered will show the number of registered voters eligible for that contest, otherwise it will show all registered voters regardless of elector group.
- Show document map: if set to true the Excel file output will include a document map that allows the user to navigate directly to the contest.
- Single contest per page: if set to true contests will not be grouped together on a single page but will always be kept separate.
- Sort by elector group and district: if set to true contests will be sorted by elector group and district order, this will allow for more efficient grouping of contests on the same page.
- Show page number: if set true the page number will be included in the report
- Show printed time: if set true the date and time of when the report was produced will be included in the report.
- Show refresh time: if set true the date and time of when report model was synchronized will be included in the report.
- Page orientation: selects whether the report is oriented in portrait or in landscape mode. Will not affect the preview.
- Page size: select the page length: Letter, Legal, Ledger. Will not affect the preview.
- Add party to candidate names: if set to true the party abbreviation is included in the choice name. For example, "John Doe" vs. "PTY John Doe".
- Use voter privacy protection: if set to true rows where the total number of voters is below or equal to the set threshold the vote information will not be shown in the report.
- Voter Privacy Threshold: if the "Use voter privacy protection" option is switched on this value will control whether votes are shown or not.
- Include blank ballots: if set to true the number of blank ballots cast containing the contest will be shown.
- Include overvotes: if set to true the number of overvotes for a given contest will be shown.
- Include undervotes: if set to true the number of undervotes for a given

contest will be shown.

- Title 1: part of the title shown in the header
- Include qualified write-ins: if set to true qualified write-ins will be included in the report.
- Include write-ins: if set to true remaining unqualified write-ins are shown in the report as "Write-in". No matter on how many write-in positions there are in the contest this will always be shown as one write-in position.
- Resolve remaining unqualified write-ins as undervotes: if set to true remaining unqualified write-ins will be added to undervotes.

Filters:

- Contest filter: multi-select contest filter that selects which contests should be included.
- Counting group filter: multi-select counting group filter that selects the counting groups that should be included.
- District Type filter: multi-select district type filter that selects which district types should be included.
- District filter: multi-select district filter that selects which districts should be included.
- Precinct filter: multi-select precinct filter that selects which precincts should be included.
- Polling Location filter: multi-select polling location filter that selects which polling locations should be included.
- Tabulator filter: multi-select tabulator filter that selects which tabulators should be included.

District Total Canvass

Contains election results broken down by district

Global project settings:

- Suppress results until precinct reported: if this project parameter setting is set, results for precincts that are not yet completed will not be included in the report.
- Use report order: if this project parameter setting is set then contests are sorted by reporting order, otherwise contest global order is used.
- Show disabled contests and choices in reports: if setting is checked then disabled contests/candidates are indicated with "[Disabled]" behind their name.
- Convert disabled choices to undervotes: if setting is checked then votes for disabled choices are counted as undervotes.

Report parameters:

- Show document map: if set to true the Excel file output will include a document map that allows the user to navigate directly to the contest.
- Single contest per page: if set to true contests will not be grouped together on a single page but will always be kept separate.
- Sort by elector group and district: if set to true contests will be sorted by elector group and district order, this will allow for more efficient grouping of contests on the same page.
- Show page number: if set true the page number will be included in the report
- Show printed time: if set true the date and time of when the report was produced will be included in the report.
- Show refresh time: if set true the date and time of when report model was synchronized will be included in the report.
- Page orientation: selects whether the report is oriented in portrait or in landscape mode. Will not affect the preview.
- Page size: select the page length: Letter, Legal, Ledger. Will not affect the preview.
- Add party to candidate names: if set to true the party abbreviation is included in the choice name. For example, "John Doe" vs. "PTY John Doe".
- Show registration by elector group: if set to true the column "Registered" will show the number of registered voters eligible for that contest, otherwise it will show all registered voters regardless of elector group.
- Include blank ballots: if set to true the number of blank ballots cast containing the contest will be shown.
- Include overvotes: if set to true the number of overvotes for a given contest will be shown.
- Include undervotes: if set to true the number of undervotes for a given contest will be shown.
- Title 1: part of the title shown in the header
- Include qualified write-ins: if set to true qualified write-ins will be included in the report.
- Include write-ins: if set to true remaining unqualified write-ins are shown in the report as "Write-in". No matter on how many write-in positions there are in the contest this will always be shown as one write-in position.
- Resolve remaining unqualified write-ins as undervotes: if set to true remaining unqualified write-ins will be added to undervotes.

Filters:

- Contest filter: multi-select contest filter that selects which contests should be included.
- Counting group filter: multi-select counting group filter that selects the counting groups that should be included.
- District Type filter: multi-select contest filter that selects which district types should be included.
- District filter: multi-select district filter that selects which districts should be included.
- Precinct filter: multi-select precinct filter that selects which precincts should be included.
- Polling Location filter: multi-select polling location filter that selects which polling locations should be included.
- Tabulator filter: multi-select tabulator filter that selects which tabulators should be included.

Precinct Batch Canvass

This report is used to support audit activities. Contains election results on a contest by contest basis broken down by precinct, tabulator, batch and optionally ballot type. Only if results exist within a batch for a given precinct, contest and ballot type will information be shown. Only one contest can be shown per page.

NOTE: This report will warn the user if all Precincts are selected, this would potentially result in a very large report.

Global project settings:

- Suppress results until precinct reported: if this project parameter setting is set, results for precincts that are not yet completed will not be included in the report.
- Use report order: if this project parameter setting is set then contests are sorted by reporting order, otherwise contest global order is used.
- Show disabled contests and choices in reports: if setting is checked then disabled contests/candidates are indicated with "[Disabled]" behind their name.
- Convert disabled choices to undervotes: if setting is checked then votes for disabled choices are counted as undervotes.

- Ballot type breakdown: this can be set to one of the following three options:
- Batch/Precinct total: precinct total will be included for each batch
- Ballot Types: results in each batch will be broken down per ballot type
- Batch/Precinct total and ballot types: results in each batch will be broken

down per ballot type and will include a precinct total.

- Show ballot type totals: if set true ballot types totals will be shown for each contest.
- Show contest totals: if set to true the totals for the contest are shown at the bottom of each contest.
- Show document map: if set to true the Excel file output will include a document map that allows the user to navigate directly to the contest.
- Sort by elector group and district: if set to true contests will be sorted by elector group and district order.
- Show page number: if set true the page number will be included in the report
- Show printed time: if set true the date and time of when the report was produced will be included in the report.
- Show refresh time: if set true the date and time of when report model was synchronized will be included in the report.
- Page orientation: selects whether the report is oriented in portrait or in landscape mode. Will not affect the preview.
- Page size: select the page length: Letter, Legal, Ledger. Will not affect the preview.
- Add party to candidate names: if set to true the party abbreviation is included in the choice name. For example, "John Doe" vs. "PTY John Doe".
- Use voter privacy protection: if set to true rows where the total number of voters is below or equal to the set threshold the vote information will not be shown in the report.
- Voter privacy threshold: if the Use voter privacy protection option is switched on this value will control whether votes are shown or not.
- Include blank ballots: if set to true the number of blank ballots cast containing the contest will be shown.
- Include overvotes: if set to true the number of overvotes for a given contest will be shown.
- Include undervotes: if set to true the number of undervotes for a given contest will be shown.
- Title 1: part of the title shown in the header
- Include qualified write-ins: if set to true qualified write-ins will be included in the report.
- Include write-ins: if set to true remaining unqualified write-ins are shown in the report as "Write-in". No matter on how many write-in positions there are in the contest this will always be shown as one write-in position.
- Resolve remaining unqualified write-ins as undervotes: if set to true

remaining unqualified write-ins will be added to undervotes.

Filters:

- Contest filter: multi-select contest filter that selects which contests should be included.
- Counting group filter: multi-select counting group filter that selects the counting groups that should be included.
- District filter: multi-select district filter that selects which districts should be included.
- Precinct filter: multi-select precinct filter that selects which precincts should be included.
- Polling Location filter: multi-select polling location filter that selects which polling locations should be included.
- Tabulator filter: multi-select tabulator filter that selects which tabulators should be included.
- Batch filter: multi-select batch filter that selects which batches should be included.

Batch Canvass

This report is used to support audit activities.

Contains election results on a contest by contest basis broken down by tabulator, batch and optionally ballot type. Only if results exist within a batch, contest and ballot type will information be shown. Only one contest can be shown per page.

NOTE: This report will warn the user if all Precincts are selected and would potentially result in a very large report.

Global project settings:

- Suppress results until precinct reported: if this project parameter setting is set, results for precincts that are not yet completed will not be included in the report.
- Use report order: if this project parameter setting is set then contests are sorted by reporting order, otherwise contest global order is used.
- Show disabled contests and choices in reports: if setting is checked then disabled contests/candidates are indicated with "[Disabled]" behind their name.
- Convert disabled choices to undervotes: if setting is checked then votes for disabled choices are counted as undervotes.

Report parameters:

• Ballot type breakdown: this can be set to one of the following three options:

- Batch total: total will be included for each batch
- Ballot Types: results in each batch will be broken down per ballot type
- Batch total and ballot types: total will be included for each batch and results will be broken down per ballot type.
- Show ballot type totals: if set true ballot types totals will be shown for each contest.
- Show contest totals: if set to true the totals for the contest are shown at the bottom of each contest.
- Show document map: if set to true the Excel file output will include a document map that allows the user to navigate directly to the contest.
- Sort by elector group and district: if set to true contests will be sorted by elector group and district order.
- Show page number: if set true the page number will be included in the report
- Show printed time: if set true the date and time of when the report was produced will be included in the report.
- Show refresh time: if set true the date and time of when report model was synchronized will be included in the report.
- Page orientation: selects whether the report is oriented in portrait or in landscape mode. Will not affect the preview.
- Page size: select the page length: Letter, Legal, Ledger. Will not affect the preview.
- Add party to candidate names: if set to true the party abbreviation is included in the choice name. For example, "John Doe" vs. "PTY John Doe".
- Use voter privacy protection: if set to true rows where the total number of voters is below or equal to the set threshold the vote information will not be shown in the report.
- Voter privacy threshold: if the "Use voter privacy protection" option is switched on this value will control whether votes are shown or not.
- Include blank ballots: if set to true the number of blank ballots cast containing the contest will be shown.
- Include overvotes: if set to true the number of overvotes for a given contest will be shown.
- Include undervotes: if set to true the number of undervotes for a given contest will be shown.
- Title 1: part of the title shown in the header
- Include qualified write-ins: if set to true qualified write-ins will be included in the report.

- Include write-ins: if set to true remaining unqualified write-ins are shown in the report as "Write-in". No matter on how many write-in positions there are in the contest this will always be shown as one write-in position.
- Resolve remaining unqualified write-ins as undervotes: if set to true remaining unqualified write-ins will be added to undervotes.

- Contest filter: multi-select contest filter that selects which contests should be included.
- Counting group filter: multi-select counting group filter that selects the counting groups that should be included.
- District filter: multi-select district filter that selects which districts should be included.
- Precinct filter: multi-select precinct filter that selects which precincts should be included.
- Polling Location filter: multi-select polling location filter that selects which polling locations should be included.
- Tabulator filter: multi-select tabulator filter that selects which tabulators should be included.
- Batch filter: multi-select batch filter that selects which batches should be included.

Precinct Batch Card Canvass

This report is used to support audit activities. Contains number of voters cast per card broken down by precinct, tabulator, batch and optionally ballot type. Only if results exist within a batch for a given precinct and ballot type will information be shown.

Global project settings:

• Suppress results until precinct reported: if this project parameter setting is set, results for precincts that are not yet completed will not be included in the report.

- Ballot type breakdown: this can be set to one of the following three options:
- Batch/Precinct total: precinct total will be included for each batch
- Ballot Types: results in each batch will be broken down per ballot type
- Batch/Precinct total and ballot types: results in each batch will be broken down per ballot type and will include a precinct total.
- Show ballot type totals: if set true ballot types totals will be shown at the bottom of the report.

- Show grand totals: if set to true the grand totals will be shown at the bottom of the report.
- Show page number: if set true the page number will be included in the report
- Show printed time: if set true the date and time of when the report was produced will be included in the report.
- Show refresh time: if set true the date and time of when report model was synchronized will be included in the report.
- Page orientation: selects whether the report is oriented in portrait or in landscape mode. Will not affect the preview.
- Page size: select the page length: Letter, Legal, Ledger. Will not affect the preview.
- Title 1: part of the title shown in the header

- Contest filter: multi-select contest filter that selects which ballot types containing the contests should be included.
- Counting group filter: multi-select counting group filter that selects the counting groups that should be included.
- District filter: multi-select district filter that selects which districts should be included.
- Precinct filter: multi-select precinct filter that selects which precincts should be included.
- Polling Location filter: multi-select polling location filter that selects which polling locations should be included.
- Tabulator filter: multi-select tabulator filter that selects which tabulators should be included.
- Batch filter: multi-select batch filter that selects which batches should be included.

Batch Card Canvass

This report is used to support audit activities. Contains number of voters cast per card broken down by tabulator, batch and optionally ballot type. Only if results exist within a batch for a given precinct and ballot type will information be shown.

Global project settings:

Suppress results until precinct reported: if this project parameter setting is set, results for precincts that are not yet completed will not be included in the report.

Report parameters:

• Ballot type breakdown: this can be set to one of the following three options:

- Batch total: total will be included for each batch
- Ballot Types: results in each batch will be broken down per ballot type
- Batch total and ballot types: total will be included for each batch and results will be broken down per ballot type.
- Show ballot type totals: if set true ballot types totals will be shown at the bottom of the report.
- Show grand totals: if set to true the grand totals will be shown at the bottom of the report.
- Show page number: if set true the page number will be included in the report
- Show printed time: if set true the date and time of when the report was produced will be included in the report.
- Show refresh time: if set true the date and time of when report model was synchronized will be included in the report.
- Page orientation: selects whether the report is oriented in portrait or in landscape mode. Will not affect the preview.
- Page size: select the page length: Letter, Legal, Ledger. Will not affect the preview.
- Title 1: part of the title shown in the header

- Contest filter: multi-select contest filter that selects which ballot types containing the contests should be included.
- Counting group filter: multi-select counting group filter that selects the counting groups that should be included.
- District filter: multi-select district filter that selects which districts should be included.
- Precinct filter: multi-select precinct filter that selects which precincts should be included.
- Polling Location filter: multi-select polling location filter that selects which polling locations should be included.
- Tabulator filter: multi-select tabulator filter that selects which tabulators should be included.
- Batch filter: multi-select batch filter that selects which batches should be included

Basic Group:

This group contains a series of reports that were used in previous versions of EMS.

Contest Overview Data

This report presents the district name and number of closed precincts (out of the total number of precincts in the project), the number of candidate positions (vote for number), the total number of cast ballots, and the number of undervotes and overvotes. The report also specifies if a contest is acclaimed or disabled. In addition, the report presents the number of votes for each candidate, including a political party breakdown of these votes.

Report parameters:

- Results are official: if set to true the standard report title will include the text "Official"; otherwise the standard report title will include the text "Unofficial".
- Show Standard Title: if set to true the Standard Title will be displayed; otherwise the custom title will be shown.
- Title 1: the first line of the custom title.
- Title 2: the second line of the custom title.
- Title 3: the third line of the custom title.

Filters:

- Counting group filter: single-select counting group filter that selects the counting groups that should be included.
- Tabulator filter: single-select tabulator filter that selects which tabulators should be included.
- Voting Location filter: single-select voting location filter that selects which voting locations should be included.
- Contest filter: single-select contest filter that selects which contests should be included.
- District filter: single-select district filter that selects which districts should be included.

Results per Precinct

This report presents the overall number of votes received per precinct as well as the number of votes received for each choice per Precinct.

- Results are official: if set to true the standard report title will include the text "Official"; otherwise the standard report title will include the text "Unofficial".
- Show Standard Title: if set to true the Standard Title will be displayed; otherwise the custom title will be shown.
- Title 1: the first line of the custom title.
- Title 2: the second line of the custom title.

• Title 3: the third line of the custom title.

Filters:

- Counting group filter: single -select counting group filter that selects the counting groups that should be included.
- Tabulator filter: single -select tabulator filter that selects which tabulators should be included.
- Voting Location filter: single -select voting location filter that selects which voting locations should be included.
- Contest filter: single -select contest filter that selects which contests should be included.
- District filter: single-select district filter that selects which districts should be included.

Results per Tabulator

This report presents the results per tabulator.

Report parameters:

- Results are official: if set to true the standard report title will include the text "Official"; otherwise the standard report title will include the text "Unofficial".
- Show Standard Title: if set to true the Standard Title will be displayed; otherwise the custom title will be shown.
- Title 1: the first line of the custom title.
- Title 2: the second line of the custom title.
- Title 3: the third line of the custom title.

Filters:

- Counting group filter: single -select counting group filter that selects the counting groups that should be included.
- Tabulator filter: single -select tabulator filter that selects which tabulators should be included.
- Voting Location filter: single -select voting location filter that selects which voting locations should be included.
- Contest filter: single -select contest filter that selects which contests should be included.
- District filter: single-select district filter that selects which districts should be included.

Batches Containing Precinct

This report presents a list of precincts, and for each precinct in the list, displays all the batches that contain results for that precinct.

Report parameters:

- Results are official: if set to true the standard report title will include the text "Official"; otherwise the standard report title will include the text "Unofficial".
- Show Standard Title: if set to true the Standard Title will be displayed; otherwise the custom title will be shown.
- Title 1: the first line of the custom title.
- Title 2: the second line of the custom title.
- Title 3: the third line of the custom title.

Filters:

No filters available.

Canvass

This report presents the voting turnout. It lists the number of people that voted, number of ballot cards cast and total number of registered voters per precinct with a breakdown of the counting and elector groups.

Report parameters:

- Results are official: if set to true the standard report title will include the text "Official"; otherwise the standard report title will include the text "Unofficial".
- Show Standard Title: if set to true the Standard Title will be displayed; otherwise the custom title will be shown.
- Title 1: the first line of the custom title.
- Title 2: the second line of the custom title.
- Title 3: the third line of the custom title.

Filters:

No filters available.

Ballots Cast Per Ballot Style

This report shows the number of voters and cards cast broken down per ballot card

Report parameters:

• Results are official: if set to true the standard report title will include the text "Official"; otherwise the standard report title will include the text "Unofficial".

- Show Standard Title: if set to true the Standard Title will be displayed; otherwise the custom title will be shown.
- Title 1: the first line of the custom title.
- Title 2: the second line of the custom title.
- Title 3: the third line of the custom title.

No filters available.

Ballots Cast Per Tabulator

This report shows the number of card and cards cast broken down per result batch and optionally broken down per ballot card.

Report parameters:

- Results are official: if set to true the standard report title will include the text "Official"; otherwise the standard report title will include the text "Unofficial".
- Show Standard Title: if set to true the Standard Title will be displayed; otherwise the custom title will be shown.
- Title 1: the first line of the custom title.
- Title 2: the second line of the custom title.
- Title 3: the third line of the custom title.

Filters:

No filters available.

Contests on Margin

This report shows contests and their results for any contest where the difference between the winning candidate with the lowest number of votes and the losing candidate with the highest number of votes is less or equal to the specified Winner Margin.

- Results are official: if set to true the standard report title will include the text "Official"; otherwise the standard report title will include the text "Unofficial".
- Winner Margin: the minimum number of votes to between winner with the lowest number
- Show Standard Title: if set to true the Standard Title will be displayed; otherwise the custom title will be shown.
- Title 1: the first line of the custom title.

- Title 2: the second line of the custom title.
- Title 3: the third line of the custom title.

Contest filter: single-select contest filter that selects which contests should be included.

Write ins per Tabulator

This report presents location name, location number, tabulator, and number of write-ins.

Report parameters:

- Results are official: if set to true the standard report title will include the text "Official"; otherwise the standard report title will include the text "Unofficial".
- Show Standard Title: if set to true the Standard Title will be displayed; otherwise the custom title will be shown.
- Title 1: the first line of the custom title.
- Title 2: the second line of the custom title.
- Title 3: the third line of the custom title.

Filters:

No filters available.

Registration and Turnout

This report presents reported and not reported precincts, registration, ballot cast and turnout.

Report parameters:

- Results are official: if set to true the standard report title will include the text "Official"; otherwise the standard report title will include the text "Unofficial".
- Show Standard Title: if set to true the Standard Title will be displayed; otherwise the custom title will be shown.
- Title 1: the first line of the custom title.
- Title 2: the second line of the custom title.
- Title 3: the third line of the custom title.

Filters:

No filters available.

Tabulator Status

This report presents tabulator number, name, load status, and total ballots cast

Report parameters:

- Results are official: if set to true the standard report title will include the text "Official"; otherwise the standard report title will include the text "Unofficial".
- Show Standard Title: if set to true the Standard Title will be displayed; otherwise the custom title will be shown.
- Title 1: the first line of the custom title.
- Title 2: the second line of the custom title.
- Title 3: the third line of the custom title.

Filters:

No filters available.

Export Group

This group contains all exports that are managed in the Export Types screen.

NOTE: exports do not have any parameters, filters or output types that can be selected by the user.

CHAPTER 16: OPERATIONS SUPPORT

For any technical support issues related to the Dominion Democracy Suite system, please contact the Dominion

Voting Systems helpline at 1-866-564-VOTE (8683) or contact our head office directly at: Dominion Voting Systems

Email: help@dominionvoting.com

Website: http://www.dominionvoting.com

APPENDIX A: SYSTEM SETTINGS

Trained technical personnel are responsible for installing and configuring hardware and prerequisite software for the EMS Data Center back-end and EMS Workstation components. Your system is pre-configured for full operation and use with this document. For comprehensiveness, this Chapter provides detailed instructions on how to define basic configurations of both the Result Tally & Reporting client application, and database settings.

A.1 EMS Access Control

The access control policy defines important aspects of the access control mechanism. The two main aspects are the business requirements for access control, which are defined by the jurisdiction within the access policy statement, and the access control rules, which should clearly state which rules are mandatory, optional, or conditional.

The Democracy Suite[®] EMS platform implements role-based user management for the provisioning of the access control mechanisms. Each user accessing the system using one of the two client applications (Election Event Designer or Results Tally & Reporting) is a member of one of the pre-defined or custom-made roles. Each role contains its own set of permissions or actions under which users of that role operate.

The management of access control policies is integrated within the User Management activity of the Election Event Designer client application.

This activity is only available to users with administrative privileges. Mapping of users to predefined system roles, or to custom created roles, is dependent on the defined business access control policy which is specific to each jurisdiction that defines and manages election projects.

Users of predefined administrative roles can create custom-made roles in order to establish customized permissions for users.

A.2 EMS Election Project Access Controls

The Democracy Suite[®] EMS platform implements role-based user management for provisioning access control mechanisms on each election project. Each user accessing the system is the member of one of the predefined or custom-made roles. Each role has its own set of permissions, or actions that users of that role are allowed to perform. Managing access control policies is integrated within the User Management activity of the EMS EED client application. This activity is permitted only for users with administrative privileges. Table A-1 shows user roles that are defined in the system:

| Role | Level | Configurability | Application |
|-------------------------------|----------------|-----------------|-------------|
| EMS EED Administrator | Administrative | System Default | EED |
| EMS EED Operator | Operator | System Default | EED |
| EMS EED Technical Advisor | Administrative | System Default | EED |
| EMS EED Languages Operator | Operator | System Default | EED |
| EMS EED Custom | Operator | Configurable | EED |
| EMS RTR Administrator | Administrative | System Default | RTR |
| EMS RTR Operator | Operator | System Default | RTR |
| EMS RTR Technical Advisor | Administrative | System Default | RTR |
| EMS RTR Auditing Operator | Operator | System Default | RTR |
| EMS RTR Custom | Operator | Configurable | RTR |

Table A-1: Summary of EMS Roles

- Democracy Suite[®] EMS EED Administrator: An electoral officer role with a full set of supervisory permissions and rights in using the EMS EED application for a single election project.
- This role has an administrative set of rights in defining an election project domain entity with all of the associated domain sub-entities, implying a deep knowledge and understanding of the EMS system. Additionally, this role has permissions to create and configure all other users of the system for both EMS EED and RTR. This role also acts as the principal to the Dominion

Voting technical and project management team. One or more users with this role can be defined within the system. However, the system is delivered, installed, and configured with only one EMS EED administrative user by default.

- Democracy Suite[®] EMS EED Operator: A member of the electoral office team, but with a limited set of permissions in using the EMS EED application. This role is defined for overseeing such time-consuming tasks as defining contests, candidates, creating ballot samples and running unofficial reports. One or more users of the EMS EED operator role can be defined within the system.
- Democracy Suite[®] EMS EED Technical Advisor: A member of the Dominion Voting technical team with a deep knowledge of every aspect of the EMS EED system. This role mediates between Dominion Voting the electoral office administrator.
- Democracy Suite[®] EMS EED Languages Operator: A special nonadministrative role for operators who define different language translations within the system. This is primarily used for the translation of ballot elements and tabulator display messages.
- Note that the EMS election project access control mechanism functions with logic that, if a permission does not appear in the list of permissions, all users have permission to perform it. Be aware that all permissions for actions that could endanger the security of the EMS are included in the permission list.
- Democracy Suite[®] EMS RTR Administrator: An electoral officer role with a full set of supervisory permissions and rights in using the EMS RTR application. This role has a full set of rights in acquiring, validating, publishing, reporting and auditing election results. One or more users with this role can be defined within the system, but there are no users of this role created by default, which means that the EMS EED administrator has to create a user for this role.
- Democracy Suite[®] EMS RTR Operator: A member of the electoral office team, but with a limited set of permissions when using the EMS RTR application. Users of this role can acquire election results and create reports, but cannot validate, publish or audit election results.
- Democracy Suite[®] EMS RTR Auditor: A member of the electoral office team who has the permission to audit election results.
- Democracy Suite[®] EMS RTR Technical Advisor: A member of the Dominion Voting technical team with a deep knowledge of every aspect of the EMS RTR system. This role acts as a primary interface from Dominion Voting to the electoral office administrators.

In addition to pre-defined roles, the system provides the option to define custom

roles that contain desired sets of permissions. This activity is performed from the EMS EED client application and it is available only to users with administrative rights. The EMS roles and the associated users are all in the EMS client applications scope. In sum, these users do not have any direct access rights to the EMS Application and Database Server components except by using the EMS EED or EMS RTR client

applications. These roles and users should not be mistaken for operating system roles or users, which are defined separately during the overall system installation and setup.

For each user requiring access to the EMS system, user accounts must be established. This action is performed by a user in the administrative role and should be a first step in configuring the system after the election project is created. The system does not impose any limits in the number of users that can be created within the system. When defining a new user, a set of security credentials is assigned. This set includes a unique user ID and case-sensitive password. This User ID is typed in by the administrative

user creating a new user account, while the case-sensitive password is automatically created by the system, according to the role and the corresponding pre-defined and case-sensitive password strength policy (see Table A-2).

This approach is followed with the aim of achieving a satisfactory level of entropy of case-sensitive user passwords and to eliminate the possibility of dictionary attacks on the system. Created case-sensitive passwords are not stored within the EMS EED (nor RTR) client applications, but in a cryptographically protected format in the EMS Database (using one-way hash functions).

| Password Strength | Length | Туре | Character set |
|----------------------|--------|--------|--|
| Weak | 6 | String | Lower and upper case letters |
| Default | 8 | String | Lower and upper case letter and digits |
| Strong | 10 | String | Lower and upper case letter, digits and special characters |

Table A-2: The EMS Case-Sensitive Password Strength Profiles.

The system does not allow the deletion of user accounts. This constraint is imposed because of the integrity of the audit logs kept by the system. However, users have assigned account status flags of initial, active, inactive, Locked. Only the users with an active account status can use the system. When a user account becomes obsolete, it is not deleted, but its status is changed to inactive. After a user account has been created, the system creates a new user account with an initial status flag and produces a record statement that can be printed. Locked means it was active, but was disabled due to too many unsuccessful tries to log in.

Optionally, the jurisdiction can require that the user sign the password confidentiality statement. Upon signing the statement, the new user account can be activated (the user account status then changes from the initial to active state).

A.3 Define EMS Application Server Settings

NOTE: Contact the technical support or system maintenance person (EMS system administrator) whenever you need to set/change the system parameters (i.e. enter the printer name, Cepstral program location, application, and/or database server name or IP address) in any of the EMS client applications.

To change or define the EMS application server settings, perform the following steps:

- 1. Expand the Administration item in the main menu and click **EMS Application Server Settings**.
- 2. The Network Settings screen appears. See section 6.1 for more information on which parameters need to be added when changing the EMS Application Server Settings.

| Rev. | Date | Author | Summary |
|------|------------|------------------|---|
| 6 | 04-22-2019 | tijana.todorovic | Resolving discrepancies for 5.11-CO. |
| 5 | 04-22-2019 | tijana.todorovic | Resolving discrepancies for 5.11-CO. Removed of Automatic Images Loading functionality. |
| 4 | 04-18-2019 | tijana.todorovic | Resolving discrepancies for 5.11-CO |
| 3 | 04-17-2019 | blair.beauchesne | Removed chapter 2 "EMS Results Tally & Reporting Installation" and addressed discrepancies identified by lab. |
| 2 | 02-04-2019 | tijana.todorovic | Updated Introduction chapter. |
| 1 | 03-06-2019 | tijana.todorovic | Branched for 5.11 |

REVISION HISTORY

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 2-1: Context Sensitive Screen 10 |
|---|
| Figure 4-1: Localization Setting Screen |
| Figure 4-2: Welcome Splash Screen 16 |
| Figure 5-1: EMS Application Server Settings Screen |
| Figure 5-2: Login Screen |
| Figure 5-3: Close Project Screen |
| Figure 5-4: Project Parameters Screen |
| Figure 5-5: Synchronize Reporting |
| Figure 6-1: Waiting for Removable Media Dialog |
| Figure 6-2: Load Results dialog |
| Figure 6-3: Load Results dialog |
| Figure 6-4: Load Results dialog |
| Figure 6-5: Load Results Dialog |
| Figure 6-6: Load Results Dialog |
| Figure 6-7: Load Results dialog |
| Figure 6-8: Question dialog |
| Figure 6-9: Info dialog |
| Figure 6-10: Loading Results from Directory screen |
| Figure 6-11: Loading Results from Directory - Show Batches with Images Loaded 32 |
| Figure 6-12: Automatic Result Loading dialog |
| Figure 7-1: Searching-Filtering Tabulators Screen |
| Figure 7-2: List of Tabulators Filtered by Voting Location and Tabulator Type Screen 37 |
| Figure 8-1: Result Files screen |
| Figure 8-2: Results options Screen |
| Figure 8-3: Confirmation dialog |
| Figure 8-4: Actions menu |
| Figure 8-5: Result Files screen |
| Figure 8-6: Set Tabulator Type Mappings screen |
| Figure 9-1: Write-in Resolution screen |
| Figure 9-2: Write-in resolution menu options |
| Figure 9-3: Add Qualified Write-in window |

| Figure 10-1: Challenged Votes screen |
|---|
| Figure 10-2: Provisional Votes screen |
| Figure 10-3: General Settings Screen |
| Figure 10-4: Rejection Reasons Screen |
| Figure 10-5: Duplication of Provisional Results Screen |
| Figure 10-6: Manual Resolution of Conditional Votes Screen |
| Figure 10-7: Duplication of Provisional Votes Screen |
| Figure 10-8: Export-Import of Conditional Votes Screen |
| Figure 10-9: Completed Bulk Export screen |
| Figure 10-10: CSV file opened in MS Excel screen |
| Figure 10-11: Completed Bulk Export screen |
| Figure 11-1: Ranked Profiles main screen |
| Figure 11-2: RCV Profile screen |
| Figure 11-3: RCV Profile screen |
| Figure 11-4: Ranked Contests main screen |
| Figure 11-5: Export Ranked Results screen |
| Figure 11-6: Exporting Ranked Results |
| Figure 11-7: Export Ranked Results screen |
| Figure 11-8: Dominion native results format for Ranked Choice Voting |
| Figure 11-9: Tabulate Ranked Contests screen |
| Figure 11-10: Tabulate Ranked Contests screen |
| Figure 11-11: Tabulate Ranked Contests screen |
| Figure 11-12: Result Files screen |
| Figure 11-13: Tabulate Ranked Contests screen |
| Figure 11-14: RCV contest has one or more write-ins ranked Screen |
| Figure 11-15: Ranked Result Combination Screen |
| Figure 11-16: The list of regular candidates and resolved write-in names Screen 85 |
| Figure 11-17: Add new resolved write-in names or delete write-in names Screen 85 |
| Figure 11-18: Ranked Result Combination - write-in positions have been resolved Screen 86 |
| Figure 11-19: Ranked Combinations with Write-Ins Screen |
| Figure 12-1: Result Pair Resolution screen |
| Figure 13-1: Export Type Screen |

| Figure 13-2: Export Type - Import export package Screen |
|--|
| Figure 13-3: Setting Local and Global Transfer Points |
| Figure 13-4: Transfer Points Dialog Listing Saved Transfer Points Record Screen 93 |
| Figure 13-5: Configuring Results Export Screen |
| Figure 13-6: Configuring Results Export Screen |
| Figure 13-7: Stop Results Export Screen |
| Figure 13-8: "Stopping results export" Status Screen |
| Figure 13-9: Result export inactive Screen |
| Figure 13-10: Confirm Purging screen |
| Figure 13-11: Info screen |
| Figure 14-1: Export Data Screen |
| Figure 14-2: CVR Export Screen |
| Figure 14-3: CVR Export Completed Screen |
| Figure 14-4: Completed CVR export where no data matches filter screen 100 |
| Figure 14-5: Exported data opened in Notepad screen |
| Figure 14-6: Tabular Export Format screen 102 |
| Figure 14-7: Export Results Audit File screen 103 |
| Figure 14-8: Export Audit Images screen |
| Figure 14-9: Completed Write-in export to Excel screen |
| Figure 15-1: Election Summary Report screen |
| Figure 15-2: Election Summary Output screen |
| Figure 15-3: Warning message 113 |
| Figure 15-4: Statement of Votes Cast report |
| Figure 15-5: Statement of Votes Cast report output |
| Figure 15-6: Card Cast Report screen |
| Figure 15-7: Card Cast Report screen |
| Figure 15-8: Result Pair Report screen 123 |
| Figure 15-9: Result Pair Report screen 123 |
| Figure 15-10: Conditional Voting Statistics Report screen |
| Figure 15-11: Conditional Voting Statistics Report screen |
| Figure 15-12: Report Profiles screen |
| Figure 15-13: Profile Name screen |

| Figure 15-14: Error message screen | . 126 |
|--|-------|
| Figure 15-15: Deleting screen | . 127 |
| Figure 15-16: Save As screen | . 127 |
| Figure 15-17: Browse for folder screen | . 127 |
| Figure 15-18: Error message screen | . 128 |
| Figure 15-19: Select Report Profile screen | . 128 |
| Figure 15-20: Import Report Profile screen | . 129 |
| Figure 15-21: Enable and Disable Contests and Choices Menu | . 130 |
| Figure 15-22: Disable Contest | . 131 |
| Figure 15-23: Disable Choice | . 131 |
| Figure 15-24: Results Reporting screen | . 132 |
| Figure 15-25: Reporting Profile | . 133 |
| Figure 15-26: Report Review | . 134 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 11-1: Previous Rounds Evaluation Method Example | 68 |
|--|-----|
| Table 11-2: Elimination Type example 1 | 69 |
| Table 11-3: Elimination Type example 2 | 70 |
| Table A-1: Summary of EMS Roles Image: Comparison of the second | 162 |
| Table A-2: The EMS Case-Sensitive Password Strength Profiles. | 164 |

VVSG TRACE LIST

VVSG Criteria

Pg.

End of Document

